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A. Basic information about the Group
I.

Preliminary remarks

Société Générale Effekten GmbH (SGE), Frankfurt am Main, acquired the equity of Société
Générale Securities Services GmbH (SGSS), Aschheim, and ALD Lease Finanz GmbH
(ALD LF), Hamburg, including its subsidiaries, with the execution of the purchase agreement
on January 1, 2017. Based on the rules set forth under Section 290 of the German
Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, HGB) and Section 117 of the German Securities
Trading Act (Wertpapierhandelsgesetz, WpHG), SGE is obligated to prepare consolidated
financial statements and a Group management report at December 31, 2020.
II.

Business model

The SGE Group operates in three segments that are managed respectively by SGE, SGSS
and ALD LF.
Société Générale Effekten GmbH (SGE) is a 100% subsidiary of Société Générale S.A.
Frankfurt, which is a branch of Société Générale S.A., Paris. The purpose of the Company is
to issue warrants and certificates that are both sold in their entirety by the parent company
Société Générale S.A., Paris, or by the Group companies. All counterparties are 100%
subsidiaries of the Société Générale S.A., Paris, or the parent company itself. Another area
in which the Company is active is the acquisition, holding and management of equity
investments.
Integration
On November 8, 2018, the Société Générale Group signed an agreement in which Société
Générale undertook to acquire Commerzbank’s Equity Markets & Commodities (EMC)
business, which comprises the issuance and market-making of flow products (“Flow
Products”) and structured products (“Exotic, Vanilla and Funds Products”) and part of the
asset management activities (“Asset Management”).
SGE was chosen as the Target Issuer for the Flow Products.
The Flow Products were integrated into the books of SGE on March 28/29, 2020. In a project
lasting several months, the acquisition processes were defined and supported by the
Company in several “streams.” In total, approx. 57,000 existing products with a nominal
volume of approx. EUR 33 billion were acquired. Existing processes in back office
processing were unaffected by the integration.
The integration was performed on the basis of a risk concept that takes account of
operational risks, data security aspects and business continuity management during the
transfer.
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SGE acquired all rights and obligations of Commerzbank as issuer of the transferred
securities with effect as of March 30, 2020.
Société Générale S.A., Paris, assumed the function of calculation agent for these securities,
which had been exercised by Commerzbank up to the effective date. In addition, Société
Générale S.A., Paris, issued an unconditional and irrevocable parent company guarantee in
favor of the respective owners of the transferred securities with respect to the fulfillment of all
payment obligations of SGE (including all delivery obligations) arising from the transferred
securities in question (the “parent company guarantee”).
The parent company guarantee can be viewed at:
https://prospectus.socgen.com/program_search/guarantee-2-mar-20
The integration entailed an extension of the listing to various other European markets:
Due to the introduction of the “European passport” and the fact that the responsible
supervisory authority (BaFin) only has to approve the securities prospectus once, the
Company can list its products on various stock markets in the European Union (stock
markets in Madrid, Milan, Paris, Luxembourg, London, Stockholm, Helsinki, Lisbon,
Amsterdam, etc.) In the event of a listing on a stock exchange in a country that is not a
member of the European Union, approval is obtained through the corresponding supervisory
authority of the respective country. The Company listed offerings on a regulated market
within the meaning of the EU Prospectus Directive in connection with the acquisition of part
of the EMC business of Commerzbank in March 2020. Listings in unregulated stock
exchange segments, such as over-the-counter stock exchanges in Germany, continue to be
planned.
Following the acquisition by the aforementioned counterparties, Société Générale S.A.,
Paris, places offerings with the ultimate buyers in a second step in such a manner that it
does not have an impact on the economic relationships of the issuer.
ALD LF is an independent automobile leasing company not affiliated with any manufacturers
and has its registered head office in Hamburg. Its aspiration is to promote the independence
of car dealerships with its service portfolio and to increase their profitability.
Together with cooperation partners, particularly the subsidiary Bank Deutsches
Kraftfahrzeuggewerbe GmbH (BDK), Hamburg, car dealerships and their customers are
offered financing solutions and services covering all their automotive needs. The product
range covers all financial products in the dealership: sales financing and leasing, purchase
financing and insurance that enhance the loyalty of the customers to the dealership and thus
increase earning opportunities. As a subsidiary of ALD LF, BDK also works with several
manufacturers and importers together, assuming a portion of the captive business up to and
including the complete servicing of a manufacturer bank.
Additional value for dealerships is generated with digital service offerings and the new used
car platform JuhuAuto. In this way, ALD LF helps the dealerships adapt to the requirements
of digital sales processes by enabling them to generate their own effective customer leads
via the dealerships’ websites or receive such leads directly. A key focus of these digital
products is to broker additional financing business together with the attendant higher
earnings opportunities.
All essential sales and processing functions are shown in connection with the provision of
services by employees of BDK. Therefore, the cooperation partners and customers receive
the service for all products from one source.
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SGSS is an asset management company as defined under Sections 17 and 18 of the
German Investment Code (Kapitalanlagegesetzbuch, KAGB). The business model of SGSS
involves the management of investment funds in connection with the so-called Master AMC
Model as well as the insourcing of fund management from other asset management
companies. Direct investments continue to be managed. These services are provided
primarily to European customers.
III.

Branches

BDK maintains a branch office in Stuttgart, where decisions and loan processing are carried
out for parts of new business.
IV.

Internal management system

Due to the different business models of individual Group companies, Group management is
carried out locally in the individual segments and a differentiation is made between the
segments of Global Banking and Investor Solutions (SGE’s warrant and certificate
business), Financial Services to Corporates and Retail (ALD LF’s lending and leasing
business), and Asset Management (SGSS). Please refer to our comments under B. IV. for
the performance indicators and key figures applied with respect to this management.

B. Economic report
I.

General economic and sector-specific environment

The coronavirus pandemic triggered the sharpest one-quarter decline in economic output in
Germany since quarterly economic statistics were first compiled in 1970. Thanks to the
recovery over the summer, real gross domestic product (GDP) only contracted by 5.1% in
the full year 2020. This is comparable to the GDP contraction in 2009 during the global
financial crisis. It can be expected that the recovery will continue in 2021 with growth of
3.7%. However, the pre-crisis level reached in the fourth quarter of 2019 will probably not be
regained before the beginning of 2022. The further development of economic conditions will
depend on the rate of infections and the resulting restrictions. Due to the growing spread of
the British mutation in Germany, infection numbers are rising exponentially again. In
response, a renewed lockdown similar to that imposed in the spring of 2020 is being
considered.
Economic developments across the world play an important role. China is experiencing rapid
economic growth again and the United States and the Eurozone both registered strong GDP
growth in the third quarter of 2020 as their economies recovered. As further progress is
made in vaccinations, the economic recovery could continue in the United States and China.
According to the German Council of Economic Experts, the large EU member states Spain,
Italy and France have been among the hardest-hit countries in the Eurozone. The GDP
growth rate in the Eurozone is likely to turn positive again in 2021, with growth of 4.9%.
Considering the unpredictable trend of infections, however, the further development of the
global economy is fraught with considerable downside risks. For this reason, extensive
monetary and fiscal policy measures have been adopted to support the economy in the
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crisis. Other support was provided by automatic stabilizers such as the tax system,
unemployment benefits and the shortened work hours benefit. In June 2020, the German
federal government enacted an economic package that could increase economic output in
the years 2020 and 2021. The support measures have not yet been exhausted and remain
available. However, not all parts of the economic package are precisely targeted. For
example, a survey conducted by the German Council of Economic Experts found that
households that were especially impacted by the crisis benefitted only little from the
temporary reduction of the value-added tax rate and that the pass-through of the tax cut only
partially led to more consumption. In the further course of the year, a greater expansion of
the tax loss carryback and a greater differentiation of interim support depending on the
degree to which recipients are affected by the crisis would be advantageous. Moreover, a
reform of energy prices could also provide a positive impetus. A wide range of measures to
counteract the adverse economic impact of the coronavirus pandemic have also been
implemented by other EU member states and at the EU level itself. The European Central
Bank (ECB) has provided a great deal of liquidity at highly favorable terms for the banking
system in order to support lending and avert a possible banking crisis. Moreover, the major
expansion of securities purchases has had the effect of stabilizing financial and sovereign
bond markets. Digitalization is helping to cushion the impact of the coronavirus pandemic in
many areas. For example, many companies kept their operations up and running despite the
physical distancing and hygiene rules by having their employees work from home with the
support of technology. At the same time, the pandemic exposed shortfalls in the digitalization
of public administration, healthcare and the education system. In the healthcare system,
local health authorities could quickly ramp up the pace of digitalization to make reporting
paths more efficient and convey information more quickly, thereby creating considerable
advantages in the fight against the pandemic. The targeted deployment of digital
technologies could help contain renewed increases in infection numbers in the further course
of the pandemic.1
Due to the development of the health crisis related to Covid-19, the Company has a duty to
protect all its teams and offer them the best-possible support. The Company has taken
operational measures to ensure the safety of its employees while also maintaining business
continuity and the quality of processes.
Employees have the option of working from home via secured VPN access. Most employees
worked from home or in divided teams. All necessary tools and IT connections were
provided to them. Internal safety measures were always followed. In addition, all measures
are being taken to protect the health of employees working in the office. Moreover, the
parent company organizes regular telephone meetings with department managers and
regularly provides information by e-mail.
Issuance business
SGE is one of the ten leading issuers of derivative securities in Germany. As a part of
Société Générale’s Global Banking and Investor Solutions segment, it is the global leader in
the segments for derivative and structured products.
1

German Council of Economic Experts: Annual Report 2020/2021;
Corona-Krise gemeinsam bewältigen, Resilienz und Wachstum stärken (“Strengthening the Coronavirus Crisis Together:
Strengthening Resilience and Growth”), Wiesbaden, 11/01/2020.
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The objective of the Integration of the EMC business was to extend the Company’s market
position in Germany and become the leader issuer in the European market for listed
products.
The complexity of regulation and supervision remains very high (equity rules, detailed
requirements for risk management systems; information and frequency of disclosure
obligations, amended prospectus laws).
The new EU Prospectus Regulation took effect in Germany on July 21, 2019. The idea of
this regulation is to make securities prospectuses simpler and more user-friendly so that
investors can make well-informed investment decisions. The scope of required information in
the prospectus is defined more precisely so that prospectuses can be shorter and clearer in
the future.
The complexity is based essentially on European harmonization and the application to
internationally active entities. In order to ensure uniform standards in banking supervision, a
standard supervisory mechanism was created. The majority of the rules and procedural
provisions applicable in Germany are now mainly determined in light of a European
background.
Under a European Union Directive (2020/1989), the Company is obligated to publish parts of
the IFRS notes to the financial statements in the German Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger)
in the new European Single Electronic Format (ESEF).
Automobile industry
A total of 2,917,678 new cars were registered in 2020, 19.1% less than in the previous year.
The sharp decline resulted from the coronavirus pandemic and the resulting lockdown, which
were responsible for a decrease in registration numbers primarily in the second quarter of
2020 (-47%).
62.8% (PY: -22.4%) of new cars were registered commercially and 37.1% (PY: -13.0%)
privately.
The percentage of diesel vehicles fell to 28.1% in 2020 (PY: 32%) while the percentage of
alternative drive-system vehicles increased. Hybrid-drive vehicles accounted for 18.1% of
new registrations, reflecting an increase of 120.6% over the previous year. Electric cars
accounted for 6.7% of new registrations, reflecting an increase of 206.8% over the previous
year. The increase in registrations of automobiles with alternative drive systems can also be
attributed to the government’s environmental bonus.
Registrations were lower for all German brands in 2020. Smart vehicles experienced the
deepest decline of -67.3%, followed by Opel (-32.3%) and Ford (-30.6%). Declines were also
sustained by VW (-21.3%), Audi (-19.9%), Porsche (-16.3%), BMW (-13.7%), Mini (-11.7%)
and Mercedes (-10.6%). VW is still the market leader with a share of 18.0%.
Among import brands, registrations were higher for Tesla (+55.9%) and Fiat (+0.2%),
whereas Suzuki (-44.8%), SsangYong (-40.2%), Mazda (-38.1%) and Dacia (-36.6%)
experienced the sharpest declines. The biggest share of new registrations of import brands
was again claimed by Skoda (6.2%), followed by Renault (4.3%).
With 7,021,204 title transfers, the used car market was smaller than in the previous year (2.4%), although it clearly exhibited positive growth in the second half of the year given that
title transfers were down -9.9% at the end of the first half.
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As of Q3 2020, the sentiment of German car dealerships, independent vehicle sellers and
repair shops improved somewhat after the tough coronavirus restrictions imposed in April
2020. At 92 points, the sentiment of car dealerships was still below the level of the previous
year (97 points), but improved steadily over the course of the year after the trough in April
(75 points). The index value of repair shops improved to 95 points (PY: 100 points) and
followed a similar progression over the course of the year. 40% of repair shops indicated that
they are operating at a normal level again. The corresponding percentage for car
dealerships was 45% as of 09/30/2020 and exhibited a positive development since the
middle of the year (11% as of 06/30/2020).
As a brand-independent automobile financier, the Group company ALD LF also suffered
revenue declines from the previous year (-9.66%). However, the revenue declines were
lower than for the automobile industry as a whole. Together with the subsidiary BDK, ALD
LF is still the No. 2 in the market of brand-independent automobile financiers.
Asset Management
Despite the coronavirus pandemic, the German investment fund industry exhibited
considerable growth in 2020. Assets under management (excluding open-ended real estate
funds) increased by 13.3% to EUR 3,623 billion (PY: EUR 3,197 billion). This increase was
caused by net fund inflows of EUR 87 billion (PY: EUR 118 billion) and capital appreciation
of EUR 339 billion. Of the total net fund inflows, EUR 30 billion went to mutual funds,
EUR 83 billion to special funds and EUR -26 billion to assets outside of investment funds.
The main growth drivers in 2020 were the still stable inflows to special funds and the
considerably above-average inflows to mutual funds.
In appreciation of all the facts outlined above, the Management assesses the effects on the
Group as positive, despite the difficult economic and industry-specific developments.
II.

Business developments

Global Banking and Investor Solutions
The successful integration of Commerzbank’s “Flow Products” business was a defining
event in the 2020 financial year. The integration strengthened the Company’s market
position in Germany significantly and the listing was extended to other European countries.
After the integration, the Company’s issuance activity increased by 87.3% from the previous
year 2019 (2020: 430,500 issued products; 2019: 229,830).2
A total of 64,907 investment products (PY: 31,743) were issued in 2020. In the category of
products without capital protection, 30,120 products on reverse convertibles, 18,821
products on discount certificates, 15,032 products on bonus certificates, 557 products on
express certificates, 273 products on index/ participation certificates, and 6 products on
outperformance/sprint certificates were issued. In the category of products with capital

The so-called “Security Box” procedure was introduced to the German market in May 2019. Under
this procedure, new products are approved provisionally by the clearing and custody company on the
basis of product documentation. However, trades are only registered after the final approval of new
products at the time of sale by Société Générale S.A., Paris, as the market maker. This procedure is
only applied in Germany; it cannot be applied in other European countries.

2
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protection, 67 products on structured bonds and 31 products on capital protection certificates
were issued.
In addition, 365,593 leverage products (PY: 198,087) were issued. In addition to 189,004
products with knock-out, 151,707 products on warrants and 24,882 products on factor
certificates were issued in the category of products without knock-out.
The German market accounted for 74% and foreign markets accounted for 26% (of which
35% France; 24% Scandinavian market, 20% Benelux, 15% Switzerland, 5% Iberian market,
Italy and UK less than 1%) of the increase in issuance activity.
The subsidiary ALD LF acquired in 2017 exhibited a positive development on the whole.
With respect to the equity interests held in Société Générale Securities Services GmbH, the
EUR 515 thousand impairment of the purchase price recognized in the previous year,
bringing the carrying amount to EUR 1, was retained on the basis of the expected trend of
future profits.
In view of the significant increase in the issuance activity and the performance of the
subsidiaries, the overall performance in the 2020 financial year can be regarded as positive
and is therefore in line with the previous year’s forecast.
Financial Services to Corporates and Retails
New business in the area of sales financing fell by EUR 161 million (-9%) to a total of
EUR 1,608 million in 2020 due to the coronavirus pandemic.
The volume of receivables in sales financing rose by 1% to EUR 4,037 million (PY:
EUR 3,992 million). The number of loan agreements declined by -1% to 371,222.
The managed purchase financing portfolio declined by -56% to EUR 450 million due to the
end of the HCBE cooperation.
Since March 2020, purchase financing receivables are no longer sold without recourse and
without notification within the Group. This figure amounted to EUR 553 million in the
previous year.
Overall, new business and established business exhibited a weaker development than
expected in the previous year’s report. This development is primarily attributable to the
already mentioned effects of the coronavirus crisis.
In unit figures, the leasing portfolio, which designates the number of active leasing contracts,
developed as follows:
Financial year

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

Portfolio additions

21,313

22,435

23,621

22,886

19,456

Vehicle portfolio

62,941

67,021

73,490

76,947

75,141

Asset Management
The business of the Asset Management segment developed differently than expected in the
2020 financial year. Revenues were lower in the first half as a result of the coronavirus
pandemic. However, the income declines were offset by the cost reduction measures
initiated in the course of the 2020 financial year. In December 2020, a comprehensive
restructuring of Société Générale Securities Services GmbH was resolved by the
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shareholder and the Supervisory Board, making it necessary to recognize a provision mainly
for severance awards. The financial year operating loss before restructuring expenses
narrowed by around EUR 2.0 million to EUR 9.8 million. Due to the formation of restructuring
provisions in the amount of EUR 17.5 million, the net loss for the year came to EUR 27.3
million.
The net banking income of EUR 30.2 million was modestly lower (-5%) than the previousyear figure. The negative income trend is attributable in part to market volatility and customer
losses and in part to additions to the provisions for loss events in the amount of EUR 0.8
million.
Expenses rose by 32% to EUR 57.5 million due to restructuring provisions in the amount of
EUR 17.5 million. Running costs before restructuring expenses were reduced by approx.
EUR 3.6 million. Cost savings were achieved particularly in external consulting expenses
and Group cost allocations. Additional, coronavirus-related expenses were incurred for IT
equipment and preventive hygiene measures such as disinfection, cleaning and mouth
coverings. Other additional expenses were incurred as a result of higher rental expenses for
the office space at the new location. Significant investments were made in office equipment
and technical infrastructure as a result of the move.
Overall assessment
In consideration of the developments in the individual segments described above, the
Group’s business performance was positive on the whole in the 2020 financial year from the
perspective of the Management, despite the difficult economic conditions resulting from the
coronavirus pandemic.
III.

Financial position, cash flows and liquidity position, and financial
performance

a) Financial performance
The SGE Group’s financial performance encompasses the period from January 1 to
December 31, 2020.
in EUR millions
in EUR millions
12/31/2020
12/31/2019
Net interest income
159
151
Net commission income
63
68
Net result from financial transactions
(2)
(3)
Result from other activities
(35)
(26)
Net banking income
184
189
Personnel expenses
(88)
(71)
Other administrative expenses
(41)
(45)
Depreciation, amortization and
(6)
(4)
impairments
Gross operating result
50
69
Risk expenses
(15)
(16)
Operating result
34
53
Profit/loss before taxes
33
52
Net profit/loss (Group’s share)
36
51
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Net interest income in the 2020 financial year amounted to EUR 159 million and was mainly
generated in the lending and leasing business of the Financial Services to Corporates and
Retail segment. Net commission income amounted to EUR 63 million in the 2020 financial
year.
The result from other activities in the amount of EUR -35 million is mainly attributable to the
Financial Services to Corporates and Retail segment and particularly includes expenses and
income from operating leases in connection with lessor relationships.
Consolidated net banking income amounted to EUR 184 million.
Key expense items in the Group include personnel expenses and other administrative
expenses. Personnel expenses amounted to EUR 88 million and other administrative
expenses amounted to EUR 41 million, both primarily incurred in the Financial Services to
Corporates and Retail and Asset Management segments.
After taking non-controlling interests into account, the Group’s net profit amounted to
EUR 36 million in the first half of the 2020 financial year.
The financial performance of each segment is presented in the following:
Global Banking and Investor Solutions
The Company does not generate any profit from new issuance activities because the
proceeds from sales of issued warrants and certificates are always offset by the expenses
for purchases of the associated hedging transactions.
As a result of the hedging of currency risks, there are no effects from exchange rate
fluctuations on the income statement.
Personnel and other operating expenses are charged to Société Générale S.A., Paris, on
the basis of a cost-plus rule.
This segment incurred a loss of EUR 4.8 million in the 2020 financial year. This loss is
mainly attributable to the difference in income collected under the cost-plus method, as well
as interest expenses of EUR 3.4 million for the loan extended by Société Générale S.A.
Frankfurt for the acquisition of equity interests in ALD LF and SGSS.
The financial performance developed in line with the business plan.
Financial Services to Corporates and Retails
Net interest income rose further to EUR 159.7 million in 2020 as a result of the related
average portfolio increase.
Due to the reduction in new business caused by the pandemic and the attendant
commission income generated on insurance brokerage, net commission income came to
EUR 35.2 million.
The risk provisions exceeded the planned amount by EUR 2.9 million.
In total, the segment’s net banking result of EUR 67.6 million was lower than the planned
figure for the financial year.

9

Asset Management
The Asset Management segment generated a net banking result of EUR 30.2 million in
financial year 2020. It is mainly composed of net commission income. Net interest income
amounted to EUR 0.2 million.
Administrative expenses amounted to EUR 57.5 million in 2020. They consisted mainly of
personnel expenses in the amount of EUR 36.2 million and other administrative expenses in
the amount of EUR 21.3 million. The personnel expenses included EUR 16.2 million in
provisions for severance awards for the resolved and announced restructuring. Other
administrative expenses included EUR 1.3 million for other restructuring provisions.
Including depreciation and amortization and income from other activities, the segment
incurred an operating loss of EUR 27.3 million at December 31, 2020, which was higher than
expected due to restructuring expenses in the amount of EUR 17.5 million.
b) Cash flows and liquidity position
The nature and execution of the Group’s business activities are oriented towards ensuring
that its liquidity position is always sufficient.
Liabilities from the issuance of certificates and warrants are generally hedged using financial
instruments with matching maturities denominated in the same currency and with identical
price risks.
In the segment of Global Banking and Investor Solutions, cash transactions involving
warrants and certificates arise from the issues and the corresponding hedging transactions,
the payment of personnel and other operating expenses, and the charging of these
expenses to Société Générale S.A., Paris and Société Générale Frankfurt. Due to the full
reimbursement of all costs incurred by Société Générale S.A. in connection with the issues,
the Group has sufficient liquidity at its disposal and is in a position to satisfy all payment
obligations in the Global Banking and Investor Solutions segment.
In addition to equity, the Group borrows funds particularly from Société Générale S.A., Paris,
at a fixed interest rate with bullet maturity or an amortizing structure to fund its leasing
activities. We adhere to the principle of funding based primarily on matching maturities.
Credit lines have also been agreed with Société Générale S.A. and other financial
institutions in order to ensure basic liquidity on the basis of the business plan. At the
reporting date, these credit lines amounted to EUR 7,542 million, of which EUR 2,303 million
extended to ALD and EUR 10 million extended to SG Effekten had not been drawn down.
In the Financial Services to Corporates and Retail segment, we also use the instrument of
securitized loan receivables. To date, we have bundled and publicly placed receivables in
seven structures under the name “Red & Black”, which are used for the securitizations of the
Société Générale Group. There were three active structures at the reporting date. We
present liabilities to the special-purpose entities from securitization under liabilities to
customers. These liabilities amounted to EUR 468 million at the reporting date (PY:
EUR 873 million).
The Group had liquid funds in the amount of EUR 80.0 million at its disposal at December
31, 2020 (January 1, 2020: EUR 54.2 million) (see Note 4.4).
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Liabilities to banks declined to EUR 3,811 million at December 31, 2020 (January 1, 2019:
EUR 4,035 million), mainly as a consequence of lower term deposits.
Compared to December 31, 2019, other liabilities rose by EUR 46 million to EUR 234 million
(see Note 7.3).
The provisions of EUR 103.5 million (January 1, 2020: EUR 79.7 million) consisted mainly of
provisions for legal disputes.
At December 31, 2020, there were off-balance-sheet liabilities in the form of guarantee
commitments and certificate transactions in the amount of EUR 311 million.
c) Financial position
The statement of financial position mainly includes the item of issued securities and the
associated hedging transactions; the amount of the latter varies in dependence on the
Group’s issuance activity.
Compared to December 31, 2019, total assets rose by EUR 344 million to EUR 9,125
million. This increase resulted from the integration of the EMC business in March 2020 and
the follow-up business resulting from extended listing in Germany and other European
countries.
Compared to December 31, 2019, receivables from customers increased by EUR 25 million
to EUR 4,427 million. The increase is mainly attributable to installment loans with pre-agreed
terms and fixed interest rates in connection with sales financing in the Financial Services to
Corporates and Retail segment. Sales financing consists of installment loans with preagreed terms and fixed interest rates.
Receivables from banks in the amount of EUR 102.1 million related mainly to short-term
deposits at Société Générale S.A. and Deutsche Bank AG.
The noncurrent assets of EUR 636.3 million (December 31, 2019: EUR 610 million)
consisted mainly of leasing assets in the amount of EUR 603.3 million (December 31, 2019:
EUR 595 million) and intangible assets in the amount of EUR 4.3 million (December 31,
2019: EUR 5.6 million).
Receivables under leases amounted to EUR 462 million at December 31, 2020 (December
31, 2019: EUR 479 million).
Other assets (EUR 258 million) mainly included prepaid expenses in the amount of EUR 91
million (December 31, 2019: EUR 90 million) and other receivables in the amount of
EUR 173 million (December 31, 2019: EUR 112 million).
The liabilities of EUR 9,134 million consisted mainly of financial liabilities measured at fair
value through profit or loss in the amount of EUR 3,151 million and liabilities to banks in the
amount of EUR 3,811 million resulting from the funding of the lending and leasing business
and the borrowing of loans to acquire subsidiaries.
The Group’s equity at December 31, 2020 amounted to EUR -8.6 million (December 31,
2019: EUR -10.6 million). For more information on this subject, please refer to Note 10 of the
notes to the consolidated financial statements and the statement of changes in equity.
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Overall assessment
In consideration of the developments in the individual segments described above, both the
Group’s business performance and its financial position, financial performance and cash
flows in the 2020 financial year are to be assessed positively on the whole from the
perspective of the Management. Attainment of the 2020 financial year targets communicated
in 2019 was impeded by the unexpected Covid-19 pandemic. The forecast targets were
largely met despite the difficult economic environment,.
IV.

Financial/ non-financial performance indicators

Global Banking and Investor Solutions
SGE, which makes up the Global Banking and Investor Solutions segment, is a pure
issuance vehicle of the Société Générale S.A. Group, which generates its income from the
cost-plus agreements in effect with Société Générale S.A. Paris and Société Générale
Frankfurt. The management of the issuance vehicle is based on the engineering of new
products and the related, targeted placement of securities with investors (increased
placement rate).
The Company’s internal management system is mainly operated through the systems and
control procedures of the parent company. As part of its efforts to enhance operational
efficiency, the parent company is continuously adjusting its systems and control procedures
and adding to its internal procedures as needed. Extensive improvements in the execution of
the issuance process have led to efficiency enhancements that were necessary for
increasing the issuance volume. A new issuance procedure was introduced to the German
market in May 2019. Under the so-called “Security Box” procedure, new products are initially
pre-authorized by the settlement and depositary company on the basis of product
documentation. However, the transactions are not recorded until the final authorization of the
new products at the time of sale by Société Générale S.A., Paris, as the market maker.
In connection with the integration of the products of Commerzbank’s EMC business,
financial accounting processes and the related controls were adjusted to suit the volume
increase and the extension to other European markets (primarily including the extension of
issuance activity to Scandinavia and Western Europe).
The Company also began to restructure its internal control system in 2019 (see Section D).
This was continued in the 2020 financial year by the introduction of new controls in the area
of “account reconciliation”.
No other non-financial performance indicators are used.
Financial Services to Corporates and Retails
The net profit before profit transfer of the individual companies and return on equity (RoE)
are used as financial performance indicators in the Financial Services to Corporates and
Retail segment. RoE is the ratio of the result after taxes including subsidiaries to
standardized equity. At this level, the RoE for 2020 was 10%.
The number of new contracts in the leasing business represents another key figure. 19,456
new lease contracts were concluded in in 2020. The contract portfolio declined by 2%, from
76,947 to 75,141 lease contracts.
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Asset Management
The fund assets managed in self-managed mutual funds and special funds, including funds
of funds of SGSS, amounted to around EUR 76.3 billion at December 31, 2020. The
increase over the previous year of around EUR 1.3 billion (+2%) resulted mainly from capital
appreciation. At the end of 2020, managed assets in direct investments amounted to around
EUR 2.8 billion, unchanged from the previous year.
At December 31, 2020, the fund assets managed for other AMCs (insourcing) amounted to
around EUR 31.0 billion, indicative of a slight volume decrease from the previous year of
around EUR 0.3 billion. This negative development was mainly due to net fund outflows.
Total fund assets under management amounted to around EUR 110 billion at December 31,
2020 (PY: EUR 109 billion).
With respect to the key performance indicators (KPIs) defined for our customers, the results
were good, as in the previous year, but there were still a few KPI breaches. In total, 94%
(PY: 99%) of all KPIs were fulfilled.

C. Report on the future development, opportunities and risks of the
Group
I.

Expected development of the Group (Forecast Report)

General economic conditions
The economy will continue to suffer from the consequences of the second and possibly third
Covid-19 wave throughout the first quarter of 2021. However, a significant recovery should
commence when large parts of the population are vaccinated and the number of new
infections declines substantially; experts expect this to happen in the second quarter of
2021.
Consumer spending will be boosted by major pent-up demand effects as soon as the
restrictions can be eased again (tourism, restaurants). Economic momentum will pick up
significantly as soon as the trend of infections allows it. Thus, the recovery in the Eurozone
will depend on the progress of vaccinations and the successful containment of the
pandemic. The 750-billion aid package of the EU will only yield visible effects for the
economy and the EU budget beginning in 2022.
The various aid programs enacted by the member states to counteract the effects of the
pandemic are driving a substantial increase in budget deficits to an average of 8.8 percent in
2020. Therefore, government debt in the Eurozone will rise to more than 100 percent of
gross domestic product.
The Covid-19 crisis has caused serious damage to labor markets in all member countries,
leading to a significant decrease in hours worked of more than 20 percent at the peak.
Thanks to the many subsidized short work programs, the conventionally measured
unemployment should increase only moderately from 7.3 percent before the crisis to 8.8
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percent in 2021 and then gradually decline to 8.2 percent in 2022. Including the subsidized
short-work, however, unemployment is significantly higher in all member countries.3
Global Banking and Investor Solutions
The Management expects a high level of issuance activity in the 2021 financial year due to
the integration of the Flow Products of the EMC Division acquired from Commerzbank in the
first quarter of 2020 and the stabilization of that business on a high level. The commenced
extension of the listing beyond Germany to Scandinavia and Western Europe will help the
Company remain the leading issuer in Europe.
Further capacity expansions in the issuance process are planned with the help of the
acquisition and integration of highly effective hardware and software into Société Générale
S.A., Paris, in the course of the integration project. Furthermore, an increased volume of
follow-up issues of turbo warrants must be expected when barrier levels are breached in a
volatile market environment.
As in the previous years, a broad range of products will also be offered in the area of
warrants and certificates in the 2021 financial year.
Including accrued interest on borrowed loans in the amount of around EUR 3.4 million and
the reimbursements paid on the basis of cost-plus agreements, we expect a loss of around
EUR 4.8 million before the profit transfer to Société Générale Frankfurt on the basis of the
existing profit transfer agreement.
Société Générale Effekten GmbH is managed by Société Générale S.A. Frankfurt, which is a
branch of Société Générale S.A., Paris.
Based on the assumptions made in our budget, no liquidity shortfalls are expected.
Financial Services for Corporates and Retails
We have strengthened and enhanced the Company’s collaboration with importers,
dealership associations and their members in the last few years.
The cooperation with Hyundai Capital Bank Europe GmbH ended with the repurchase of
receivables as of 03/31/2020.
After the coronavirus-induced contraction in 2020, gross domestic product is expected to
expand at a rate of between 2.8% and 4.9% in 2021.
At the end of last year, the German Federation for Motor Trades and Repairs
(Zentralverband Deutsches Kraftfahrzeuggewerbe, ZDK) predicted an increase in new
registrations of between 3.0 and 3.1 million and a stable used car market with 7.0 to 7.1
million title transfers in 2021.
The duration of the lockdown ordered in mid-December 2020 will be decisive.
The German federal government has so far managed to prevent an increase in bankruptcies
with its support of businesses and consumers, generous short work benefits and especially

From the EUROFRAME (European Forecasting Association for the Macroeconomy) forecast:
baldige Konjunkturerholung im Euroraum zu erwarten (“Imminent Economic Recovery to Be Expected
in the Eurozone”), published by IfW Kiel, 02/15/2021.

3
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the suspension of the bankruptcy filing requirement. The sustainability of these measures
will only be known when the bankruptcy filing requirement is reinstated as expected.
We expect that new business and the profit/loss before profit transfer in 2021 will be
comparable in magnitude to the performance in the past financial year.
Asset Management
Société Générale Securities Services GmbH expects that the economic environment will
continue to be weak as a result of the coronavirus pandemic. However, the economic
situation should improve in the second half of the year due to the availability of the vaccine
and the anticipated inoculation of the population and could even surprise to the upside as a
result of pent-up demand effects. Financial markets decoupled from the development of the
real economy already in 2020. Given the low interest rates and the financial stabilization
measures implemented by countries across the world, we anticipate a volatile, but overall
positive development in the short to medium term.
The Management, the shareholder and the Supervisory Board resolved a far-reaching
restructuring of Société Générale Securities Services GmbH in December 2020. These
measures entail a focus on core business areas and a transformation of IT systems and will
burden the Company’s results in 2021 and 2022.
We expect lower income in the short and medium term due to customer losses associated
with the initiated restructuring. Operating expenses will probably decline in 2021, also due to
the high level of non-recurring restructuring expenses in the 2020 financial year, and decline
further in the subsequent years due to the initiated restructuring measures.
We forecast an operating loss of approx. EUR 17 million in 2021.
Overall assessment
Also for 2021, we expect a profit contribution from ALD Lease Finanz GmbH in the same
amount as in 2020 and expenses for the loss absorption of Société Générale Securities
Services GmbH in the amount of approximately EUR 17 million on the basis of the profit
transfer agreements in effect. Depending on the duration of the pandemic and the
effectiveness of government support benefits, a negative deviation from the offered forecast
cannot be ruled out.
Including the interest incurred on the loans in the amount of approximately EUR 3 million
and the reimbursements made on the basis of the cost-plus agreements, we expect a profit
of approximately EUR 44 million before the profit transfer to Société Générale Frankfurt.
Thanks to the existing credit line with Société Générale Frankfurt Branch for EUR 10 million,
no liquidity shortages are expected.
II.

Risk Report

Risk management system
Risk management in the Group is carried out at the level of the risk-relevant entities ALD
LF/BDK and SGSS. With respect to the risk management of SGE’s business with warrants
and certificates on the level of the SGE Group, it should be noted that all risks are
transferred to the Société Générale Group in connection with a “Global Guarantee”.
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Risks incurred by the sub-group are presented on a net basis.
Key elements of the risk management system include the risk strategy, risk inventory, and
the risk-bearing capacity as well as the risk management and controlling processes.
Risk inventory
The following types of risk were identified as significant by the Group companies during the
risk inventory that is carried out at least once every year:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Counterparty default risks
Market price and residual value risks
Liquidity risks
Operational risks
Business and reputational risks
Compliance risks

For the special assets held in Asset Management, the focus is on classic investment risks
such as market, liquidity, compliance, and counterparty default risk. These “indirect” risks are
subsumed under business risk or, in the event of statutory or contractual violations, reflected
as loss risk within operational risk from the perspective of the Group.
Risk strategy
Every Group company has its own risk strategy that is based on the respective company’s
business strategy and which defines goals and actions for every type of risk. The risk
strategies are reviewed annually and adjusted if necessary.
Work instructions coordinated with the risk strategies, structured reporting, and limit systems
adapted for the type of risk as well as the training and further education of our employees
are key elements of the risk management system for all types of risk.
Key risk indicators are also analyzed on a monthly and/or quarterly basis and documented in
the Société Générale Group tool “GPS”.
Protests and complaints are recorded in another central databank, analyzed monthly, and
reported to the management and all department heads. Specific measures to reduce risk are
derived using these instruments.
a)

Counterparty default risks

Global Banking and Investor Solutions
The Company is not exposed to settlement risks since payments from the sale of issued
securities always offset payments for hedges and payments related to the exercise of
warrants. Receivables from the counter-transactions entered into exist solely from Société
Générale S.A., Paris. The creditworthiness of Société Générale S.A., Paris, and its
subsidiaries is the determining factor for assessing the Company’s risk.
Financial Services to Corporates and Retails
The Credit Risk Management (CRM) Department manages and monitors the Bank’s credit
risks. Decisions regarding creditworthiness are made here that apply to the granting or
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rejection of credit. Beginning with a defined credit volume, loan decisions are made with the
cooperation of Société Générale’s Loan Department.
In the area of purchase financing, we manage 917 exposures, with the 10 largest borrowers
accounting for 28% of the credit volume (drawdowns). CRM prepares a quarterly credit risk
report for the management. This is a component of the Bank’s risk report and is provided to
the full Supervisory Board on a quarterly basis.
In the sales financing business, a comparatively low exposure to sector-specific individual
risk is exhibited due to broad diversification. The 10 biggest borrowers account for 0.09% of
the total sales financing portfolio (drawdowns).
The loan decision in sales financing is made based on a standardized and system-supported
loan decision-making process primarily in the Service Center Purchasing department in
Hamburg and Stuttgart. Larger individual loans are also voted on and decided by CRM.
The Company continues to bear the credit risk for the loan receivables sold by way of ABS
Transaction No. 5 because the Company holds all the Class B securities, which are
redeemed on a subordinated basis, in its own portfolio. Therefore, the Company continues to
hold these loan receivables and recognize appropriate valuation allowances for credit risk.
The ABS Transactions Nos. 6 and 7 were divided into 5 tranches. As in the preceding
transactions, Class A (issue volume: EUR 930 million and EUR 935 million, respectively)
bears an AAA rating. Classes B–D of the ABS Transaction No. 6, which bear ratings AA, A+,
BBB+ and BB+, and Classes B-D of the ABS Transaction No. 7, which bear ratings AA, A
and AA+ and BBB, have likewise been placed. The unrated Class E in the amount of EUR 5
million, which covers the expected loss of the portfolio, is completely held in the Company’s
own portfolio.
Identified and latent credit risks are accounted for by recognizing specific valuation
allowances and aggregated specific valuation allowances. The specific adjustments for bad
debt in sales financing are formed through the application of general valuation allowance
rates, the amounts of which are based on expected losses and range between 0.30% and
100% depending on the length of the default and the status of the loan. In total, the specific
valuation allowances recognized for credit risks amount to 1.1% of the sales financing
portfolio (PY: 0.8%).
The specific valuation allowances in purchase financing for non-defaulted loans are 0.57%
or 10.32%, depending on their status as “normal loans” or “watchlist loans”. The specific
valuation allowances for defaulted loans are determined by analyzing each case individually.
In total, specific valuation allowances have been established in the amount of 3.5% (PY:
3.0%) of the purchase financing portfolio recognized in the statement of financial position.
The total amount of expected and unexpected credit risks (credit value at risk) was
EUR 82.4 million at the reporting date (PY: EUR 93 million / confidence level 99.9%).
There are no counterparty and country risks.
Asset Management
In Asset Management, counterparty default risk from business partners is managed and
monitored on a continuous basis at the level of the entity and the fund with the use of
ratings, risk analyses, and corresponding limits. Given the structure of receivables, it is
assumed that there is no identifiable default risk for the Group.
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Please refer to our comments in Note 4.8 of the notes to the consolidated financial
statements for additional information on credit risks.
b)

Market price and residual value risks

Global Banking and Investor Solutions
All market price risks from issued warrants and certificates are fully hedged by means of
hedging transactions concluded with Société Générale S.A., Paris. Therefore, there are no
price risks, currency risks, or interest rate risks.
Financial Services to Corporates and Retails
Residual value risk results from the leasing business of the Financial Services to Corporates
and Retail segment.
The percentage of automobiles for which ALD LF bears the residual value risk is 57% (PY:
55%) of the total volume.
ALD LF relies on the expertise of ALD D for the assumption of residual value risk. ALD D’s
many years of experience in the marketing of individual vehicles and vehicle fleets is an
essential basis for a reliable estimate of the sales prices to be realized after the vehicles are
returned. This expertise is supplemented with the Company’s own experience in marketing
lease returns.
The residual values calculated for new contracts are reviewed and determined in regular
meetings of the Residual Value Committee. Forecasts are used to ascertain the risk inherent
in the portfolio.
As a general rule, ALD LF strives for break-even results at the end of the term when
calculating residual values for the marketing of its used vehicles, taking into account the final
invoices at the end of the contract. This goal was not always achieved in the past year and
for the coming year it can also be expected that some losses will be incurred in the
marketing of the lease returns. A provision for anticipated losses was recognized for these
anticipated marketing losses.
Overall, we anticipate a negative operating marketing result in 2021. This development is
mainly grounded in the expectation that it will not be possible to recover the calculated
residual book values at the expected sales prices. A negative factor affecting the expected
price level also results from the adverse effects of the Covid 19-Krise on the overall
economy. However, the expected losses can be partially offset by the reversal of established
provisions.
Since no loans are extended in foreign currencies in the Financial Services to Corporates
and Retail segment and the Company’s operations are funded exclusively in euros, foreign
currency risk can be ruled out.
Interest rate risk is managed on a bank-wide basis by means of an interest rate sensitivity
report, which is prepared and analyzed on a monthly basis by the ALM Team for BDK and
for ALD LF on the level of the Group and the individual institutions. In order to measure risk,
the key figure “sensitivity” is used, which makes a statement regarding the change in present
value on the assets side and liabilities side based on different variations of the yield curve.
The scenario of a parallel shift of +200 basis points yields the highest negative change in
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value of the portfolio, which is EUR -14,784 thousand for BDK (PY: EUR -11,647 thousand).
Derivative financial instruments are not used within BDK. For the ALD LF Group, the
scenarios of +/- 10 basis points to be reported to Société Générale yield a change in value of
the portfolio of EUR 75 thousand in the +10 basis point scenario and EUR -75 thousand in
the -10 basis point scenario.
In connection with ABS Transaction No. 5, BDK acquired the complete tranche of class B
securities in each case and will hold them for the full term of the transaction. Due to their
structure, these securities bear the counterparty default risk of the loan receivables sold to
the special purpose entities.
The ABS Transaction Nos. 6 and 7 issued in 2019 and 2020 were divided into five tranches.
BDK will hold the lowest-ranking Class E over the full term of the transaction. This tranche
bears the anticipated risks of the sold portfolio.
The default risk for these securities is already factored into the credit default risk of the loan
receivables sold to the special purpose entities.
For funding purposes, the Group employs short and medium-term funding resources and
interest rate swaps.
Due to largely maturity-matched funding and the use of derivatives, there was no elevated
interest rate risk on the reporting date.
The intention is to hold all instruments until the end of their contracts.
Asset Management
The market price risks from equity investments are to be classified as low on the whole,
since liquid funds are invested primarily in current accounts and term deposit accounts as
well as, to a lesser extent, investment fund shares. The market price risks on the fund side
have no direct effect on the Company and are measured and managed continuously in
accordance with the requirements of the German Investment Code and the German
Derivatives Regulation.
c)

Liquidity risks

Due to the integration with the Société Générale Group, there are no identifiable liquidity
risks at the present time. The funding requirements are determined annually during the
planning process and coordinated with the Société Générale Group. The funding is therefore
largely provided in the form of credit lines of the Société Générale Group.
It is ensured that the Company is capable of meeting its payment obligations at all times by
monitoring the cash flows on a daily basis and by close coordination with the back office
departments in Paris. No liquidity risks are discernible at the present time due to the
integration with the Société Générale Group.
As part of liquidity controlling, the management of the individual Group companies is also
regularly informed of any liquidity risk. With respect to the management of liquidity risk,
statistical analyses of the past are used, particularly for the purpose of forecasting early loan
repayments. The funds’ liquidity risks are monitored independently of this, using methods
approved by the supervisory authorities.
At December 31, 2020, there was a total of EUR 2,303 million in freely disposable credit
lines for ALD and EUR 10 million for SG Effekten.
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Please refer to Note 13 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements for additional
information on the management of liquidity risk.
d)

Operational risks

The Group strives to reduce its operational risks to a minimum. Société Générale S.A.,
Paris, has developed processes and systems to monitor and manage operational risks that
are used by the Group. These are based mainly on the principle of continual monitoring.
Processes are documented in specially designed applications and assessed based on
specified criteria in order to rule out losses from operational risks. This also includes
precautionary measures as part of the Business Continuity Plan (BCP) in order to maintain
trouble-free operations if the infrastructure is disrupted.
The same rules and principles that apply for Société Générale Effekten GmbH also apply for
the outsourced processes in the service centers in Bangalore and Bucharest. Compliance
with the specified processes is ensured by means of standardized committees and Key
Process Indicators.
The function of fraud prevention, which monitors new business and the loan portfolio,
identifies suspicious events, initiates measures to mitigate losses and educates our
employees, is especially important for the Financial Services to Corporates and Retail
segment.
Operational risk is also reduced by the use of standardized loan agreements, the review of
individual contracts by lawyers, published organizational guidelines and work instructions,
and a well-functioning internal control system. Our service providers are integrated into
BDK’s control system by means of regular reporting and outsourcing monitoring.
In the Asset Management segment, an additional non-compliance risk (including legal and
tax risks) has been identified. Non-compliance risk refers to the risk of contractual or
regulatory penalties or fines or other material financial losses resulting from non-compliance
with regulatory and contractual provisions. There is a general risk that the Group will be
liable to recourse as a result of violations of statutory or contractual provisions or due to
breaches of a duty to exercise due care and diligence vis-à-vis investors. The Group
counters these risks particularly by means of the careful selection and continuing education
of its personnel and the use of adequate controlling instruments. If necessary, external
consultants are also brought in. Furthermore, the Group has extensive insurance policies
(personal injury, property damage, financial losses, etc.) to protect against these risks. In
connection with the management of special assets, compliance with statutory and
contractual provisions is taken into account by means of organizational, personnel and
technical measures. The business processes are performed with the aid of effective
computer systems. Operational risks are systematically surveyed and the current status of
errors and implemented countermeasures are regularly reported.
Furthermore, emergency and crisis management is a key component of risk management.
The implementation of the concepts is documented in the Company’s emergency handbook,
which is revised and updated every financial year. The Company last assured itself of the
functionality and operational readiness of the workstations in the emergency backup center
in the first quarter of 2020. Moreover, mobile working has been successfully expanded to a
considerable extent as a result of the coronavirus crisis.
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We were able to ensure through the described measures and processes that there were no
significant losses resulting from operational risks within the Group in the following areas in
2020:
- Reports required under supervisory law
- Risks associated with information technology
- Outsourcing risks
- Fraud risks
e)

Business and reputation risks

Asset Management monitors customer satisfaction by means of customer KPIs, inquiry and
complaint management, and regular customer surveys.
Realized business risks are identified by means of variances in the financial/budgetary
planning, taking into account their type, scope, and complexity.
Risk management and controlling processes
The senior managers of the individual Group companies are responsible for risk
management. SGE’s management focuses primarily on the “Global Guarantee” of the
Société Générale Group. SGE’s management determines the risk strategies and also
decides on the design of the risk-bearing concepts, the economic capital, and the amount of
the assigned limits. There are no overriding risk management and controlling processes at
the sub-group level of Société Générale Effekten GmbH due to the integration with the
Société Générale Group.
With respect to both the procedural and organizational structure, rules have been issued to
ensure compliance with the requisite separation of functions in all Group companies. The
responsibilities for the initiation of risky transactions are separated from the responsibilities
for risk management, back office functions, processing, and accounting.
Potential legal risks
The Group is exposed to risks from legal disputes or proceedings involving investors,
authorities, or business partners in which we are either currently involved or which could
arise in the future. In addition, the Group and its products are subject to constant tax and
regulatory audits. The outcome of current, pending, or future audits and proceedings cannot
be foreseen; as a result, expenses can be incurred due to decisions handed down by courts
or other authorities or the agreement of settlements that are not covered in full or in part by
insurance benefits and which could have an impact on the Company and its results.
Significant legal risks are covered by counter-guarantees on the part of the Société Générale
S.A. Frankfurt.
Ongoing or future investigations and inquiries as a result of potential violations of statutory or
regulatory provisions can lead to sanctions under criminal and civil laws, including monetary
penalties and other financial disadvantages, that would have a negative impact on the
Group’s reputation, and ultimately have a negative impact on the success of the business.
Société Générale Securities Services GmbH has adequately provided for an ongoing case in
the form of a guarantee by Société Générale S. A., Frankfurt Branch. Thanks to this
guarantee, Société Générale Securities Services GmbH and Société Générale Effekten
GmbH are not economically burdened by this case. Therefore, Société Générale Securities
Services GmbH has netted the uncertain liability in the amount of EUR 60 million with the
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guarantee, which is for a total amount of EUR 110 million. Therefore, the risks of these legal
disputes are adequately covered.
III.

Report on opportunities

The strategies of the individual Group companies are designed to identify arising
opportunities early, to assess them using the risk management systems and/or based on
resource estimates, and to take advantage of them by means of appropriate actions for the
successful development of the Group.
Global Banking and Investor Solutions
As part of its warrants and certificates business, the Group uses a New Products Committee
(NPC) convened in each case for the conception of new products, in which all departments
participating in the issuing process present their requirements and resource allocations.
The examination focuses on all relevant factors for the Company, such as markets, the
competitive situation, strategic orientation, current organization, personnel, back office
technical processing potential and volumes.
The acquisition of Commerzbank’s EMC business and the resultant integration of Flow
Products in late March 2020 give the Company the chance to strengthen and expand its
market share both in Germany and in Europe.
The Management therefore expects a continued high level of issuance activity.
Financial Services to Corporates and Retails
The strategic orientation of the Financial Services to Corporates and Retail segment in the
German market is coordinated with the international strategy of the Société Générale Group.
The strategy is continually compared with the Group’s strategy as part of the regular
reporting to Société Générale S.A., Paris.
As in the past, our activities are focused on the intensification and expansion of partnerships
with car dealerships and therefore on greater market penetration. Especially in the past
financial year, it was critically important for dealerships to tap supplementary sales channels.
For this purpose, we offer car dealerships additional services that enable them to attract
customers together with us in a changing market environment.
For this reason, our digital products, which are also geared to leasing and financing, have
become increasingly important for car sales in the last few years. These products include the
financial calculator developed by us for the dealership’s website, the calculation app for
mobile devices, the preliminary loan approval for the dealership’s website and our multibrand new car calculator. In 2020, we also began developing a digital application procedure,
which when completed will make it possible to conclude a loan agreement without physical
interaction in the dealership. Moreover, our digitalization specialists in the field will advise
dealerships in matters of the digital transformation.
In late 2019, a used car platform for our dealer partners was introduced under the brand
name “JuhuAuto.” The vehicles of our dealer partners are offered on this platform, which
features an intuitive search function. This platform was further developed and additional
dealerships were added in 2020. This will create additional opportunities for the products in
question.

22

Since 2015, the Company has been developing a concept for marketing our lease returns
that is based on using selected dealership partners to sell the vehicles. Under this concept,
our lease returns will be offered to end customers at the sales outlets of our partners.
Moreover, vehicles have been purchased selectively for subsequent marketing.
Thus, our sales success is closely associated with the success of our sales partners, the
cooperating dealers. The collaboration with importers, dealership associations and their
members has been strengthened and enhanced in the last few years. More than 3,500 car
dealerships utilized these services and sold the products to their customers in 2020.
The Company’s success also depends in part on factors that it cannot directly influence.
Above all, the development of the new and used vehicle market makes it necessary to
continuously evaluate the product portfolio and to further develop it based on market
demand.
After the coronavirus-induced decline in 2020, gross domestic product is expected to expand
at a rate of between 2.8% and 4.9% in 2021.
At the end of 2020, the German Federation for Motor Trades and Repairs (Zentralverband
Deutsches Kraftfahrzeuggewerbe, ZDK) predicted an increase in new registrations of
between 3.0 and 3.1 million and a stable used car market with 7.0 to 7.1 million title transfers
in 2021.
The German federal government has so far managed to prevent an increase in bankruptcies
with its support of businesses and consumers, generous short work benefits and especially
the suspension of the bankruptcy filing requirement. The sustainability of these measures
will only be known when the bankruptcy filing requirement is reinstated as expected.
Given that business opportunities are closely linked to the business performance of car
dealerships, the dealership closures in March/April 2020 and since December 2020 due to
the pandemic have directly impacted the Company’s business as well. These risks can be
mitigated by the development of digital offerings. Nonetheless, this situation has caused
substantial declines in new business. Accordingly, our new business would be adversely
impacted by further closures.
Therefore, the uncertain situation regarding the duration of the closure of dealership
showrooms and the effects of the general economic environment on the new car and used
car markets currently pose risks to the segment’s business performance.
Asset Management
Economic growth in Germany and the world is expected to recover in the short to medium
term. The recovery could be considerably stronger and longer-lasting than generally
expected due to pent-up demand effects. Although the current outlook is fraught with
tremendous uncertainty, the expansive monetary policy of central banks and the measures
initiated by governments have laid the groundwork for future growth. Many small investors
seized opportunities in the stock markets in 2020 with positive results so far. Consequently,
interest in investment fund products has grown further, especially considering the fact that
savings accounts will continue to be unsuitable for private retirement planning also in the
longer-term future due to low interest rates. With our reorientation and the planned focus on
services for asset managers, we strive to be an important local and European partner and
benefit from the industry’s growth in the future. Moreover, we see opportunities in the
increased integration of our Company into the IT landscape of the Société Générale Group,
from which we expect lasting cost synergies. The deepened integration of our Company into
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the Group and the adjustment of our business model create additional opportunities for us to
profit from global sales successes also on the local level.
Overall assessment
Economic growth will depend on the progression of the pandemic and the pace of
vaccinations. Infection numbers will probably remain high into the spring of 2021. It is
expected that vaccinations will make it possible to permanently contain the pandemic in the
summer of 2021. GDP is expected to grow at a rate of 4.5% in the second quarter of 2021
and beyond.4
Under the currently prevailing pandemic circumstances, it is difficult to make a statement
about the outlook for the 2021 financial year. All in all, the Management is hoping for a quick
recovery of the global economy and assesses the development as positive.

D. Internal control and risk management system with respect to the accounting
process
At the Group level, the Société Générale Group is subject to supervision by the French
supervisory authority ACPR and since November 4, 2014, supervision by the European
Central Bank; it is also subject to French bank regulations, which require a minimum
standard for all Group entities.
To the extent that local laws and regulations prescribe stricter standards than the laws
applicable in France, the stricter standards are applied in every case.
The internal control system (ICS) is based on the three-lines-of-defense model. The internal
control system was developed further in view of the increased issuance activity and the
coronavirus pandemic. In total, 149 additional controls were integrated into all three lines of
defense in the 2020 financial year. In particular, controls were introduced to guarantee data
security for employees working from home and greater attention will be given to
psychosocial risks associated with working from home.

FIRST LINE OF DEFENSE
The first line of defense is the level of Business Units (BUs) and Support Units (SUs), which
assume risks and bear direct responsibility for continuous operational management. The
BUs and SUs bear primary responsibility for risk assessment and for control and oversight
measures within their given areas, and for the ongoing performance of first-level controls
according to the norms, standards and procedures established by the second line of
defense. At the level of the first line of defense, suitable procedures and control systems are
employed to ensure risk identification, analysis, measurement, control and mitigation with
due regard to the Group’s risk appetite and in compliance with all external and internal
requirements for their business activities. To this end, the senior managers of the BUs and
SUs or the managers responsible for business processes implement the following measures,
to the extent necessary:

4

Deutsche Bank Research, Ausblick 2021: Corona-Konjunktur (“Outlook 2021: Coronavirus Economy”), Frankfurt: December
14, 2020. https://www.dbresearch.com/PROD/RPS_DE-PROD/PROD0000000000514901/Ausblick_2021%3A_CoronaKonjunktur.PDF?undefined&realload=5MHeGCPGKcrGBJ6FyBtIgbsxqrDjul3LTan9JR862H6KZVYi~3aUeuC7QrAx~C6LPAaZ/
sXbGih5ijDa0WkFrA== [accessed: 04/15/2021].
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Allocation of necessary and adequate resources to perform the first-level controls;
Specification of normative first-level control processes (LOD1) to ensure the
fulfillment of the control objectives in an appropriate relationship to the Group’s risk
appetite;
Assurance of the preparation, implementation and monitoring of the first-level
controls;
Monitoring of the quality of implementation and appropriateness of the reported
results;
Regular review of controls and the implementation of necessary changes, particularly
in the case of changes in the business activities and the associated risks due to new
laws and regulations;
Quarterly approval of control measures at the senior management level;
Communication of control results.

Senior operational managers are also responsible for ensuring that all employees under their
supervision are appropriately informed of their responsibilities related to risk management
and control.
SECOND LINE OF DEFENSE
The Risk Department, Compliance Department and Finance Department form the second
line of defense (LOD2). They are responsible for the identification, assessment, analysis,
measurement, monitoring and control of all risks, as well as correct reporting in the form of a
risk summary prepared by the respective Group entities. This includes the adoption of
suitable norms, standards and procedures in consideration of the operational risk framework
and the provision of material indicators and analyses for general risk monitoring. They are
also responsible for assessing the Group’s risk profile and for the effectiveness of the
operational risk framework at the level of the BUs and SUs. The three SUs monitor and
support the implementation of risk management measures by the BUs in order to ensure the
appropriateness and effectiveness of the processes and controls at the level of the first line
of defense. By continually performing second-level control activities, they ensure the
appropriateness, functionality and effectiveness of the continual first-level controls.
In this context, the three strategic SUs exercise the following functions in the risk areas
assigned to them:
•
•

Groupwide control function;
Continual second-level control activities.

Within the Finance Department (DFIN), the Groupwide control function is distributed to
several sub-departments, depending on the process in question. The responsibilities of
these departments (“process owners”) are listed in the following:
•
•
•
•
•

The Accounting Department is responsible for processes related to the preparation of
accounting information;
The Regulation Department is responsible for processes related to the preparation of
supervisory or regulatory information;
The ALM Department is responsible for processes related to the management of
structural risks;
The Funding and Treasury Department is responsible for processes related to
funding and liquidity management;
The Finance Management Department is responsible for processes related to the
preparation of management reports and indicators and for finance administration;
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•
•

The Finance Communication Department is responsible for processes related to
finance communication;
The Vendor Payments Department is responsible for processes related to the
payment of overhead costs and vendors.

THIRD LINE OF DEFENSE
Within Société Générale S.A., the second-level control teams report to the responsible
Group SUs. The Risk Management Function or the Finance Management Function (DFIN)
under the supervision of the Risk Division are therefore responsible for the control function
for second-level structural risks.
Within the third line of defense, all Group-level activities, transactions and processes are
reviewed by the General Inspection or Internal Audit Departments (LOD3), without
exception. General Inspection and Internal Audit are also authorized to audit Group activities
in countries that do not have a Group location. The awarding of services to outside service
providers is subject to audits by General Inspection or Internal Audit under the leadership of
the General Inspections Committee (CIIG), i.e. several Group companies can commission a
single audit of a service provider engaged by them jointly.
CONTINUAL CONTROLS
CONTINUAL FIRST-LEVEL CONTROL ACTIVITIES
The continual first-level control activities are performed within the BUs as part of their
operational activities. They ensure the security and quality of transactions and operational
activities. These control activities comprise a number of continual measures to ensure
compliance with regulations and with the validation and security requirements for
transactions at the operational level.
The continual control activities include:
•

•

Risk avoidance systems: These control measures are performed on a regular and
ongoing basis or by means of automated processes within the scope of transaction
processing. This includes a framework plan for risk management, i.e. security
regulations and controls (including automated ones) within the scope of transaction
processing or controls within the scope of operational processes.
Control activities by the senior management: Line managers are responsible for
ensuring the correct functioning of all systems in their area of responsibility. In this
context, regularly performed, formal procedures ensure employees’ compliance with
regulations and procedures and the effective performance of first-level controls. The
control activities of line managers mainly comprise adjustments of the primary
controls from the standard normative controls.

Division managers use controls performed by special teams, e.g. (i) for sensitive processes
for which stricter or standardized controls are required or to avoid self-controls (e.g. the
commencement of customer relationships in the retail business), and/or (ii) insofar as the
bundling of control activities increases productivity.
CONTINUAL SECOND-LEVEL CONTROL ACTIVITIES
Continual second-level control activities are the measures belonging to the second line of
defense. In this way, operational managers bear responsibility for risk assessment and
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management, as well as operational security, using inter alia the prescribed standards and
the procedures, methods and controls defined for this purpose.
The continual second-level control activities are performed by teams that act independently
of the operational teams:
At the Group level, the continual control activities are performed by teams that report to the
Group SUs, which form the second line of defense for the following three functions:
•

•
•

Finance: The continual second-level control activities relate to quality in accounting,
regulatory or supervisory and financial information, as well as tax matters, with the
exception of tax avoidance risks (FATCA – Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act and
CRS – Common Reporting Standard);
Compliance: The continual second-level control activities relate to compliance audits
and comprise legal audits and audits related to tax avoidance risks;
Risk: The continual second-level control activities relate to credit and market risks, as
well as structural risks such as liquidity risk and operational risks. Operational risks
particularly include risks within the scope of the core business (including fraudulent
acts), as well as procurement, communication, property or personnel risks and risks
in IT processes and systems.

E. Non-financial Group statement
Due to the affiliation with the Société Générale Group, SGE Group avails itself of the
exemption granted under Section 315b (2) sentence 2 of the German Commercial Code
(Handelsgesetzbuch, HGB). Société Générale S.A., Paris, publishes a separate nonfinancial Group report in English annually on its website (www.societegenerale.com).

Frankfurt am Main, April 21, 2021
The Management
Société Générale Effekten GmbH

Françoise Esnouf

Helmut Höfer
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
Note
Note 4.7
Note 4.7
Note 7.1
Note 7.1
Note 4.1

(In euro thousands)
Interest and similar income
Interest and similar expenses
Commission income
Commission expenses
Net result from financial transactions
Thereof net gains or losses from financial
instruments measured at fair value through profit
or loss
Income from other activities
Expenses for other activities
Net banking income
Personnel expenses
Other administrative expenses
Expenses for depreciation, amortization and
impairments of intangible assets and property,
plant and equipment
Gross operating result
Risk expenses (impairments of financial assets
and commitments)
Operating expenses
Net gains or losses on other assets
Impairments of goodwill
Profit/loss before taxes
Income taxes
Net profit/loss of all companies in the
consolidation group
Non-controlling interests
Net profit/loss (Group’s share)

Note 7.2
Note 7.2
Note 8
Note 12.2
Note 5

Note 4.8

Note 6
Note 9

5

2020
181,759
(23,260)
75,050
(11,658)
(2,325)

2019
185,380
(34,482)
85,514
(17,761)
(3,079)

(2,325)

(3,079)

285,044
(320,209)
184,401
(88,179)
(40,931)

266,227
(292,406)
189,393
(70,800)
(45,271)

(5,731)

(4,345)

49,560

68,977

(15,432)

(16,353)

34,128
(26)
(664)
33,438
-

52,624
(1)
(575)
52,048
-

33,438

52,048

(2,274)
35,712

1,144
50,904

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
(In euro thousands)
Net profit/loss
Gains and losses recognized directly in equity, that will
be reclassified to profit or loss at a later time:
Remeasurement differences from hedging instruments
Gains or losses recognized directly in equity, that will
not be reclassified to profit or loss at a later time:
Actuarial gains and losses on post-employment benefits
Tax-related
Total other comprehensive income
Comprehensive income (net profit/loss and other
comprehensive income)
thereof attributable to the Group
thereof attributable to non-controlling interests
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2020
33,438

2019
52,048

(534)

784

337
(64)
(261)

(4,300)
828
(2,688)

33,177

49,360

22,052
11,125

42,609
6,751

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION –
ASSETS

12/31/2020

12/31/2019

Note 4.1

3,237,675

3,012,327

Note 4.2
Note 4.4
4.9

62

1,004

102,064

77,786

4,426,689

4,401,739

462,072

478,821

1,075
257,908

1,022
196,156

Note 5

636,265

609,635

Note 6

1,569
9,125,379

2,233
8,781,144

(In euro thousands)
Financial assets measured at fair value
through profit or loss

Note

Hedging derivatives
Receivables from banks at amortized cost
Loans to and receivables from customers at
amortized cost
Receivables from finance leases
Tax assets
Other assets
Property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets*
Goodwill
Total

Note 4.4
4.9
Note 4.4
4.9
Note 9
Note 7.3

*) Due to the application of IFRS 16 Leases as of January 1, 2019, the Group recognized a right-of-use asset
representing its rights to use the underlying assets under “Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets”
(see Note 1).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION –
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

(In euro thousands)
Financial liabilities measured at fair value
through profit or loss
Hedging derivatives
Securitized liabilities
Liabilities to banks
Liabilities to customers
Tax liabilities
Other liabilities*
Noncurrent liabilities held for sale
Provisions
Subordinated liabilities
Total liabilities
EQUITY
Equity, Group’s share
Subscribed capital, equity instruments
and additional paid-in capital reserves
Profit carried forward
Group reserves
Financial year net profit/loss
Subtotal
Unrealized or deferred capital gains and
losses
Subtotal equity (Group’s share)
Non-controlling interests
Total equity
Total

Note

12/31/2020

12/31/2019

Note 4.1

3,151,043

2,941,415

Note 4.2
Note 4.5
4.9
Note 4.5
4.9
Note 4.5
4.9
Note 9
Note 7.3

1,187

1,322

1,841,906

1,545,557

3,810,861

4,034,562

468

873

1,313
223,633
103,541
9,133,952

188,232
79,767
8,791,728

26

26

1,138
(38,954)
35,712
(2,078)

1,138
(57,844)
50,904
(5,777)

(3,621)

(3,360)

(5,699)
(2,875)
(8,574)
9,125,379

(9,136)
(1,448)
(10,584)
8,781,144

Note 12.3

Note 10

*) Due to the application of IFRS 16 Leases as of January 1, 2019, the Group recognized a lease liability
representing its obligation to make lease payments under “Other liabilities” (see Note 1).
.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Equity and reserves

Gains and losses recognized directly
in equity

Subscrib
ed
capital

Group
reserves

Total

Profit
carried
forward

26

(22,313)

(22,287)

1,138

In euro thousands
Equity at 01/01/2019

Net
profit/loss
(Group’s
share)

Gains and losses
recognized directly in
equity
Net/profit loss for 2019

26

Utilization of profit
Equity at 01/01/2020

Not to be
reclassified to
profit or loss at a
later time

(1,037)
784

Total

Equity,
Group’s
share

Equity and
reserves

365

(672)

(21,822)

(1,539)

(3,472)

(2,688)

(2,688)

50,904

Other changes
Subtotal
Equity at 12/31/2019

To be
reclassified to
profit or loss at
a later time

Non-controlling interests

26

(35,531)
(35,531)

(35,531)
(35,531)

(57,845)

(57,819)

50,904

50,904

(6,941)

(6,915)

Gains and losses
recognized directly in
equity

-

Net profit/loss for 2020

-

1,138

Total

Total Group
equity

(1,539)

(23,361)
(2,688)

50,904

1,144

1,144

52,048

50,904

784

(3,472)

(2,688)

(35,531)
12,685

(1,052)
92

(1,052)
92

(36,583)
12,777

50,904

(253)

(3,107)

(3,360)

(9,136)

(1,448)

(1,448)

(10,584)

-

-

-

-

(1,448)

(10,583)

-

(261)

(50,904)
1,138

Gains and
losses
recognized
directly in
equity

-

(253)

(3,107)

(3,360)

(9,137)

(534)

273

(261)

(261)

-

35,712

(2,274)

(2,274)

33,438

-

(32,013)

847

847

(31,166)

35,712

(1,448)

-

Other changes*

-

(32,013)

(32,013)

-

Subtotal

-

(32,013)

(32,013)

-

35,712

(534)

273

(261)

(3,438)

(1,427)

-

(1,427)

(2,011)

Equity at 12/31/2020

26

(38,954)

(38,928)

1,138

35,712

(787)

(2,834)

(3,621)

(5,699)

(2,875)

-

(2,875)

(8,573)

*) The Other changes result from liabilities to Société Générale S.A. Frankfurt Branch from the transfer of the profit for 2020 calculated in accordance with the German Commercial Code (HGB) in the
amount of EUR 32,137 thousand on the basis of a profit transfer agreement concluded by signature of September 7, 2016 and from the adjustments made as a result of the introduction of IFRS 16.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
2020

2019

33,438

52,048

111,614

111,454

Expenses for impairments of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets (including operating leases) and net
additions to provisions

26,885

67,319

Net gain or loss from sales of consolidated subsidiaries and
other noncurrent securities – Equity instruments measured
at fair value through profit or loss

-

948

(27,406)

(75,726)

111,093

103,995

2,523

1,088

Interbank transactions
Transactions with customers

(723,005)
(29,486)

1,180,005
(439,316)

Transactions with other financial assets/ liabilities

1,022,209

(810,246)

Transactions with other non-financial assets/ liabilities

(14,939)

(10,511)

Net increases/ decreases in operating assets/ liabilities

257,301

(78,981)

NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

401,832

77,062

1,980

67,234

Cash flows from purchases and sales of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets

(155,595)

(176,472)

NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

(153,615)

(109,238)

Other cash flows from financing activities
NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

(178,956)
(178,956)

(116,160)
(116,160)

69,261

(148,336)

4,557

152,893

69,261

(148,336)

73,818

4,557

(In euro thousands)
Net profit/loss
Expenses for depreciation and amortization of property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets (including
operating leases)

Other changes
Non-monetary components included in the net
profit/loss after taxes, and other adjustments,
excluding the gains and losses on financial
instruments measured at fair value through profit or
loss
Net gain or loss from financial instruments measured at fair
value through profit or loss

Cash flows from purchases and sales of financial assets
and equity investments

NET CASH FLOW FROM CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING
OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR
Net amount of bank accounts, sight deposits and deposits/
loans with banks
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE
FINANCIAL YEAR
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In accordance with the policy of Société Générale Group, the SGE Group considers cash on hand, sight
deposits, loans and advances to central banks and banks to be cash and cash equivalents in preparing the
statement of cash flows. At December 31, 2020, cash and cash equivalents consisted only of call deposits with
banks in the amount of EUR 80 million (Note 4.4) less loans to banks payable at call (deposits and current
accounts) in the amount of EUR 6 million (Note 4.5).
Cash flows from interest amounted to EUR 157 million and cash flows from taxes amounted to EUR -5.5 million.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1 – BASIC INFORMATION ABOUT THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Société Générale Effekten GmbH is a limited liability company under German law, with its registered head office
in Frankfurt am Main (Neue Mainzer Str. 46-50, 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany). It is entered in the
Frankfurt am Main Local Court under record no. HRB 32283. The company’s consolidated financial statements
include the company and its controlled subsidiaries (referred to collectively as the “Group”). The Group is
primarily active in the issuance of options and certificates, the provision of financing and leasing services and
asset management.
The parent company Société Générale Effekten GmbH is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Société Générale S.A.
Frankfurt, a branch of Société Générale Paris, in the consolidated financial statements of which it is included.
The consolidated financial statements of Société Générale Effekten GmbH cover the period from January 1,
2020 to December 31, 2020. The consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the corresponding Interpretations of the International
Financial Reporting Standards Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) as they are to be applied in the European
Union, as well as the commercial-law disclosures required by Section 315e para. 1 German Commercial Code
(HGB).
The present consolidated financial statements are presented in euros, the functional currency of the parent
company. Unless otherwise indicated, all financial information presented in euros is rounded to one thousand
euros.

PROFIT TRANSFER AGREEMENT
A profit transfer agreement for an indefinite term has been in effect between Société Générale Effekten GmbH
as the subsidiary company and Société Générale S.A., Frankfurt as the parent company since January 1, 2016.
In addition, a profit transfer agreement for an indefinite term has been in effect between Société Générale
Effekten GmbH as the parent company and ALD Lease Finanz GmbH as the subsidiary company and Société
Générale Securities Services GmbH as the subsidiary company since January 1, 2017.

CONSOLIDATED TAX GROUP FOR INCOME TAX PURPOSES
The profit transfer agreement between Société Générale Effekten GmbH as the subsidiary company and
Société Générale S.A. Frankfurt Branch as the parent company established a consolidated tax group for
income tax purposes with Société Générale S.A. Frankfurt Branch with effect as of January 1, 2016. In addition,
ALD Lease Finanz GmbH and Société Générale Securities Services GmbH as subsidiary companies were
integrated into the consolidated tax group for income tax purposes with effect as of January 1, 2017 by virtue of
12

the profit transfer agreements with Société Générale Effekten GmbH as the parent company. As a result of the
formation of the consolidated tax group for income tax purposes, Société Générale Effekten GmbH (SGE) does
not recognize any deferred taxes in its financial statements.
Acquisition of Flow Products from the Commerzbank division
On November 8, 2018, the Société Générale Group signed an agreement in which Société Générale undertook
to acquire Commerzbank’s Equity Markets & Commodities (EMC) business, which comprises the issuance and
market-making of flow products (“Flow Products”) and structured products (“Exotic, Vanilla and Funds
Products”) and part of the asset management activities (“Asset Management”).
Société Générale received the approval of the antitrust authority to acquire Commerzbank’s EMC activities on
February 11, 2019.
SGE was chosen as the Target Issuer for the Flow Products.
The Flow Products were integrated into the books of SGE on March 28/29, 2020. In a project lasting several
months, the acquisition processes were defined and supported by the Company in several “streams.” In total,
approx. 57,000 existing products with a nominal volume of approx. EUR 33 billion were acquired. Existing
processes in back office processing were unaffected by the migration.
The integration entailed an extension of the listing to other European markets:
In connection with the acquisition of the Flow Products business, listings on a regulated market as defined in
the EU Prospectus Directive were obtained for the countries of Scandinavia (Sweden, Denmark, Finland and
Norway) and Western Europe (Belgium, Netherlands, Luxembourg, France, Spain, Portugal, Switzerland and
Italy).

USE OF DISCRETIONARY JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the management is required to make certain discretionary
decisions, estimates and assumptions pertaining to the application of financial reporting methods and the stated
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
In making these estimates and formulating these assumptions, the management applies the information
available at the time of preparing the consolidated financial statements and decides on the basis of its own
judgment. Naturally, the measurements based on these estimates are subject to certain risks and uncertainties
concerning their occurrence in the future, so that the actual values in the future may differ from the estimates. In
that case, they could potentially have a material effect on the financial statements.
Estimates were applied particularly with respect to the measurement of the following items:



Measurement of the stated fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market,
which are presented under “Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss”
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or “Hedging derivatives,” and the fair value of financial instruments for which this value is disclosed in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements;



Measurement of the amount of impairments of the statement of financial position items “Receivables
from banks at amortized cost,” “Loans to and receivables from customers at amortized cost,”
“Receivables under finance leases,” “Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets” and
“Goodwill.”



Measurement of the provisions recognized on the equity and liabilities side of the statement of financial
position, including the provisions for employee benefits.

AMENDMENTS TO IAS 28 LONG-TERM INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES
The amendments state that IFRS 9 Financial Instruments is applicable to financial instruments that form part of
a net investment in an associate or joint venture, but to which the equity method is not applied.
AMENDMENTS TO IAS 19 PLAN AMENDMENT, CURTAILMENT OR SETTLEMENT
These amendments clarify how pension expenses are determined in case of an amendment, curtailment or
settlement of defined benefit pension plans. In these cases, IAS 19 prescribes that the net expenses of the
defined benefit plan assets or liabilities are to be remeasured.
The amendments require that reporting entities apply the updated actuarial assumptions used for this
remeasurement to determine the past service cost and net interest.
AMENDMENTS TO IAS 1 AND IAS 8 DEFINITION OF MATERIAL
Adopted by the European Union on November 29, 2019
These amendments revise the definition of the term “material” in order to facilitate the discretionary judgments
made during the preparation of financial statements, particularly the selection of information to be presented in
the notes to the financial statements.
AMENDMENTS TO IFRS 3 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
Published by the IASB on October 22, 2018
The amendments offer clear application guidelines to facilitate the distinction between the acquisition of a
business and the acquisition of a group of assets, the accounting treatment of which is different.

NEW INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS TO BE APPLIED BY THE GROUP IN THE
FUTURE
The following amendments of IFRS Standards were applied for the first time in the consolidated financial
statements for the 2020 financial year:
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-

Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards,

-

Amendments to IFRS 3 – Definition of a “Business”,

-

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 – Definition of “Material”,

-

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 – Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 1,

-

Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases – COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions.

Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards
The adjustments included in the amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards
were necessary as a result of the revision of the Conceptual Framework because quotes from and references to
the Conceptual Framework are included in numerous Standards and other pronouncements of the IASB. In
addition to editorial changes, the amendments also clarify which version of the Conceptual Framework is to be
applied in each case. Depending on the subject matter, users must apply the Conceptual Framework in the
versions of 2001, 2010 or 2018. These amendments did not have any material effects on the consolidated
financial statements.
Amendments to IFRS 3 – Definition of a “Business”
The amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a “Business” are meant to help reporting entities determine whether
they have acquired a business or a group of assets. To qualify as a business under the new definition of a
“business”, the acquired set of activities and assets must include resources and a substantive process that
together contribute to the ability to create outputs. The modified definition is applicable to transactions
completed on or after January 1, 2020. These amendments did not have any material effects on the
consolidated financial statements.
Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 – Definition of “Material”
The amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 Definition of “Material” are meant to refine the definition of materiality. In
particular, the amendments state that obscuring information can have a similar effect as omitting or misstating
information. The amendments are applicable in annual periods that begin on or after January 1, 2020. These
amendments did not have any material effects on the consolidated financial statements.
Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 – Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 1
The amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 1 temporarily
provide relief in the accounting treatment of hedging relationships before the initiated reform of important
benchmark interest rates EURIBOR, LIBOR or EONIA was finalized. Exemption can be applied to hedging
relationships that are directly affected by the interest rate benchmark reform. A hedging relationship is only
directly affected if the reform leads to uncertainties regarding the interest rate designated as the hedged risk or
the timing or amount of the underlying transaction’s hedged cash flows or cash flows from the hedging
instrument that are based on the benchmark interest rate.
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Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases – COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions
The amendments to IFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions grant lessees an option of applying a
practical expedient to the accounting treatment of concessions related to the outbreak of the COVID-19
pandemic such as the deferment or reduction of rent payments. If this option is exercised, such rent
concessions are accounted for as if they do not represent a lease modification. Consequently, the reporting
entity is no longer required to review all leases or rental agreements to legally assess such rent concessions
against the background of the contract design and possibly determine new discount rates.
The amendments are to be applied completely retrospectively in reporting periods beginning on or after June 1,
2020. These amendments had no material effects on the consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 2 – CONSOLIDATION GROUP
PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the parent company Société Générale
Effekten GmbH and all companies that it controls. The separate financial statements of the aforementioned
companies form the basis for the consolidated financial statements. Intercompany balances, transactions and
all unrealized income and expenses from intercompany transactions are eliminated in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES
Subsidiaries are companies controlled by the parent company. The parent company controls a company when it
is exposed to or holds rights to variable returns from its investment in the company and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the company. The financial statements of subsidiaries are to be included in
the consolidated financial statements from the date on which control begins and up to the date on which control
ends.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated.
The parent company consolidates the structured entities. The entities are included in the consolidated financial
statements by reason of their design. In particular, the investments consist of holdings in debt instruments in
securitization companies, which leads to risks and inflows, depending on the profitability of the structured entity.
The contractual commitments to consolidated structured entities only consist of assumed subordinated
promissory note loans. Aside from the contractual commitments, the Group has not financially supported the
consolidated structured entities and also does not plan to do this at the present time.
The maximum loss risk of the consolidated structured entities is determined by the carrying amount of the
assets held in relation to the structured entities.
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CHANGE OF CONSOLIDATION GROUP
Compared to December 31, 2019, there have been no changes in the consolidation group except for the
dissolution of the structured entity “Red & Black Auto Germany 4 UG (HAFTUNGSBESCHRAENKT)” and the
creation of the structured entity “Red & Black Auto Germany 7 UG (HAFTUNGSBESCHRAENKT)”.

CONSOLIDATION GROUP
12/31/2020
Company’s
registered head
office

Business
activity

Share of equity held
[%]

Share of voting rights
held
[%]

ALD LEASE FINANZ GMBH

Hamburg,
Germany

Leasing
company

100

100

SOCIÉTÉ GÉNÉRALE
SECURITIES SERVICES GMBH

Aschheim,
Germany

Capital
management
company

100

100

BANK DEUTSCHES
KRAFTFAHRZEUGGEWERBE
GMBH

Hamburg,
Germany

Specialized
financing
institution

99.9

51

BDK LEASING UND SERVICE
GMBH

Hamburg,
Germany

Service
company

100

100

RED & BLACK AUTO GERMANY
5 UG
(HAFTUNGSBESCHRANKT)

Frankfurt,
Germany

Structured entity

-

-

RED & BLACK AUTO GERMANY
6 UG
(HAFTUNGSBESCHRANKT)

Frankfurt,
Germany

Structured entity

-

-

RED & BLACK AUTO GERMANY
7 UG*
(HAFTUNGSBESCHRANKT)

Frankfurt,
Germany

Structured entity

-

-

ALD AUTOLEASING UND
DIENSTLEISTUNGS GMBH

Hamburg,
Germany

Service
company

43.8

43.8

NEDDERFELD 95 IMMOBILIEN
GMBH & CO.KG

Hamburg,
Germany

Real estate
company

65

50

Name of company
Consolidated companies

Non-consolidated companies
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*”ABS - Red & Black Auto Germany 7 UG” with a total volume of EUR 995,000,000.00 was founded in
November 2020; of which Class A Notes EUR 935,000,000.00, and other Class B Notes EUR 25,000,000.00,
Class C Notes EUR 25,000,000.00 and Class D Notes EUR 10,000,000.00.
The non-consolidated companies ALD Auto Leasing und Dienstleistungs GmbH and Nedderfeld 95 Immobilien
GmbH & Co.KG are associated companies. Due to the acquisition of ALD Lease Finanz GmbH as the parent
company of the associated companies as part of an internal Group restructuring at January 1, 2017, the
associated companies are still measured at the equity investment values applied in the consolidated financial
statements of Société Générale S.A., Paris.

Structured entities:

RED & BLACK
AUTO
GERMANY

RED & BLACK
AUTO
GERMANY

RED & BLACK
AUTO
GERMANY

(In euro thousands)

5 UG

6 UG

7 UG

Equity

(357)

(760)

(16)

281,392

681,587

991,768

542

(1,547)

(23)

Total assets
Profit/loss at 12/31/2020

NOTE 3 – ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND MEASUREMENT
METHODS
The separate financial statements of the subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements were
prepared in accordance with the group wide accounting and measurement principles based on IFRS, which are
described in the following.

TRANSACTIONS IN FOREIGN CURRENCIES
Items of the statement of financial position denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the company’s
functional currency at the reporting date. Currency translation differences are recognized in profit or loss.
Forward exchange transactions are measured at fair value on the basis of the current forward exchange rate for
the remaining term to maturity. Spot exchange positions are translated at the official spot exchange rates at the
reporting date. The resulting remeasurement differences are recognized in profit or loss.
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Monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate in effect on the reporting
date. Non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are translated at
the exchange rates in effect on the date of fair value measurement. Non-monetary items measured at cost are
translated at the exchange rate in effect on the date of initial recognition.
In the case of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss, gains or losses from
currency translation are recognized as part of fair value in period profit or loss under “Net gains or losses from
financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss.”

CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
Upon initial recognition, financial instruments are classified to one of three categories in the consolidated
statement of financial position (at amortized cost, at fair value through profit or loss, or at fair value through
other comprehensive income), which determines the accounting method in each case. The classification
depends on the characteristics of the contractual cash flows and the business model applied by the entity to
manage the financial assets in each case.

The accounting principles for the classification of financial assets require an analysis of the contractual cash
flows generated by each financial instrument and the business model applied by the entity to manage the
financial assets.
Analysis of the characteristics of contractual cash flows
The goal of analyzing the characteristics of contractual cash flows is to limit the option of measuring financial
assets in accordance with the effective interest method to instruments that have similar characteristics as a
19

“basic lending arrangement.” Other financial instruments that exhibit different characteristics are fundamentally
measured at fair value through profit or loss, regardless of the business model applied by the entity to manage
these financial instruments.
Contractual cash flows that represent solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) are consistent with a
basic lending arrangement.
Under a basic lending arrangement, interest is paid as compensation for the time value of money and credit
risk. Interest can also include compensation for liquidity risks and administrative costs and a profit margin.
Negative interest is not a contradiction of this definition.
Financial assets that are not basic lending arrangements are measured at fair value through profit or loss,
regardless of the business model applied to manage these financial assets.
Derivatives that meet the conditions for a hedging instrument are presented in a separate line item of the
statement of financial position for recognition purposes (see Note 4.2).
The Group may irrevocably choose to classify and measure investments in equity instruments that are not held
for trading purposes at fair value through other comprehensive income. In subsequent periods, the gains or
losses recognized in other comprehensive income are not reclassified to profit or loss (only dividends on these
investments are recognized as income).
Disbursed security deposits, trade receivables and receivables under operating leases are presented in the line
item of Other assets (see Note 4.3).
Analysis of the business model
The business model shows how financial assets are managed to generate cash flows and income.
The Group employs different business models for its different business segments. The business model is
assessed by determining how groups of financial assets are collectively managed to achieve a certain business
objective. For this reason, the assessment is not performed at the level of the individual instrument, but at the
portfolio level. The following relevant indications among others are considered for this purpose:
•

How the results of the portfolio are evaluated and reported to the Group management;

•

How the risks associated with the financial assets held within the scope of the business model are
managed;

•

How the company’s management is compensated;

•

Already realized or expected sales of assets (extent, frequency, purpose).

Three different business models can be applied to determine the classification and measurement of financial
assets:
•

A business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows (“collection” business model);

•

A business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows and sell financial assets
(“collection and sale” business model);
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•

A separate business model for other financial assets, particularly for financial assets held for trading,
under which contractual cash flows are only collected occasionally.

Fair value option
Financial assets that are not SPPI (solely payments of principal and interest) and are not held for trading
purposes may be measured at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition if that would eliminate or
significantly reduce recognition inconsistencies in the accounting treatment of certain financial assets and
liabilities (accounting mismatch).

CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities are classified to one of the two following categories:
•

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss: These are financial liabilities that are
held for trading purposes. As a general rule, they comprise derivative financial liabilities that do not
meet the conditions for hedging instruments and non-derivative financial liabilities which the Group
measures at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition by exercising the fair value option;

•

Other financial liabilities: These are other non-derivative financial liabilities and are measured at
amortized cost.

Derivative financial assets and liabilities that meet the conditions of a hedging instrument are presented in a
separate line item of the statement of financial position (see Note 4.2).
Disbursed security deposits and trade payables are presented in the line item of Other liabilities (see Note 4.3).

RECLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
A reclassification of financial assets is only required in the unusual case when the Group changes the business
model for managing these assets.

FAIR VALUE
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. If no observable prices for identical assets or
liabilities are available, the fair value of financial instruments is determined by application of another
measurement technique under which the use of the determining, observable input factors is kept at the highest
level possible, based on the assumptions that market participants would apply for pricing the asset or liability.
The measurement methods employed by the Group for determining the fair value of financial instruments are
described in Note 4.3.
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INITIAL RECOGNITION
Financial assets are recognized in the statement of financial position as follows:
•

At the settlement/delivery date for securities;

•

At the trade date for derivatives;

•

At the disbursement date for loans.

In the case of instruments measured at fair value, changes in fair value that arise between the trade date and
the settlement/delivery date are recognized either in profit or loss or in other comprehensive income, depending
on the accounting classification of each financial asset. The trade date is the date when the contractual
obligation becomes binding and irrevocable for the Group.
Upon initial recognition, financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value, including transaction costs
that are directly allocable to the purchase or issuance. Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or
loss represent an exception to this rule; in this case, the transaction costs are recognized directly in profit or
loss.
If the initial fair value was determined on the basis of observable market data, the difference between the fair
value and the transaction price, i.e. the sales margin, is recognized directly in profit or loss. If the measurement
data are not observable or if the measurement models are not recognized by the market, the sales margin is
generally recognized as an accrual in the income statement. In the case of many instruments, this margin is
recognized at the maturity date or, in the case of an early sale, at the sale date, due to their complexity. After
measurement data become observable, all components of the sales margin that have not yet been recognized
are recognized in the income statement at that date.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
The Group derecognizes financial assets (or similar assets) in full or in part when the contractual rights to
receive the cash flows of such assets expire or when the Group transfers the contractual right to receive the
cash flows and substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets.
Financial assets are also derecognized when the Group still has the contractual right to receive the cash flows,
but is contractually obligated to pass on these cash flows to another party (“pass-through agreement”) and has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.
If the Group has transferred the cash flows from a financial asset, but has neither transferred nor retained the
risks and rewards of ownership and has relinquished effective control of such a financial asset, the asset is
derecognized and if necessary, the Group recognizes a separate asset or liability to account for all rights and
obligations arising from the transfer of the asset. If the Group retains control of the asset, it is still recognized in
the statement of financial position as long as the Group has a continuing involvement in the asset.
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When a financial asset is derecognized in full, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and the
payment received is recognized in the income statement at the time of sale. If necessary, this amount is
adjusted for unrealized gains or losses recognized directly in equity in the past, and for assets or liabilities
arising from the servicing right. Prepayment fees charged to borrowers after the early repayment of loans are
recognized in the line item of Interest and similar income of the income statement on the basis of date of early
repayment.
The Group derecognizes a financial liability in full or in part when it is extinguished, i.e. when the obligations
specified in the contract are either discharged or cancelled or when they expire.
A financial liability may also be derecognized when there has been a substantial modification of the contractual
terms or when there has been an exchange with the lender in connection with an instrument whose contractual
terms have been substantially modified.

ANALYSIS OF THE CONTRACTUAL CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCIAL ASSETS
The Group has established appropriate procedures to determine whether financial assets pass the SPPI test
upon initial recognition (credit allocation, purchase of securities, etc.).
All contractual terms must be analyzed, particularly those terms that influence the timing or amount of the
contractual cash flows. A contractual term that allows the borrower or the lender to repay the debt instrument
ahead of maturity or return it to the issuer ahead of maturity is consistent with cash flows that represent SPPI.
However, this only applies when the amount of the early repayment is equal to the outstanding principal plus
accrued, but not paid contractual interest (possibly plus an appropriate compensation payment). Such a
compensation payment can be either positive or negative, which is certainly compatible with SPPI cash flows.
The compensation payment upon early repayment is particularly seen as appropriate when
•

The amount is calculated as a percentage of the still outstanding principal amount and is capped by
statutory regulations (in France, for example, the compensation payment for the early repayment of
mortgage loans by individuals is legally limited to an amount equal to the interest for six months or 3%
of the outstanding principal), or is limited by competition conditions in the market;

•

The amount equals the difference between the contractual interest which would have been collected up
to the maturity of the loan and the interest that would have been received by reinvesting the early
repaid amount at an interest rate that is identical to the corresponding benchmark interest rate.

Some loans can be repaid ahead of maturity at their current fair value, others at the fair value of the costs
required to cancel a related hedging swap. Such early repayments can be classified as SPPI if they take the
effects of changes in the corresponding benchmark interest rate into account.
Basic financial assets (SPPI) are debt instruments that essentially include the following:
•

Fixed-interest loans,
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•

Variable-interest loans, possibly with upper and lower limits,

•

Fixed-interest or variable-interest debt instruments (government bonds or corporate bonds, other
issuable debt instruments),

•

Securities purchased with repurchase agreements (reverse repo transactions),

•

Disbursed security deposits,

•

Trade receivables.

Contractual terms that include a possible risk or that result in volatility of the contractual cash flows that are not
related to the basic loan agreement (e.g. fluctuations of stock prices or stock indices or changes in the
borrowing of debt capital) may not be regarded as SPPI unless their effect on the contract cash flow is only
minimal.
“Non-basic financial assets” (non-SPPI) mainly include the following:
•

Derivative financial instruments,

•

Stocks and other equity instruments held by the entity,

•

Equity instruments issued by investment funds,

•

Financial debt instruments that can be converted into or exchanged for a certain number of equity
shares (convertible bonds, equity-linked securities, etc.).

If the time value component of the interest rate can be adjusted in accordance with the contractual term of the
instrument, it may be necessary under certain circumstances to compare the contractual cash flow with the
cash flow that would result from a benchmark instrument. This is the case when, for example, an interest rate is
regularly reset, but the time value of this reset does not match the term of the interest rate (e.g. monthly reset of
an interest rate with a term of one year), or when an interest rate is regularly adjusted to match an average of
short-term and long-term interest rates.
If the difference between non-discounted contractual cash flows and non-discounted benchmark cash flows is
significant or could be significant, the instrument is not to be classified as “basic.”
Depending on the contractual terms, the comparison with the benchmark cash flow can be performed by means
of a qualitative assessment; in other cases, however, a quantitative test is necessary. The difference between
the contractual cash flows and the benchmark cash flows must be considered in every reporting period and in
total, over the life of the instrument. In performing the benchmark test, the Group also considers factors that
could influence future non-discounted contractual cash flows: Applying the yield curve at the initial
measurement date is not sufficient. In addition, the Group checks whether the curve could shift during the term
of the instrument on the basis of possible scenarios.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGES
Derivatives are financial instruments if they meet the following criteria:
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Their value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, foreign exchange rate, share
price, price index, commodity price, credit rating, etc.;



They require little or no investment;



They are settled at future date.

Derivative financial instruments are sub-divided into two categories:



Held-for-trading financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are generally regarded as held-for-trading derivative instruments unless
they can be classified as hedging instruments from an accounting standpoint. They are recognized in
the statement of financial position within the item of “Financial assets measured at fair value through
profit or loss.” Changes in fair value are recognized in profit or loss.
Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments with counterparties that default at a later
time are recognized in “Net gains or losses from financial instruments measured at fair value through
profit or loss” until the date when they are annulled. At this date, receivables from or liabilities to the
corresponding counterparties are recognized at their fair value. Any subsequent impairments of these
receivables are recognized in “Risk expenses” in the income statement.



Derivatives designated as hedging instruments
In order to classify a financial instrument as a derivative hedging instrument, the Group documents this
hedging relationship already upon inception. This documentation covers the underlying transaction and
the hedging transaction, the nature of hedged risk, the type of derivative financing instruments used,
and the measurement method to be applied to assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship.
The derivative financial instrument designed as a hedging instrument must be highly effective in order
to offset the changes in fair value or cash flows resulting from the hedged risk. This effectiveness is
continually assessed over the life of a hedge from the date of inception. If derivative financial
instruments are used for hedging purposes, they are presented in the statement of financial position
within the Item of “Hedging derivatives.” Depending on the nature of the hedged risk, the Group
designates the derivative financial instrument as a fair value hedge or a cash flow hedge.

Embedded derivatives
An embedded derivative is part of a hybrid instrument. If it is not measured at fair value through profit or loss,
the Group accounts for the embedded derivative separately from the host contract. The prerequisite for this
treatment is that the economic characteristics and risk of the derivative are different from those of the host
contract at the time of entering into the transaction, and the derivative meets the definition of a derivative. If the
derivative is accounted for separately from the host contract, it is presented at fair value in the statement of
financial position as a “Financial asset or financial liability measured at fair value through profit or loss.”.
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LEASES
Accounting for leases by lessors
Upon initial recognition of a lease relationship, the party to which economic ownership is attributable must be
determined. A lease is classified as an operating lease when substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of the leased object remain with the lessor. If this is not the case, the lease is classified as a finance
lease.
Leased objects held under operating leases are presented in the statement of financial position as operational
plant and equipment in the item of “Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.” Regardless of the
residual value, they are depreciated down to the agreed or calculated residual value over the term of the lease.
Lease revenues are recognized in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
In addition, the income billed and recognized for maintenance work in connection with operating leases is
presented proportionally to the expenses incurred over the term of the lease.
If the lease is classified as a finance lease, the lessor recognizes a receivable in the amount of its net
investment in the lease. This net investment is the discounted amount of the gross investment, which is defined
as the sum of minimum lease payments plus any unguaranteed residual value. The gross investment is
discounted to present value at the interest rate implicit in the lease. The receivable is recognized within the
statement of financial position item of “Receivables under leases.”
The interest included in the lease payments is presented in the income statement under “Interest and similar
income” so that the lease relationship generates a constant periodic rate of return on the net investment. If the
unguaranteed residual values applied for the purpose of calculating the lessor’s net investment in the finance
lease decrease, the discounted present value of this decrease is recognized in the income statement as an
impairment of the finance lease receivable. The individual or collective impairments recognized in receivables
under finance leases are subject to the same rules as those described for financial assets measured at
amortized cost.
Accounting for leases by the lessee
Due to the first-time application of IFRS 16 Leases at January 1, 2019, the Group recognizes right-of-use
assets representing the right to use the underlying assets and presents them under Property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets.
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ACCOUNTING GUIDELINES
RIGHTS TO USE THE ASSETS LEASED BY THE COMPANY
Leases
Definition of a lease
A contract is or contains a lease if it conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset to the lessee for a
period of time in exchange for consideration:
• Control is conveyed where the lessee has both the right to direct the identified asset’s use and to obtain
substantially all the economic benefits from that use during the entire lease period.
• The precondition for the existence of an identified asset is that the lessor does not have a substantive right of
substitution of the leased asset; this is determined on the basis of the facts and circumstances at the time of
commencement of the lease. If the lessor has the option of substituting the leased object with alternative
assets at its discretion, the contract is not considered to be a lease because the purpose of such a contract is
to provide a capacity, not an asset.
• A capacity portion of an asset is still an identified asset if it is physically distinct (e.g. a floor of a building).
Conversely, a capacity portion or other part of an asset that is not physically distinct (e.g. in the case of
leased cooperating areas within a building unit without a predefined location within this unit) is not an
identified asset.
Separation of lease components from non-lease components
A contract may contain both a lease component and the provision of additional services by the lessor. In this
case, the lessee can separate the lease components from the non-lease components and treat them
separately. The contractually specified consideration for lease components and non-lease components should
be handled separately on the basis of relative stand-alone prices (as indicated in the contract or on the basis of
observable information). If the lessee is not able to separate lease components from non-lease components (or
services), the entire contract should be treated as a lease.
Lease term
Definition of lease term
The lease term applied for the calculation of discounted lease payments is the uncancellable term with due
regard to:
• Lease extension options if the exercise of such options by the lessee is reasonably certain, and
• Early termination options if the lessee is reasonably certain not to exercise such options.
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Lease term

=

Uncancellabl
e basic lease
term

Periods
covered by
lease
extension
option*

+

+

Periods
subject to an
early
termination
option**

* Which the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise.
**Which the lessee is reasonably certain not to exercise.

In assessing the reasonable certainty that extension or early termination options will be exercised, all facts and
circumstances that could represent economic incentives to exercise or not exercise these options must be
taken into consideration:
• The conditions for exercising these options (including the calculation of lease payments in the event of
extension or penalties in the event of early termination);
• Significant changes in the leased areas (certain floor plans, e.g. of a bank vault);
• The costs entailed by a termination of the lease relationship (including negotiation costs, moving costs,
costs for looking for a new property that meets the needs of the lessee);
• The importance of the leased assets for the lessee due to special characteristics, location or availability of
similar assets (especially in the case of properties at locations of strategic importance for the business due
to transportation links, expected capacity utilization or the attractiveness of the location);
• Earlier extensions of similar contracts and the future use strategy for the assets (e.g. expected
restructuring of a branch network).
If both the lessee and the lessor have the right to terminate the lease without the consent of the other party and
without a substantial contractual penalty, the lease is no longer binding and therefore no longer represents a
lease liability.
Changes of the lease term
If the circumstances that influence the exercise of lease options by the lessee or the conditions of the lease
change or when events occur that legally obligate the lessee to exercise (or not exercise) an option that had not
been or had earlier been included in the lease, the lease term must be adjusted.
After a change of the lease term, the lease liability must be recalculated on the basis of these changes and an
adjusted discount rate for the estimated remaining lease term.
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Accounting treatment of leases by the Group
At the time of commencement of the lease (the date when the right to use the leased asset is transferred), the
lessee must recognize a lease liability and a right-of-use asset in the statement of financial position.
The lessee must recognize interest expenses on the basis of the lease liability as net banking income and the
depreciation of the capitalized right-of-use asset in the income statement item of Depreciation, amortization and
impairments of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.
Lease payments must be apportioned between a reduction of the lease liability and an offset of the liability in
the form of interest expenses.
Exceptions and exclusions
The Group does not apply the new lease accounting rules to leases with a term of one year or less (including
extension options) or to leases for low-value assets below the threshold value of EUR 5,000 in accordance with
the “Basis for conclusions” section of the Standard (the threshold value should be measured on the basis of the
replacement costs for each unit of the leased asset).
Amount of lease payments
The payments serving as the basis for calculating the lease liability are composed of fixed and variable lease
payments on the basis of an index (e.g. consumer price index or construction cost index), plus any amounts
that the lessee would be expected to pay to the lessor for residual value guarantees, purchase options or
penalties for early termination.
Variable lease payments tied to the use of the leased asset (e.g. sales or kilometers) are not included in the
calculation of the lease liability. Over the long term, the variable portion of lease payments is recognized in the
income statement on the basis of the fluctuations of the contractual index.
Lease payments are recognized after deduction of sales tax. In addition, construction leases are transferred to
the lessor. Hotel and property taxes are not recognized as lease liabilities because these are variable amounts
established by the competent authorities.
Recognition of lease liabilities
The original amount of the liability is the present value of the lease payments owed over the term of the lease.
The lease liability is measured at amortized cost according to the effective interest method: The lease payments
are apportioned between interest expenses and successive reductions of the lease liability presented in the
income statement.
After the date of commencement, the amount of the lease liability can be adjusted to reflect lease adjustments,
new estimates of the lease term, or contractual changes that affect the indices or interest rates on which the
lease payments are based.
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The lessee may be required to recognize a provision for the costs of restoring the original condition of the
leased asset that are expected to be incurred after the end of the lease relationship.
Accounting for the right-of-use asset
On the date when the leased asset is made available, the lessee must recognize a right-of-use asset in the
amount of the initial value of the lease liability, plus all directly incurred costs (e.g. issuance of a notarized lease
agreement, registration fees, transfer expenses, commitment fees, lease right, lease bonus), advance
payments and restoration expenses in the statement of financial position.
This asset is then depreciated on a straight-line over the lease term on which the calculation of the lease liability
is based.
After the date of effect, the value of the asset can be changed if the lease is adjusted. This also applies for the
lease liability.
The right-of-use asset is presented in the statement of financial position of the lessee under Property, plant and
equipment in the same sub-item where similar, legally owned property is presented. If the lease provides for the
initial payment of a lease right to the earlier lessee of the leased space, the amount of this right is presented in
the same sub-item as a separate component of the right-of-use asset.
Discount rates for leases
Lease payments and lease liabilities are discounted by application of the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate.
For companies that are able to raise funding directly in their local markets, the incremental borrowing rate is
determined at the company level of the lessee and not at the Group level, based on the credit conditions and
credit risk of this company. For companies that receive funding from the Group, the incremental borrowing rate
for loans extended by the Group is applied.
The discount rates are determined on the basis of the currency, the domicile of the leasing companies and the
estimated lease term.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets comprise operational assets. Assets held under operating
leases are presented within operational plant and equipment, whereas buildings held under leases are
presented as investment property.
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation,
amortization and impairments. Assets are depreciated by application of the component approach from the time
when they are available for use. The individual components are depreciated individually over their economic
useful lives. A depreciation period of 10 to 50 years is applied for the individual components of the real estate
used in the Group’s operations. Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their economic useful lives,
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which are estimated at between 3 and 20 years. Intangible assets such as custom and industry software are
amortized over useful lives of 3 to 5 years.
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are subjected to impairment tests as soon as indications of
an impairment arise. The impairment test is usually conducted on the basis of the cash-generating unit to which
the item of plant or equipment or the intangible asset is assigned. A cash-generating unit is the smallest
identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from
other assets or group of assets.
Gains or losses on the sale of operationally used property, plant and equipment or intangible assets are
presented under “Net gains or losses on other assets.”

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL
The Group utilizes the acquisition method according to IFRS 3 in accounting for acquisitions of companies. If
the consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is higher than the fair value of the net assets
acquired at the acquisition date, goodwill arises and must be recognized in the company’s statement of financial
position. If the transferred consideration is less than the value of the net assets acquired, negative goodwill
(badwill) arises and must be recognized in profit or loss. The transactions to transfer Société Générale
Securities Services GmbH and ALD Lease Finanz GmbH to Société Générale Effekten GmbH at January 1,
2017 were not business combinations according to IFRS 3, but intragroup restructurings through transactions
under joint control. Any difference between the purchase price and carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities
received was presented in equity.
For purposes of calculating goodwill, the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired company that
are identified in accordance with IFRS 3 are generally measured at fair value at the acquisition date. In addition,
non-controlling interests are measured at their proportion of the fair value of identified assets and liabilities of
the acquired company. The difference between the net assets measured at fair value and the value of the
transferred consideration is capitalized as goodwill. For the purpose of conducting regular impairment tests, the
calculated goodwill is allocated to a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units that are expected
to benefit from the business combination. Costs that can be directly attributed to the business combination are
recognized in the income statement, with the exception of costs related to the issuance of equity instruments.
The Group periodically reviews goodwill and subjects it to an annual impairment test. When indications of an
impairment arise, an impairment test may also be necessary during the year. A determination of whether there
are indications of an impairment is made before every end-of-year reporting date and interim reporting date.
The Company calculates the amount of an impairment of goodwill by comparing the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units with its carrying amount. If the recoverable amount is
less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss.
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PROVISIONS
Provisions mainly consist of provisions for employee benefits and provisions for risks.
A provision must be recognized when:



An obligation to a third party is expected to result in an outflow of resources without equivalent
consideration in exchange,



The amount of the liability can be estimated reliably.

To calculate the amount of the provision, the expected outflow of resources is discounted to present value if the
effect of discounting is material. Additions to and reversals of provisions are recognized in profit or loss.
If it is virtually certain that the company will receive a reimbursement upon the settlement of a liability for which
a provision was recognized, the reimbursement claim is treated as an Other asset. The amount recognized for
the reimbursement is limited to the amount of the provision.

LOAN COMMITMENTS
If loan commitments are not treated as derivative financial instruments, the Group measures them at fair value
upon initial recognition. In subsequent periods, any required provisions for these commitments are recognized
in accordance with the financial reporting principles applicable to provisions.

DISTINCTION BETWEEN INSTRUMENTS AND EQUITY INSTRUMENTS
In accordance with IAS 32, the financial instruments issued by the Group are classified as debt instruments or
equity instruments in full or in part, depending on whether the issuer is contractually obligated to distribute cash
to the holders of the securities.
If they meet the criteria for debt instruments, the issued securities are classified as “Securitized liabilities” by
reason of their characteristics.
If they meet the criteria for equity instruments, the securities issued by Société Générale are presented under
“Equity instruments and related reserves.” If the equity instruments of subsidiaries are issued to third parties,
these instruments are presented under “Non-controlling interests” and the dividends distributed to the holders of
these instruments are presented in the income statement under “Non-controlling interests.”
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NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
“Non-controlling interests” represent the investments in fully consolidated subsidiaries that cannot be attributed
to the Group directly or indirectly. They include the equity instruments issued by these subsidiaries and not held
by the Group.

INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSES
Interest income and expenses are recognized in the income statement for all financial instruments measured at
amortized cost under “Interest and similar income/expenses” utilizing the effective interest rate method.
The effective interest rate is the interest rate that exactly discounts future cash receipts and payments through
the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. To
calculate the effective interest rate, the cash flows estimated on the basis of the contractual terms of the
financial instrument are considered, without regard to any future loan losses. The calculation also includes
commissions paid or received between the parties if they are comparable to interest, directly attributable
transaction fees, premiums or discounts.
If the value of financial asset or group of similar financial assets has been reduced by reason of an impairment
loss in Level 3 of the expected credit loss model, the subsequently accrued interest income is recognized on the
basis of the effective interest rate with due regard to the impaired net carrying amount.
Interest accrued from the compounding of receivables under finance leases is recognized as Interest income.
In addition, all provisions recognized on the equity and liabilities side of the statement of financial position —
with the exception of provisions for employee benefits — lead to interest expenses from an accounting
standpoint, which are calculated using the same interest rate applied to discount expected outflows of
resources to present value.

NET INCOME/EXPENSES FROM COMMISSIONS FOR SERVICES
The Group recognizes income from fees and commissions for services rendered and expenses for services
received in profit or loss, depending on the type of services in question.
The fees and commissions earned as compensation for ongoing services, such as certain fees and
commissions for cash, for the safe custody of securities in custody accounts, or for purchases of
telecommunications services are recognized as income in the income statement over the duration of the
services in question. The fees and commissions earned as compensation for one-time services such as money
transfer fees, brokerage fees, arbitrage fees and penalty interest related to payment events are completely
recognized in profit or loss when the services are provided.
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NET INCOME FROM FINANCIAL TRANSACTIONS (THEREOF NET GAINS OR LOSSES FROM FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS)
The Net gains or losses from financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss include the
unrealized result of fair value measurement, the realized result on disposal of the financial instrument, and
current income from financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss.
In measuring the unrealized result of fair value measurement, all changes in fair value are considered so that
changes in interest rates, creditworthiness, exchange rate and other rates and prices have an effect on the Net
gains or losses from financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss.
Interest income and expenses and dividend income and expenses related to financial instruments measured at
fair value through profit or loss are elements of current income recognized under Net gains or losses from
financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss.

PERSONNEL EXPENSES
The item of “Personnel expenses” comprises all expenditures related to personnel. In particular, it includes
expenses for wages and salaries and expenditures for the Group’s various pension plans.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
The Group’s company may grant the following benefits to their employees:



Post-employment benefits such as pension plans or termination benefits for early retirement;



Long-term benefits such as variable compensation, bonuses for many years of service with the
company, and work time accounts;



Termination benefits.

Post-employment benefits
The pension plans set up for employees may be either defined contribution plans or defined benefit plans.
Under the defined contribution plans, the Group’s obligation is limited to the payment of a contribution, but does
not include any obligation of the Group relative to the amount of benefits to be paid to employees. The paid
contributions are recognized as expenses in the corresponding financial year.
Defined benefit plans are plans under which the Group is formally or tacitly obligated to pay a certain amount or
level of benefits and therefore assumes a medium-term or long-term risk.
A provision is recognized on the equity and liabilities side of the statement of financial position to cover the
entirety of these pension liabilities. It is regularly measured by independent actuaries on the basis of the
projected unit credit method. This measurement method relies on assumptions concerning demographics, early
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departures from the company, wage and salary increases, the discount factor and the rate of inflation. When
these plans are financed with borrowed funds that meet the definition of plan assets, the provision recognized to
cover the corresponding liabilities is reduced by the fair value of these borrowed funds.
Differences arising from changes in calculation assumptions (early retirement, discount factor, etc.) or
differences between the actuarial assumptions and actual developments are referred to as actuarial differences
(gains or losses). These actuarial gains and losses, as well as income from plan assets from which the amount
of net interest on net liabilities (or assets) already recognized as expenses is deducted, and the change in the
effect of the limit on plan assets are the factors considered in making a renewed estimate (or measurement) of
net liabilities (or net assets). These factors are recognized immediately and completely in equity and may not be
reclassified to profit or loss at a later time.
The items of the statement of financial position that may not be reclassified to profit or loss at a later time are
presented in a separate line item of the statement of comprehensive income. However, they are reclassified to
reserves in the statement of changes in equity so that they are presented directly in the item of “Group
reserves” on the equity and liabilities side of the statement of financial position.
The expenses for defined benefit plans recognized in “Personnel expenses” comprise:



The additional claims earned by every employee (current service cost);



The change in the liability resulting from a change or curtailment of a plan (past service cost);



Financial costs resulting from the effect of compounding the liability and the interest income on plan
assets (net interest on net liabilities or net assets);



The effect of plan settlements.

Long-term benefits
These are benefits paid to employees more than 12 months after the close of the financial year in which the
corresponding service was provided. The same measurement method as that applied to post-employment
benefits is applied for this purpose, with the exception of actuarial gains or losses, which are recognized
immediately in profit or loss.
RISK EXPENSES
The item of “Risk expenses” comprises the net amounts of impairment losses for identified risks, losses on nonperforming loans, and the recovery of amortizing loans.
INCOME TAXES
Current taxes
Current tax expenses are calculated on the basis of the taxable profits of each consolidated taxpaying entity.
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Tax credits on income from receivables and securities portfolios are recognized in the same line item as the
income to which they relate if they are actually used to settle corporate income taxes payable for the financial
year. The corresponding tax expenses are left in the “Income taxes” item of the income statement.
Deferred taxes
Deferred taxes are recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the statement of financial position and the corresponding tax bases, provided that these differences
will have an effect on future tax payments.
Deferred taxes are calculated for each taxpaying entity according to the relevant tax regulations in every case.
The tax rate in effect or announced to be in effect at the time of reversal of the temporary difference is applied
for this purpose. If the tax rate changes, these deferred taxes are adjusted. They are calculated without any
discounting to present value. Deferred tax assets may arise from deductible temporary differences or tax loss
carry-forwards.
Deferred tax assets are only recognized when it is probable that the taxpaying entity in question will recover
them within a certain time frame, particularly by offsetting such differences and loss carry-forwards against
taxable future profits. Tax loss carry-forwards are reviewed annually on the basis of the tax laws applicable to
each entity and a realistic forecast of the entity’s tax result, based on the development prospects of their
activities. On the other hand, the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets already recognized in the statement of
financial position are reduced as soon as the risk arises that they cannot be recovered in part or in full. Deferred
tax assets not yet recognized are recognized in the statement of financial position when it is probable that a
future taxable profit will make it possible to recover them.
Current and deferred taxes are presented as tax expenses or tax income in the “Income taxes” line item of the
consolidated income statement. Deferred taxes related to items recognized in “Gains or losses recognized
directly in equity” are recognized in the same line item of equity.
The profit transfer agreement of September 7, 2016 between Société Générale Effekten GmbH (subsidiary
company) and Société Générale S.A. Frankfurt Branch (parent company), established a consolidated tax group
for income tax purposes with Société Générale S.A. Frankfurt Branch, with retroactive effect to January 1, 2016.
In addition, ALD Lease Finanz GmbH (subsidiary company) has been included in the consolidated tax group for
income tax purposes since January 1, 2017 by virtue of the profit transfer agreement concluded with Société
Générale Effekten GmbH (parent company) on September 26, 2017 and Société Générale Securities Services
GmbH (subsidiary company) has been included in the consolidated tax group for income tax purposes since
January 1, 2017 by virtue of the profit transfer agreement concluded with Société Générale Effekten GmbH
(parent company) on December 1, 2017. As a result of the formation of the consolidated tax group for income
tax purposes, Société Générale Effekten GmbH does not recognize any deferred taxes in its financial
statements except for gains and losses arising from the remeasurement of defined benefit plans that are
recognized directly in equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION AND THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME
STATEMENT
NOTE 4 – FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
NOTE 4.1 – FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

12/31/2020
(In euro thousands)
Held for trading
Financial instruments that
must be measured at fair
value through profit or loss
Financial instruments
measured at fair value
through profit or loss by
exercise of the fair value
option
Total

12/31/2019

Assets
803,471

Liabilities
802,346

Assets
1,314,592

Liabilities
1,315,224

2,434,203

-

1,697,735

-

-

2,348,697

-

1,626,190

3,237,675

3,151,043

3,012,327

2,941,415

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS HELD FOR TRADING
FINANCIAL ASSETS
(In euro thousands)
Bonds and other debt instruments
Equities and other equity
instruments
Loans to customers and securities
purchased under a repurchase
agreement
Derivates
Other financial assets
Total

12/31/2020
177

12/31/2019
143

-

-

-

-

803,294
803,471

1,314,449
1,314,592
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FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
(In euro thousands)
Securitized liabilities
Liabilities from loaned securities
Bonds and other short-sale debt
instruments
Equities and other short-sale equity
instruments
Loans and securities sold under a
repurchase agreement
Derivates
Other financial liabilities
Total

12/31/2020
91
-

12/31/2019
91
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

802,255
802,346

1,315,134
1,315,225

The counterparty of the held derivates is the parent company of the Group, Société Générale S.A.,
Paris. The net position is applied by exercising the practical expedient of IFRS 13.48. The Company
has opted not to calculate the CVA and DVA because the net position of EUR 1.1 million is not
considered to be material from the standpoint of risk management.

FINANCIAL ASSETS THAT MUST BE MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(“NON-SPPI”)
12/31/2020

(In euro thousands)
Receivables from banks – measured at fair value
through profit or loss
Loans to customers – measured at fair value
through profit or loss
Securitized liabilities
Equities and other equity instruments
Securities/ equities held on a long-term basis
Total

12/31/2019

2,350,019

1,625,464

-

-

80,903
3,281
2,434,203

69,010
3,261
1,697,735

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS BY
EXERCISE OF THE FAIR VALUE OPTION

12/31/2020

(In euro thousands)
Interbank loans
Deposit guarantees received

-

-

-

2,348,697
2,348,697

1,626,190
1,626,190

Liabilities from loaned securities
Bonds and other short-sale debt instruments
Repo transactions – Banks
Total

NETTING OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
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12/31/2019
-

On December 18, 2019, Société Générale Effekten GmbH signed a netting agreement with Société
Générale S.A. Paris for the portfolio of certificates. Société Générale Effekten GmbH also signed a
netting agreement with Société Générale S.A. Paris for the portfolio of warrants on October 22 and 27,
2020.
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NETTING OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Certifi

(In euro thousands)

Derivative financial instruments
Total receivables
Derivative financial instruments
Total liabilities

(a)

(b)

Gross amounts
of recognized
financial assets/
liabilities

Gross amounts of
recognized financial
liabilities/ assets, netted in
the statement of financial
position

19,660,596
19,660,596
19,664,049
19,664,049

(a)

(In euro thousands)

Derivative financial instruments
Total receivables
Derivative financial instruments
Total liabilities

(c) = (a) - (b)

(d)

(e) = (c) - (d)

Corresponding amounts not netted in
the statement of financial position
Net amounts of financial
assets/ liabilities
presented in the
Collateral
Financial
received/
statement of financial
instruments
furnished
position

12,193,336
12,193,336
12,193,336
12,193,336

Gross amounts of
recognized
financial assets/
liabilities

(b)
Gross amounts of
recognized financial
liabilities/ assets, netted in
the statement of financial
position

37,349,330
37,349,330
37,349,793
37,349,793

36,545,176
36,545,176
36,545,176
36,545,176

7,467,260
7,467,260
7,470,713
7,470,713

(c) = (a) - (b)
Net amounts of financial
assets/ liabilities
presented in the
statement of financial
position

804,153
804,153
804,617
804,617

Warrants
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5,117,241
5,117,241
5,122,015
5,122,015

Net amount

0
0
0
0

2,350,019
2,350,019
2,348,697
2,348,697

(d)
Corresponding amounts not netted in
the statement of financial position
Collateral
Financial
received/
instruments
furnished

859
859
2,362
2,362

cates

0
0
0
0

(e) = (c) - (d)

Net amount

803,294
803,294
802,255
802,255

NET GAIN OR LOSS FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS
(In euro thousands)
Net gain or loss from trading portfolio
Net gain or loss from financial instruments measured
at fair value through profit or loss
Net gain or loss from financial instruments for which
the fair value option is exercised
Net gain or loss from derivative financial instruments
and hedging instruments, thereof:
Net gain or loss from derivative financial instruments
Net gain or loss from hedging instruments
Net gain or loss from fair value hedging instruments
Remeasurement of underlying transactions in relation
to the hedged risk
Ineffective portion of cash flow hedge
Net gain or loss from foreign currency transactions
Total gains or loss from financial instruments
measured at fair value through profit or loss
Gains from financial instruments measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income

2020

2019
(62)

89

(10,733,097)

447,045

10,732,924

(450,489)

(2,091)

275

(1,659)
(432)
-

275
-

-

-

(432)
(1,273)

(47)

(2,325)

(3,079)

-

-

NOTE 4.2 - DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Derivative financial instruments are divided into the two categories of “held for trading” and “derivative
hedging instruments.”

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS HELD FOR TRADING

12/31/2020
(In euro thousands)
Interest rate instruments
Foreign currency
instruments
Equity and index
instruments
Commodity instruments
Credit derivatives
Other financial futures
instruments
Total

12/31/2019

Assets

Liabilities

Assets

Liabilities

859

2,988

56,101

53,533

194,625

195,893

83,059

82,714

564,510

562,940

887,681

791,184

43,300
-

40,433
-

287,608
-

387,703
-

-

-

-

-

803,294

802,255

1,314,449

1,315,134
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DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS HELD FOR HEDGING PURPOSES
12/31/2020
(In euro thousands)

Assets

Fair value hedges

-

Interest rate instruments

-

Foreign currency
instruments
Equity and index
instruments

12/31/2019
Liabilities

Cash flow hedges

-

Interest rate instruments
Foreign currency
instruments
Equity and index
instruments
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Commodity instruments

-

Other financial instruments

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,004

1,322

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,004

1,322

1,187

-

-

-

Total

-

-

-

Liabilities

-

-

Commodity instruments

Assets

-

62

1,187

MATURITIES OF CASH-FLOW-HEDGED FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(In euro thousands)
Floating cash flows
hedged

Up to 3
months

3 months
to 1 year

1 to 5
years

1,125

12/31/2020
1,125

Hedging derivatives are financial instruments that are employed for purposes of interest rate
management of the credit receivables securitized by ALD LF.

MATURITIES OF HEDGING DERIVATIVES (NOTIONAL VALUES)
(In euro thousands)
Interest rate swaps
(assets)
Interest rate swaps
(liabilities)

Up to 3
months

3 months to
1 year

1 to 5 years

-

-

-

-

146,096

411,376

1,071,984

1,629,456
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12/31/2020

MATURITIES OF HEDGED FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(In euro thousands)

Up to 3
months

3 months to
1 year

1 to 5 years

Securities of the interbank
market and tradable
debentures

194,426

530,273

1,117,208

12/31/2020
1,841,907

HEDGING OF CASH FLOWS
The goal of hedging interest payments is to provide protection against changes in the future cash
flows associated with financial instruments recognized in the statement of financial position (loans,
securities or variable-interest debt instruments) or with a highly probable future transaction (future
fixed interest rates, future prices, etc.). The purpose of the hedge is to protect the Group against
disadvantageous fluctuations in the future cash flows of a financial instrument or transaction that could
have an impact on profit or loss.
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of hedging derivatives is presented in the line item of
Unrealized or deferred gains and losses. The ineffective portion is presented in the income statement
line item of Net gains and losses from financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or
loss. Accrued interest income and expenses from interest rate derivatives are presented in the income
statement line item of Interest and similar income / expenses at the same time as the accrued interest
income and expenses associated with the hedged item.
The effectiveness of the hedge is evaluated by means of the hypothetical derivative method. This
method involves the following steps:
i)

First, a hypothetical derivative with the exact same characteristics as the hedged
instrument is created (notional value, interest rate adjustment date, interest rates, etc.),
but which moves in the opposite direction, and the fair value of which at inception is zero.

ii)

In the next step, the expected changes in the fair value of the hypothetical derivative are
compared with those of the hedging instrument (sensitivity analysis) or a regression
analysis of the expected effectiveness of the hedging instrument is performed.

Amounts recognized directly in equity in connection with a remeasurement of hedging derivatives are
later reclassified to the income statement item of Interest and similar income / expenses at the time
when the cash flows are hedged.
If a hedging derivative no longer fulfills the effectiveness criteria for the use of hedge accounting or is
cancelled or sold, the hedges are no longer recognized in the future. Amounts that had previously
been recognized directly in equity are reclassified to the income statement item of Interest and similar
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income / expenses in the periods in which the cash flows from the hedged underlying take effect. If the
sale or redemption of the hedged underlying occurs at an earlier time than expected or if the hedged
forecast transaction is no longer highly probable, the unrealized gains or losses recognized in equity
are immediately reclassified to the income statement.
The Group is exposed to future changes in cash flows for short-term and medium-term financing
requirements (securitized liabilities) and establishes hedging relationships on the basis of interest rate
swaps that are recognized as cash flow hedges for accounting purposes. The highly probable interest
rate hedging requirement is determined by using models based on historical data.

NOTE 4.3 - FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR
VALUE
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
For information purposes, the fair value of financial instruments is presented in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements on the basis of a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of
the data used for measurement purposes. This fair value hierarchy consists of the following levels:

Level 1 (L1): Instruments measured on the basis of (non-adjusted) quoted prices in active
markets for comparable assets or liabilities
The financial instruments included in this category and recognized in the statement of financial
position particularly include equities and government or corporate bonds quoted in an active market,
which benefit from direct external quotations (quotations by brokers/traders), derivative financial
instruments (futures, options) traded in regulated markets, and fund units (including UCITs –
Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities), for which the liquidation value at
the reporting date is available.
A financial instrument is deemed to be quoted in an active market when price quotations can be easily
and regularly obtained from a stock exchange, broker, intermediary, industry association, pricing
agency or regulatory authority, and are based on actual transactions that take place regularly under
normal competition conditions in the market.
The classification of a market as inactive is based on indicators such as a substantial decline of the
trading volume and level of activity in the market, the wide temporal distribution and dispersal of
available prices to the aforementioned different market participants, or the fact that the last transaction
effected under normal competition conditions did not occur recently.
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If a financial instrument is traded in different markets and if the Group has direct access to these
markets, the price in the market in which the volume and level of activity is highest is applied for the
fair value of the financial instrument.
Transactions that are the result of compulsory sale situations are generally not considered for the
purpose of determining the market price.
Level 2 (L2): Instruments measured on the basis of other inputs besides the quoted prices
indicated for Level 1, which are observable for the asset or liability in question either directly
(i.e. in the form of prices) or indirectly (i.e. in the form of derived price information)
Financial instruments quoted in markets that are not deemed to be sufficiently active and those which
are traded in OTC markets are assigned to this level. Derived price information is deemed to be prices
derived from the measurement of similar instruments and published by an external source.
The L2 category particularly includes securities measured at fair value for which no direct quotations
are available (this can include corporate bonds, mortgage-backed securities or fund units) and
unconditional forward transactions and option contracts with derivatives on the OTC market: interest
rate swaps, caps, floors, swaptions, warrant rights to shares, indices, exchange rates, commodities,
credit derivatives. These instruments have maturities that correspond to maturities that are customarily
traded in the market. They may be simple or may also feature more complex income profiles (e.g.
barrier options, products with underlying multiples). In this case, however, the complexity remains
limited. The measurement benchmarks applied for this purpose correspond to the methods
customarily applied by the most important market actors.
This category also includes the fair value of loans and receivables at amortized cost that are granted
to counterparties whose credit risk is quoted in the form of credit default swaps (CDSs).
Level 3 (L3): Instruments for which the inputs applied for measurement purposes are not based
on observable data (non-observable data)
The financial instruments assigned to category L3 therefore include both derivatives with longer
maturities than customary in the markets and/or with income profiles that exhibit special features.
Liabilities measured at fair value are likewise assigned to the L3 category when the embedded
derivatives related to them are also measured on the basis of methods for which the input parameters
are not observable.
For purposes of the disclosures in the notes to the financial statements, a fair value analysis of assets
measured at cost must be performed; this is done by discounting future cash flows to present value by
application of a risk-appropriate interest rate. Due to this method of calculation, these instruments are
assigned to Level 3 in Note 11.
As for complex derivatives, the most important instruments assigned to the L3 category are the
following:
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Equity derivatives: These are option contracts with long maturities and/or tailored income
mechanisms. These instruments are dependent on market parameters (volatilities, dividend
ratios, correlations). Due to the lack of market depth and possibility of objectification by regular
quotations, they are measured on the basis of proprietary methods (e.g. extrapolation of
observable data, historical analysis). Hybrid equity products (i.e. equity products for which at
least one underlying asset is not an equity instrument) are likewise assigned to the L3
category due to the correlation between normally unobservable different underlying assets.



Interest rate derivatives: These are long-term and/or exotic options, i.e. products that are
dependent on correlations between different interest rates and exchange rates or between
interest rates and exchange rates, such as in the case of quanto products for which the
underlying assets are not denominated in the payment currency. They are assigned to the L3
category due to the non-observable measurement parameters in consideration of the liquidity
of the currency pairs and the residual maturity of the transactions; for example, the interest
rate-interest rate correlations of the USD/JPY pair are deemed to be non-observable.



Credit derivatives: In this case, the L3 category particularly includes financial instruments
aggregated in a basket with exposure to the default time correlation (products of the type “N to
default” under which the buyer of the protection is indemnified from the Nth default, with
exposure to the credit quality of the signatures that make up the basket and their correlation,
or the type “CDO Bespoke,” which are CDOs (Collateralized Debt Obligations) with tailored
tranches that are specifically created for a group of investors and structured according to their
needs), and products which are exposed to the volatility of credit spreads.



Commodity derivatives: They are assigned to this product category because they refer to nonobservable parameters in relation to volatility or correlation (e.g. option rights to commodity
swaps, financial assets measured at fair value).
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FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE
12/31/2020
Level 1
-

Level 2
177
177
-

Level 3
-

Total
177
177
-

Loans and securities purchased under repo transactions

-

-

-

-

Other financial assets

-

803,294
859
194,625
564,510
43,300
-

-

803,294
859
194,625
564,510
43,300
-

1,249

1,476,593

956,361

2,434,203

1,249

-

82,935

84,184

-

1,476,593

873,426

2,350,019

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Loans and securities purchased under repo transactions

-

-

-

-

Other financial assets
Special fund for employee benefits

-

62
62
-

-

62
62
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,249

2,280,126

956,361

3,237,736

(In euro thousands)
Held for trading
Bonds and other debt instruments
Equities and other equity instruments

Derivatives in the trading book
Interest rate instruments
Foreign currency instruments
Equity and index instruments
Commodity instruments
Credit derivatives
Other financial futures instruments
Financial assets that must be measured at fair value
through profit or loss
Bonds and other debt instruments
Equities and other equity instruments
Loans and securities purchased under repurchase
agreements
Financial assets for which the fair value option is
exercised
Bonds and other debt instruments

Hedging derivatives
Interest rate instruments
Foreign currency instruments
Equity and index instruments
Financial assets measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income
Bonds and other debt instruments
Equity instruments
Loans and receivables
Total financial assets at fair value
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FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

12/31/2020
Level
1
-

(In euro thousands)
Held for trading
Securitized liabilities
Liabilities from loaned securities
Bonds and other short-sale debt instruments

Level 2

Level 3

Total

91
91
-

-

91
91
-

Equities and other short-sale equity instruments

-

-

-

-

Loans and securities sold under repo transactions

-

-

-

-

Other financial liabilities

-

802,255
2,988
195,893
562,940
40,433
-

0
0
-

802,255
2,988
195,893
562,940
40,433
-

Financial liabilities for which the fair value option was
exercised

-

1,475,271

873,426

2,348,697

Hedging derivatives
Interest rate instruments
Foreign currency instruments
Equity and index instruments

-

1,187
1,187
-

-

1,187
1,187
-

Total financial liabilities at fair value

-

2,278,804

873,426

3,152,230

Trading derivatives
Interest rate instruments
Foreign currency instruments
Equity and index instruments
Commodity instruments
Credit derivatives
Other financial futures instruments
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CHANGES IN LEVEL 3 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial assets measured at fair value

Balance at
12/31/2019

Additions

Sales/
redemptions

Reclassified to
Level 2

Reclassified from
Level 2

Period gains
and losses

Exchange
rate
differences

Other

Balance at
12/31/2020

Held for trading
Bonds and other debt instruments

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Equities and other equity instruments

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Loans and securities purchased under repo transactions

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

171
171
-

394
394
-

(8)
(8)
-

-

-

(557)
(557)
-

-

-

0
0
-

513,626

931,247

(246,796)

(213,971)

3,995

(31,740)

-

-

956,361

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Equities and other equity instruments

70,948

12,020

-

-

-

(33)

-

-

82,935

Loans and securities purchased with repurchase
agreements

442,678

919,227

(246,796)

(213,971)

3,995

(31,707)

-

-

873,426

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(In euro thousands)

Other financial assets
Derivatives in the trading book
Interest rate instruments
Foreign currency instruments
Equity and index instruments
Commodity instruments
Credit derivatives
Other financial futures instruments
Financial assets that must be measured at fair value
through profit or loss
Bonds and other debt instruments

Financial assets for which the fair value option was
exercised
Bonds and other debt instruments
Loans and securities purchased under repo transactions
Other financial assets
Special fund for employee benefits
Hedging derivatives
Interest rate instruments
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Balance at
12/31/2019

Additions

Sales/
redemptions

Reclassified to
Level 2

Reclassified from
Level 2

Period gains
and losses

Exchange
rate
differences

Other

Balance at
12/31/2020

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Bonds and other debt instruments
Equity instruments
Loans and receivables

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(In euro thousands)
Foreign currency instruments
Equity and index instruments

Total financial assets at fair value

513,797

931,641

(246,804)

(213,971)

3,995

(32,297)

-

-

956,361

Financial liabilities measured at fair value

Held for trading

-

-

-

Reclassified to
Level 2
-

-

Periods
gains and
losses
-

-

-

Liabilities from loaned securities

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Bonds and other short-sale debt instruments

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

171

394

(8)

-

-

(557)

-

-

-

171
-

394
-

(In euro thousands)

Equities and other short-sale equity
instruments
Loans and securities sold under repo
transactions
Other financial liabilities
Trading derivatives
Interest rate instruments
Foreign currency instruments
Equity and index instruments
Commodity instruments

Balance at
12/31/2019

Additions

Sales/
redemptions

(8)
-
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Reclassified
from Level 2

-

-

-

(557)
-

Exchange
rate
differences
-

Other

Balance at
12/31/2020

0

-

-

-

-

-

-

0
-

(In euro thousands)
Credit derivatives
Other financial futures instruments
Financial liabilities for which the fair
value option was exercised
Hedging derivatives
Interest rate instruments
Foreign currency instruments
Equity and index instruments
Total financial liabilities at fair value

Balance at
12/31/2019

Additions

Sales/
redemptions

-

-

-

Reclassified to
Level 2
-

-

Periods
gains and
losses
-

Exchange
rate
differences
-

442,678

919,227

(246,796)

(213,971)

3,995

(31,707)

-

873,426

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

442,849

919,621

(246,804)

(213,971)

3,995

(32,264)

-

873,426
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Reclassified
from Level 2

Other

Balance at
12/31/2020

-

-

MEASUREMENT METHODS FOR FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE IN
THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
The fair value of financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss is primarily
determined on the basis of prices quoted in an active market. These prices may possibly be adjusted if
they are not available at the reporting date or if the settlement value does not reflect the transaction
prices.
However, most of the financial products traded by the Group are not quoted directly in the markets due
to the diverse characteristics of the OTC financial instruments traded in the financial markets. For
these products, the fair value is determined with the aid of valuation methods that are commonly used
by market participants to measure the value of financial instruments, such as discounted future cash
flows or the Black-Scholes model for certain bonds, or measurement parameters are applied at values
estimated on the basis of market conditions at the reporting date. These valuation models are
subjected to an independent validation by the experts of the Market Risks Department of the Risks
Directorate of the higher-ranking corporate group of Société Générale S.A., Paris.
Regardless of whether they are based on observable data in the market or not, the parameters
applied in the valuation models are subjected to monthly, detailed reviews by the Finance Directorate
for Key Customers and Investors (GBIS) of Société Générale S.A., Paris, in accordance with the
methods specified by the Market Risks Department.
Where applicable, these valuations are supplemented by premiums and discounts (particularly
including bid-ask or liquidity), which are determined in a meaningful and appropriate manner after
reviewing the available information.
Because these instruments are derivative financial instruments and repos at fair value, an adjustment
for counterparty default risk (“Credit Valuation Adjustment”/”Debt Valuation Adjustment,” CVA/DVA) is
also recognized. All customers and clearing centers are included in this adjustment. In determining this
adjustment, due consideration is also given to all clearing agreements in effect with all counterparties.
The CVA is calculated on the basis of the entity’s expected positive exposure to the counterparty, the
counterparty’s conditional default probability assuming non-default on the part of the affected entity,
and the amount of losses to be incurred upon default. The DVA is calculated symmetrically on the
basis of the expected negative exposure. The calculations are performed for the life of the potential
exposure on the basis of observable and relevant market data.
For derivatives for which no clearing agreements are in effect, an adjustment is similarly applied on the
basis of expenses or income related to the funding of these transactions (Funding Valuation
Adjustment, FVA).
Observable data must exhibit the following characteristics: It must be non-proprietary (independent of
the Group), available, publicly circulated data based on a broad consensus. An amount of only
EUR 1,207 thousand worth of instruments traded in financial markets is presented under Equities and
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other equity instruments. This amount was not adjusted by transfers to or from Level 2 or Level 3
financial instruments in financial year 2019.
Consensus data provided by external counterparties is deemed to be observable if the underlying
market is liquid and the stated prices are confirmed by genuine transactions. In the case of long
maturities, such consensus data is not deemed to be observable. This is the case with implied
volatilities, which are applied to measure equity option instruments with a horizon of longer than 5
years. On the other hand, the instrument may be considered for the purpose of measurement on the
basis of observable parameters when its remaining term to maturity is less than the threshold value of
5 years.
In the event of unusual tensions in the markets that result in the absence of the reference data
customarily applied to measure the value of a financial instrument, a new model based on the data
available at the time may be employed, one that follows the pattern of the methods applied by other
market participants as well.
Equities and other variable-yield securities
The fair value of listed securities is equal to their stock exchange price at the reporting date. The fair
value of listed securities is determined with the aid of one of the following valuation methods,
depending on the financial instrument in question:


Measurement on the basis of a transaction in the recent past that affected the issuer, including
(for example) a recent acquisition of company stock by a third party, or measurement on the
basis of an expert opinion;



Measurement on the basis of a transaction in the recent past in the sector in which the issuer
is active, including (for example) earnings multiples, asset multiples;



Share of remeasured net assets held.

In the case of larger volumes of unlisted securities, the measurements performed on the basis of the
aforementioned methods are supplemented with the use of methods based on the discounting to
present value of the cash flows generated in the company’s business activity or derived from business
plans, or based on the valuation multiples of similar companies.
Debt instruments held (fixed-income securities), issues of structured securities and derivative
financial instruments measured at fair value
The fair value of these financial instruments is calculated with reference to quoted prices at the
reporting date or the prices provided by brokers for the same date, if available. The fair value of
unlisted financial instruments is determined with the aid of measurement techniques. In the case of
financial liabilities measured at fair value, the chosen measurement methods also take the effect of the
Group’s risk as an issuer into account.
53

Other liabilities
The fair value of listed financial instruments is equal to the fair value of the quoted prices at the
reporting date. The fair value of unlisted financial instruments is determined by discounting future cash
flows to present value at the market rate of interest (including counterparty, default and liquidity risk).
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE LEVEL 3
The instruments measured at a fair value that is not based on observable market parameters (Level 3)
are the interests in the affiliated companies ALD Auto Leasing und Dienstleistungs GmbH and
Nedderfeld 95 Immobilien GmbH & Co.KG. These interests are subject to the measurement exception
according to IFRS 5 because there is an intent to sell them. In applying the imparity principle by
determining the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell, the carrying amount was
applied as the lower value for these companies. Therefore, the interests are measured at their carrying
amounts before transfer to the Group’s parent company and presented as available-for-sale financial
assets.

NOTE 4.4 – LOANS AND RECEIVABLES AT AMORTIZED COST
LOANS TO AND RECEIVABLES FROM BANKS AT AMORTIZED COST

12/31/2020
80,039
22,025
102,064
102,064

(In euro thousands)
Current accounts
Term deposits and loans
Loans and receivables without impairments
Impairments for defaulted loans
Remeasurement of hedged balance sheet items
Total net
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12/31/2019
54,211
23,575
77,786
77,786

LOANS TO AND RECEIVABLES FROM CUSTOMERS (INCLUDING FINANCE LEASES)
12/31/2020
4,487,478
469,748
4,957,226
68,465
60,789
7,676
4,888,761
4,426,689
462,072

(In euro thousands)
Loans to customers
Finance leases
Loans to customers without impairments
Impairments for defaulted loans
Customers
Finance leases
Remeasurement of hedged balance sheet items
Total net
Loans to customers
Finance leases

12/31/2019
4,458,397
486,266
4,944,663
(64,103)
(56,658)
(7,445)
4,880,560
4,401,739
478,821

Please see Note 4.8 “Impairments and provisions.”

NOTE 4.5 – LIABILITIES AT AMORTIZED COST
LIABILITIES TO BANKS
12/31/2020
6,221
3,804,578
62
3,810,861

(In euro thousands)
Deposits and current accounts
Forward liabilities
Other liabilities
Remeasurement of hedged balance sheet items
Securities sold with repurchase agreement
Total

12/31/2019
49,655
3,984,133
774
4,034,562

LIABILITIES TO CUSTOMERS
12/31/2020
468
468
-

(In euro thousands)
Other sight deposits
Total liabilities to customers
Liabilities secured by bonds and securities
Securities sold to customers with repurchase
agreement
Total

468
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12/31/2019
873
873
873

SECURITIZED LIABILITIES
(In euro thousands)
Interbank market securities and tradable
debentures
Other liabilities
Total

12/31/2020

12/31/2019

1,841,747

1,545,431

159

126

1,841,906

1,545,557

NOTE 4.6 – TRANSFERRED ASSETS

Moreover, the instrument of securitized loan receivables is also employed in the Financial Services to
Corporates and Retails segment. Under the name “Red & Black,” which is used for the securitized
liabilities of the Société Générale Group, we have bundled leasing receivables into 7 structures to date
and placed them with the public. Three active structures remained at the reporting date.
The carrying amount of transferred receivables was EUR 1,940.71 million and that of the
corresponding liabilities was EUR 1,716,75 million. The transferred assets are among the assets
subject to restrictions on disposal.
The corresponding market value of the receivables is EUR 1,940.71 million and that of the liabilities is
EUR 1,841.91 million, yielding a net receivable of EUR 98.8 million. The receivables are presented
within “Loans to and receivables from customers,” the liabilities within “Securitized liabilities.”
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NOTE 4.7 – INTEREST RATES AND SIMILAR INCOME / EXPENSES
2020

2019

(In euro thousands)

Income

Expenses

Net

Financial instruments at amortized cost

179,186

(18,970)

160,216

Central banks

-

-

Bonds and other debt instruments

-

Issued debentures
Transactions with banks
Loans to customers and sight deposits
Subordinated liabilities
Other financial instruments
Securities purchased / sold with repurchase agreement
and loans secured by securities
Leases
Real estate
Equipment
Hedging derivatives
Financial instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income
Financial instruments measured at fair value
through profit or loss
Bonds and other debt instruments
Receivables from banks
Loans to customers
Purchased securities with repurchase agreement
Total interest income and interest expenses

Income

Expenses

Net

181,347

(34,482)

146,865

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

11
156,540
-

(1,798)
(17,150)
-

(1,798)
(17,139)
156,540
-
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(821)
(30,554)

(821)
(29,995)

158,960
-

-

158,960
-

3,823

-

3,823

2,389

-

2,389

18,812
18,812
2,397

(22)
(4,290)

18,790
18,812
(1,893)

19,439
19,439
1,148

(1)
(3,106)

19,438
19,439
(1,958)

-

-

-

-

-

-

176

-

176

2885

-

2885

176
-

-

176
-

2885
-

-

2885
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

181,759

(23,260)

158,499

185,380

(34,482)

150,898
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NOTE 4.8 – IMPAIRMENTS AND PROVISIONS

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
Debt instruments as financial assets measured at amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive
income, receivables under operating leases, customer receivables, collectible income presented in Other
assets, and loan commitments and issued guarantees are subject to credit default risk, which is accounted for
as an impairment or loss allowance in the amount of the expected credit loss. These impairments and loss
allowances are recognized at the date of commitment or granting of the loan or purchase of securities.
Objective indications of an impairment are not a requirement for such impairments and loss allowances.
In order to determine the amount of the impairments or loss allowances to be recognized at every reporting
date, these risk positions are classified to one of three categories on the basis of the increased default risk
since initial recognition. An impairment or loss allowance is recognized for the risk positions in each one of
these categories as follows:
Observed risk of credit quality deterioration
Since initial recognition of the financial asset
Category of

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

default risk

Assets upon acquisition

Assets with a significant increase in
default risk

Assets with impaired credit quality

The default risk of the instrument
has increased significantly since
initial recognition / 30 days past
due

Indication that the credit quality
of the instrument has been
impaired / 90 days past due

12-month

Lifetime

Lifetime

expected credit losses

expected credit losses

expected credit losses

Gross carrying amount of the
asset before impairment

Gross carrying amount of the
asset before impairment

Net carrying amount of the asset
after impairment

Initial recognition of the asset
instrument in Level 1
Transfer criteria

Unchanged if the default
risk has not increased
significantly

Measurement of
default risks

Measurement basis
interest income

Upon initial recognition, the risk positions are systematically classified to Level 1 unless they exhibit a negative
development or if their credit quality is already impaired upon acquisition. An impairment is recognized in
Level 1 risk positions in the amount of the credit losses which the Group expects within the next 12 months on
the basis of historical data and the current situation (expected credit losses from loss events within 12
months). Accordingly, the amount of the impairment is measured as the difference between the gross carrying
amount of the asset and the present value of future cash flows that are expected to be received. Due
consideration is given to the effects of security already called or expected to be called in the future and the
probability of a payment default within the next 12 months.
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Assets that exhibit impaired credit quality already upon purchase or acquisition are presented separately in
the statement of financial position. Thus, the change in the expected collectible cash flows from the instrument
is discounted to present value by application of the original effective interest rate and adjusted for default risk.
In order to determine the Level 2 risk positions, the Group assesses the significant increase in default risk.
This assessment is conducted on the basis of all available historical and forward-looking data (behavioral
scores, loan value indicators, macroeconomic forecast scenarios, etc.). The current credit quality ranking is
the determining indicator in deciding whether the given risk position should be classified to Level 2. If the
credit quality ranking has been significantly downgraded since initial application, a loss allowance is
recognized in the amount of the lifetime expected credit losses. Significant increases in default risk are
assessed at the portfolio level on the basis of default probability curves in order to calculate the loss
allowances according to IFRS 9. The limit values for significantly increased default risks are reviewed once a
year. If in addition to that a counterparty is classified as critical at the reporting date (placed on a watch list), a
loss allowance is recognized at the reporting date for all contracts concluded with this counterparty. Risk
positions that arise after placement of the counterparty on the watch list are classified to Level 1. In addition,
we assume that the default risk has increased significantly when the asset is more than 30 days past due.
In order to determine the Level 3 risk positions (doubtful receivables), the Group determines whether or not
there are any objective indications or an impairment (default event):
•

A significant deterioration of the financial situation of the counterparty makes it highly probable that it
will no longer be able to fulfill all its obligations. Therefore, it represents a loss risk for the Group;

•

In view of the financial difficulties of the borrower, concessions are granted to it in the provisions of the
loan agreement that would not otherwise have been granted to it under different circumstances.

•

Payment default of more than 90 days (with the exception of restructured loans during the probation
period, which are deemed to be impaired as of the date of the first missed payment). Whether or not a
collection process has been initiated is irrelevant in this regard.

•

The high probability of a default risk or legal proceeding, even if no payment is in default (insolvency,
court-ordered settlement or compulsory liquidation).

The Group applies the impairment transfer principle for all risk positions of the counterparty that has defaulted.
If the debtor is part of a corporate group, the impairment transfer principle can also be applied to all risk
positions of the that group.
Level 2 and 3 risk positions are impaired by the amount of credit losses which the Group expects over the life
of the risk positions (lifetime expected credit losses). Historical data, the current situation and trackable
changes in economic forecasts, as well as relevant macroeconomic factors up to the maturity date, are taken
into consideration. Accordingly, the amount of the impairment is calculated as the difference between the
gross carrying amount of the asset and the present value of future cash flows that are expected to be
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received. The effects of security already called or expected to be called in the future, as well as the probability
of a payment default occurring up to the maturity date, are taken into consideration.
Regardless of the level to which the risk positions are classified, cash flows are discounted to present value by
the original effective interest rate of the financial asset. The impairment amount is included in the net carrying
amount of a credit-impaired financial asset. Allocations and reversals of impairments are recognized as
expenses in the item of Risk expenses.
The Group applies the “simplified” approach for trade receivables. Under this approach, impairments are
calculated as the lifetime expected credit losses at the date of initial recognition. Whether or not the credit risk
of the counterparty has changed is irrelevant in this regard.
Loans granted by the Group could possibly be restructured to ensure the collection of principal and interest
payments. For this purpose, the contractual terms of the loan are adjusted (e.g. reduction of the interest rate,
rescheduling of the payment obligation, partial debt remission or additional security). Assets may only be
restructured when the borrower has encountered financial difficulties or filed for insolvency proceedings (also
if the borrower is already or will become insolvent with a high degree of probability if the loan is not
restructured).
Restructured loans that pass the SPPI test are recognized in the statement of financial position. The
amortized cost before the impairment is reduced by the amount of the negative difference between the
present value of the new contractual cash flows after restructuring of the loan and the amortized cost before
the impairment, less any partial debt remissions. This reduction is equal to the lost profit and is recognized in
the income statement item of Risk expenses. Consequently, the related interest income is subsequently still
measured at the original effective interest rate of the loans. After the restructuring, these assets are
systematically classified to Level 3 (credit-impaired risk positions) as a result of being impaired because the
borrowers are classified as insolvent. The classification to Level 3 is maintained for at least one year or longer
if the Group is not certain as to whether the borrowers will be able to fulfill their obligations. If the loan is no
longer classified to Level 3, the Group assesses the significant increase in default risk by comparing the
degree of default risk at the reporting date with the default rate upon initial recognition of the loan before it was
restructured.
If restructured loans no longer pass the SPPI test, they are derecognized and the new, restructured loans
replace the derecognized loans in the statement of financial position at the same date. The new loans are
then recognized as financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with the
applicable rules.
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OVERVIEW OF IMPAIRMENTS AND PROVISIONS

(In euro thousands)
Impairments of financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income
Impairments of financial assets at amortized cost
Loans and receivables at amortized cost
Other assets at amortized cost
Provisions for financial commitments
Provisions for guarantee commitments
Total impairments for credit default
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12/31/2020

12/31/2019
-

-

71,667
68,465
3,202

67,163
64,103
3,060

724
724

567
567

IMPAIRMENTS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

(In euro thousands)
Financial assets at amortized cost
Impairments of performing receivables (Level 1)
Impairments of distressed receivables (Level 2)
Impairments of doubtful receivables (Level 3)
Total
thereof finance leases and similar contracts
Impairments of performing receivables (Level 1)
Impairments of distressed receivables (Level 2)
Impairments of doubtful receivables (Level 3)
Total

Impairments
at 01/01/2020

Additio
ns

20,836
4,094
42,233
67,163
4,162
435
2,848
7,445

13,130
11,254
51,466
75,850
2,169
412
3,104
5,685

Reversal

Net
impairment
expenses

Utilization

Other
changes

Impairments
at 12/31/2020

(13,659)
(6,548)
(20,954)
(41,161)
(873)
(435)
(2,152)
(3,460)

(529)
4,706
30,512
34,689
1,296
(23)
952
2,225

(26,988)
(26,988)
(3,036)
(3,036)

-

21,230
6,442
43,995
71,667
0
5,458
412
1,806
7,676

PROVISIONS

(In euro thousands)
Financial commitments
Impairments of performing receivables (Level 1)
Impairments of distressed receivables (Level 2)
Impairments of doubtful receivables (Level 3)
Total
Guarantee commitments
Impairments of performing receivables (Level 1)
Impairments of distressed receivables (Level 2)
Impairments of doubtful receivables (Level 3)
Total

Reversal

Net
impairment
expenses

Utilization

Other
changes

Impairments
at 12/31/2020

188
188

(31)
(31)

188
(31)
157

-

-

693
31
724

-

-

-

-

-

-

Impairments
at 01/01/2020

Additions

505
62
567
-
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RISK EXPENSES
2020

(In euro thousands)
Credit risk
Net additions to impairments

2019

-

(16,353)
(18,578)
-

Financial assets at amortized cost

(18,000)

(18,578)

Net additions to provisions
Financial commitments
Guarantee commitments
Unsecured losses on bad loans
Amounts recovered on bad loans
Other risks
Total

(157)
(157)
2,725
(15,432)

135
135
(128)
2,218
(16,353)

(15,432)
(18,000)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

NOTE 4.9 - FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT COST

The fair values of financial instruments not measured at fair value in the statement of financial position are
presented in this Note.
FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT COST

(In euro thousands)
Receivables from banks
Loans to customers

12/31/2020
Carrying
Amount
Fair Value
102,063
102,064
4,888,761
4,749,066

Loans to customers at amortized cost
Receivables from leases
Securities

4,426,689
462,072
-

4,259,850
489,215
-

Total financial assets measured at cost

4,990,824

4,851,130

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT COST

(In euro thousands)
Liabilities to banks
Liabilities to customers
Issued debentures
Subordinated liabilities

12/31/2020
Carrying
Amount
Fair Value
3,810,861
3,810,861
468
468
1,841,906
1,841,906
-

Total financial liabilities measured at cost

5,653,235
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5,653,236

MEASUREMENT METHODS
Loans, receivables and finance leases
Due to the lack of an active market for these loans, the fair value of loans and receivables and finance lease
receivables from large companies is calculated by discounting expected cash flows to present value by
application of a discount factor based on market interest rates (actuarial reference rate and zero-coupon rate
published by the Banque de France) applicable at the reporting date to loans that have essentially the same
terms and maturities. These interest rates are adjusted by adding premiums for liquidity and administrative
expenses to account for the borrower’s credit risk.
Due to the lack of an active market for these loans, the fair value of loans and receivables and finance lease
receivables from retail banking customers, primarily consisting of individuals and small and medium-sized
enterprises, is calculated by discounting the future cash flows to present value by application of market
interest rates that apply for loans of the same category and maturity at the reporting date.
In the case of loans, receivables and finance lease receivables with variable interest rates and loans with fixed
interest rates and initial terms of one year or less, it is assumed that the fair value is equal to the carrying
amount if there have been no significant fluctuations of the credit spreads for the counterparties since being
recognized in the statement of financial position.

Liabilities
Due to the lack of an active market for these liabilities, it is assumed that the fair value of liabilities is equal to
the value of future cash flows discounted to present value by application of the market interest rate on the
reporting date. If the liability is securitized in the form of an exchange-listed financial instrument, the value is
equal to the market price.
In the case of liabilities with variable interest rates and liabilities with an initial term of one year or less, it is
assumed that the fair value is equal to the carrying amount. In the same way, the individual fair value of sight
deposits is equal to the carrying amount.
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NOTE 5 – PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
(In euro thousands)
Acquisition and production
cost
Balance at January 1, 2020
Acquisitions
Disposals
Reclassifications
Balance at December 31,
2020
Accumulated depreciation,
amortization and impairment
expenses
Balance at January 1, 2020
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment expenses
Reversals of impairments /
disposals
Reclassifications
Balance at December 31,
2020
Carrying amounts
at January 1, 2020
Balance at December 31,
2020

Intangible assets

Right of use

Operational
property,
plant and
equipment

Intangible assets
under development

Assets under
leases

Capital goods

Total

25,838
1,125
(2,260)
(417)

296
162
(458)

12,871
1,752
(5,950)
1,826

789,469
231,915
(213,595)
-

-

6,168
20,420
(238)
-

834,642
255,374
(222,043)
951

24,286

-

10,499

807,789

-

26,350

868,924

(20,268)
(2,022)
-

-

(9,317)
(1,562)
-

(194,117)
(106,483)
(2,026)

-

(1,305)
(2,148)
-

(225,007)
(112,215)
(2,026)

2,260

-

5,923

98,176

-

230

106,589

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(20,030)

-

(4,956)

(204,450)

-

(3,223)

(232,659)

5,570

296

3,554

595,352

-

4,863

609,635

4,256

-

5,543

603,339

-

23,127

636,265
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NOTE 6 – GOODWILL
The following goodwill items were recognized at the level of cash-generating units in financial year 2020:
•

Asset Management: An impairment of goodwill in relation to Credit Swiss Asset Management
Kapitalanlagegesellschaft mbH, which was acquired in 2010, in the amount of EUR 664 thousand,
reducing the carrying amount to EUR 0 thousand, which was identified as the cash-generating unit
and assigned to the Asset Management operating segment. The impairment resulted from the fact
that the additional contractual agreements are limited in time until September 2020.

•

Financial Services to Corporates and Retails: Goodwill in the amount of EUR 1,569 thousand resulted
from the purchase of BDK by ALD LF in 2002. BDK was identified as the cash-generating unit and
assigned to the Financial Services to Corporates and Retails operating segment. Due to the positive
business performance, there is no need to recognize an impairment.

As a general rule, the goodwill of the cash-generating units is subjected to an impairment test every year in
the fourth quarter. A cash-generating unit (CGU) is defined as the smallest identifiable group of assets that
generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets
within the Company. The impairment tests involve an assessment of the recoverable amount of each goodwillcontaining CGU or group of CGUs and the comparison of the recoverable amount with its carrying amount. An
impairment is recognized when the carrying amount of a goodwill-containing CGU or group of CGUs is higher
than its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is defined as the higher of the value in use and the fair
value less costs of disposal. The impairment so calculated is first applied to reduce the value of goodwill and
the amount by which the impairment exceeds goodwill is applied to reduce the value of the other assets of the
CGU. The recoverable amount of a CGU is calculated in accordance with the best-suited method, particularly
the method of discounted cash flows after taxes. The corresponding calculation method is generally applied at
the level of the CGU.
The cash flows applied for this calculation are determined with reference to a business plan prepared on the
basis of preliminary budgets for the next four years in every case, extrapolated to a period of sustainable
growth (generally by another four years) and then extrapolated ad infinitum on the basis of a long-term growth
rate:

•

The discount rate is calculated on the basis of a risk-free interest rate to which a risk premium is added,
depending on the underlying activity of each CGU. This specific risk premium for each business segment
is determined on the basis of the equity risk premiums published by SG Research, and the estimated
volatility (beta). Where applicable, a further premium is added to the risk-free rate for country risk,
calculated as the difference between the risk-free interest rate of the attribution zone (Eurozone) and the
interest rate of the liquid, long-term bonds issued by the corresponding country in the currency of the
attribution zone, or the weighted average value according to the legally prescribed capital in the case of a
CGU that comprises more than one country.
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•

The growth rate applied for the end value is based on a long-term forecast of economic growth and
inflation rates.

The leading value concept is the value in use on the basis of discounted cash flows. The discount rates and
long-term growth rates for each cash-generating unit are presented in the table below:
Discount Rate
2020
Financial Services to
Corporates and Retails
Asset Management*

2019

Long-term Growth Rate
2020
2019

10.6% to 15.2%
0.0 %

9.1%

2% to 3%
0.0 %

2.0%

* Credit Suisse Deutschland terminated the cooperation agreement as of September 30, 2020; therefore, no
economic benefit is to be expected from the future use of the asset.
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NOTE 7 – OTHER ACTIVITIES
NOTE 7.1 – COMMISSION INCOME AND EXPENSES

(In euro thousands)
Transactions with banks
Transactions with customers
Operations with financial
instruments from
securities transactions
Credit and guarantee
commitments
Services
Other
Total

Income
32,773

2020
Expenses
(1,097)
(5,285)

Net
(1,097)
27,488

40,314

2019
Expenses
(493)
(11,140)

Net
(493)
29,174

-

(2,138)

(2,138)

-

(2,786)

(2,786)

-

(16)

(16)

-

(18)

(18)

39,349
2,928
75,050

(3,122)
(11,658)

39,349
(194)
63,392

42,136
3,064
85,514

(3,324)
(17,761)

42,136
(260)
67,753

Income

NOTE 7.2 – INCOME AND EXPENSES FOR OTHER ACTIVITIES

2020

(In euro thousands)
Real estate
development
Real estate leasing
Equipment leasing
Other activities
Total

Income

Expenses

Net

Income

282,400
2,644
285,044

(251,801)
(68,408)
(320,209)

30,599
(65,764)
(35,165)

262,201
4,026
266,227

2019
Expense
s
(229,479)
(62,927)
(292,406)

Net
32,722
(58,901)
(26,179)

The income from equipment leasing and other activities is composed of the following items:
2020

(In euro thousands)
Income from the sale of operating lease objects
Refunds of grants for operating lease objects
Income from operating leases
Other income from operating leases
Income from fees for late payments
Other income
Total

125,461
2,531
131,305
23,001
102
2,644
285,044
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2019
103,363
3,233
131,899
23,588
118
4,026
266,227

The expenses for other activities are composed of the following items:
2020

(In euro thousands)
Discounts on operating leases
Book losses on sales of operating leases
Depreciation of operating lease objects
Other expenses for finance leases
Expenses for inventory-taking
Expenses for other non-banking activities
Other discounts
Total

2019

(2,027)
(110,396)
(106,483)
(32,895)
(391)
(67,173)
(844)
(320,209)

(1,086)
(87,562)
(107,126)
(33,705)
(62,686)
(241)
(292,406)

NOTE 7.3 – OTHER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
OTHER ASSETS
(In euro thousands)
Prepaid expenses
Miscellaneous other receivables
Total gross
Impairments
Total net

12/31/2020
91,463
173,130
264,593
(6,685)
257,908

12/31/2019
90,312
112,416
202,728
(6,152)
196,156

At December 31, 2020, the Miscellaneous item mainly included outstanding receivables under operating
leases and commission receivables.
Overview of non-impaired past-due receivables:
(In euro thousands)
Past due 30 to 60 days
Past due 61 to 90 days
Past due 91 to 180 days
Past due longer than 181 days

12/31/2020
67
1
113
64

OTHER LIABILITIES

(In euro thousands)
Deposit guarantees received
Settlement accounts for transactions with securities

12/31/2020
-

12/31/2019
-

2,236

-

Benefits to employees
3,843
3,870
Lease liabilities
23,128
4,849
Deferred income
31,347
32,279
Miscellaneous other payables
163,079
147,234
Total
223,633
188,232
The item of Miscellaneous other payables mainly comprises expenses paid and liabilities under the profit
transfer agreement in effect with the tax group parent company Société Générale S.A. Frankfurt Branch.
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NOTE 8 – PERSONNEL EXPENSES AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
PERSONNEL EXPENSES
2020

(In euro thousands)
Employee compensation
Social security contributions and payroll taxes
Net pension expenses – Special fund
Net pension expenses – Defined benefit pension plan
Employee profit participation and bonuses
Total
Including net expenses of share-based compensation

2019

(76,950)
(10,314)
(178)
(735)
(2)
(88,179)
37

(59,686)
(10,116)
(184)
(750)
(64)
(70,800)
(94)

Employees
The average number of employees in financial year 2020 was:

Male
Global Banking and Investor Solutions
Financial Services to Corporates and Retails
Asset Management
Total

Female

Total

3

1

4

395
127
525

397
93
491

792
220
1,016

DEVELOPMENT OF PROVISIONS FOR EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(In euro
thousands)
Provisions for
employee benefits

Balance at
12/31/2019

Additions

18,505

16,977

Reversal

(154)

Net
additions

Utilization

16,823

(124)

Other
changes

Balance at
12/31/2020

4,722

39,926

POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
In calculating the provision for employee benefits, an actuarial interest rate of 0.48% (PY: 0.71%), a salary
dynamic of 3.00% (PY: 3.00%), and a pension dynamic of -0.15% (PY: -0.15%) were assumed for the ALD
sub-group (Financial Services to Corporates and Retails segment). For the company SGSS (Asset
Management segment), an actuarial interest rate of 0.54% (PY: 1.05%), a salary dynamic of 0.50% (PY:
0.50%), and a pension dynamic 0.00% (PY: 0.00%) were assumed. For the company SG Effekten (Global
Banking and Investor Solutions segment), an actuarial interest rate of 0.62% (PY: 0.90%), a salary dynamic of
2.30% (PY: 2.60%), and a pension dynamic of 1.30% (PY: 1.60%) were assumed.
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The Group’s retirement benefits consist of the following retirement plans:
DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS
Individual defined contribution pension plans exist for individual employees in the segment of Financial
Services to Corporates and Retails.
DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS
The following defined benefit plans are in effect within the Global Banking and Investor Solutions segment:
Pension commitment according to the Pension Plan (VO) in the version of May 1, 1986
Employee pensions (retirement pensions, early retirement pensions, disability pensions) and survivor’s
pensions (surviving spouse’s pensions, orphan’s pensions) are granted.
A retirement pension is granted from the completion of the 65th year of life and an early retirement pension is
granted when an early retirement pension is claimed under the statutory pension insurance system. The
amount of benefits is determined on the basis of the eligible years of service and the pension benefit-eligible
income. Eligible years of service are all years and full months in which the employment relationship was in
effect, but not longer than up to the normal retirement date, maximum 40 years.
Pension benefit-eligible income equals the monthly base salary multiplied by 13. The retirement pension and
disability pension are equal to 0.40% of pension benefit-eligible income up to the contribution assessment
limit, plus 1.50% of eligible income beyond the contribution assessment limit under the statutory pension
insurance system, multiplied by the eligible years of service. For an early retirement pension, the pension
benefit is reduced by 0.50% for each month when it is claimed before the normal retirement date, but not
more than 12%.
The surviving spouse’s pension is equal to 60% of the paid pension or claim to a retirement and disability
pension at the time of death.
The orphan’s pension is equal to 15% of the paid pension or claim to a retirement and disability pension at the
time of death.
The orphan’s pension is paid until the completion of the 18th year of life; all other pensions are paid for life.
In addition, there is an individual commitment that differs from the preceding plan in the following respects:
The amount of benefits is determined on the basis of the pension benefit-eligible years of service and the
pension benefit-eligible income. The pension benefit-eligible years of service are all full years in which the
employment relationship was in effect up to the normal retirement age. Pension-eligible income is defined as
twelve times the last monthly collective agreement wage, or the fixed annual salary for non-union employees.
The pension benefit is determined with reference to a salary-dependent and years of service-dependent table,
to which additional pension benefit levels may be added from time to time. An additional pension benefit equal
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to 60% of the amount that exceeds the maximum salary provided for in the corresponding scale is granted
after 40 years of service; the percentage rate is reduced by one for each year short of 40 years of service.
In the event of occupational disability and death, the years of service missed until completion of the 55th year
of life are credited in full and the years of service missed between the 55th and 60th years of life are credited at
the rate of one third.
The surviving spouse’s pension is equal to 60% of the paid pension or the claim to a retirement pension at the
time of death.
The orphan’s pension is equal to 10% of the paid pension or the claim to a retirement pension at the time of
death.
The orphan’s pension is paid until completion of the 18th year of life, but not longer than until completion of the
25th year of life; all other pensions are paid for life.
Individual defined benefit pension plans exist for individual employees in the segment of Financial Services to
Corporates and Retails.
In addition, the following defined benefit plans exist in the Group:
Former Interleasing employees (pertains to the segment of Financial Services to Corporates and Retails)
The commitment involves the payment of retirement benefits upon reaching the retirement age (65th year of
life) and in cases of early disability and death. The time during which the pension beneficiary worked for the
company without interruption after completing the 20th year of life and before completing the 65th year of life
qualifies as the length of service. The retirement benefit consists of a base amount of DM 200 per month after
10 years of service and increases by DM 20 per month with each additional year of service. The total
creditable length of service is limited to 30 years. Years in which the employee worked more than 6 months
are counted for purposes of calculating the retirement benefit. The pension commitment involves a limitation
of the retirement benefit as soon as it together with the social insurance pension benefit exceeds 75% of the
last gross salary (the limitation also applies in the presence of a life insurance policy that exempts the
employee from the obligation to pay social insurance contributions).
In the event of death of the pension beneficiary, the surviving spouse receives 60% of the retirement benefit to
which the pension beneficiary would have been entitled at the time of his death.
Pension Plan 2000 (pertains to the segment of Asset Management)
Employee pensions (retirement pension, early retirement pension, disability pension) and survivors’ pensions
(spouse’s pension, orphan’s pension) are granted.
The retirement pension is granted upon completing the 65th year of life; an early retirement pension is granted
upon completing the 60th year of life if and as long as a retirement pension is claimed under the statutory
pension insurance system.
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The company makes a pension contribution equal to 4% of eligible income for each full calendar year of
eligible service.
The annual pension benefits are determined by means of converting the pension contribution actuarially into
annual pension units, which are aggregated over the eligible period of service until the pension benefit
becomes payable. Current pension benefits are increased by 1% every year.
Employees who opted not to join the Pension Plan 2000 are insured by one of the following pension plans:
•

Pension plan of HYPO-INVEST of August 17, 1993 (VOHI) / Pension plan of Allfonds
Gesellschaft für Investmentanlagen mbH (VOAI):
Employees of the former HYPO Capital Management lnvestmentgesellschaft mbH are granted
pension benefits under the following terms and conditions:
The company grants all employees who join or joined the company after January 1, 1990 a retirement
pension (after completing the 65th year of life), an early retirement pension, an occupational disability
pension and a survivor’s pension after a five-year vesting period, with legally binding effect on the
company.
The amount of benefits depends on the eligible length of service after completing the 18th year of life
(at the earliest from January 1, 1993), the income eligible for retirement benefits, the personal
percentage and the annual increase amount.
Eligible years of service are considered for the purpose of calculating the amount of an early
retirement pension only up to the date when early retirement is taken. The retirement benefit
calculated in this way is reduced by 0.50% for each month when pension benefits are received before
completion of the 65th year of life, and this applies for the duration of the retirement benefit.
In calculating the amount of pension benefits for occupational disability, the years of service missed
until completion of the employee’s 55th year of life are added to the eligible years of service worked
until the employee became eligible for the disability pension.
The surviving spouse’s pension is equal to 60% of the pension which the deceased pension
beneficiary received or would have received if he had become disabled at the time of his passing.

•

Pension plan for individual contractual pension commitments (VOAM):
A retirement pension or early retirement pension, disability pension, surviving spouse’s pension or
orphan’s pension is granted when the corresponding benefit conditions are met and after the
expiration of a five-year vesting period. Under this plan, the company makes a pension contribution
equal to 3% of pension-eligible income for each full calendar year of eligible service. This annual
pension contribution is multiplied by the retirement rate corresponding to the age of life completed in
the same calendar year, yielding the annual pension unit in every case. The sum of these pension
units equals the pension benefit in the case of retirement at 65 or older and in the case of disability. In
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the case of early retirement, this sum is reduced by 0.5% for each month of early retirement before
reaching the fixed retirement age of 65. The surviving spouse’s pension is equal to 60%, the halforphan’s pension 12%, the full orphan’s pension 20% of the reached sum of pension units.
Under the transitional arrangement, the employees coming from Hypo-Bank and Allfonds
Management receive a basic unit for their earlier years of service in addition to the unit pension. This
basic unit is increased in proportion to the personal development of pension-eligible income.
•

Pension plan for employees of Schweizerische Kreditanstalt (DEUTSCHLAND) AG (VOSK):
Pension benefits are granted to employees of the former Schweizerische Kreditanstalt (Deutschland)
AG under the following terms and conditions:
The company grants all regular employees whose employment relationship was not terminated at the
time when the pension plan entered into effect and who had not yet completed their 50th year of life at
the time of joining the bank a retirement pension (after completion of the 65th year of life), an early
retirement pension, an occupational disability pension and a survivor’s pension after the expiration of
a ten-year vesting period.
The amount of benefits is determined on the basis of eligible years of services and pension benefiteligible income. A pension equal to 0.20% of pension benefit-eligible income is granted as a pension
entitlement for each eligible year of service completed after January 1, 1990. A pension equal to
1.20% of the amount of pension benefit-eligible income is additionally granted for each pension
benefit-eligible year of service that exceeds the contribution assessment ceiling. A maximum total of
35 years of service is eligible for the pension amount. The increase amounts according to the earlier
pension plans apply for years of service before January 1, 1990. The vested benefits earned at
December 31, 1989 remain in effect in the percentage amount of pension benefit-eligible income.
For calculating the amount of an early retirement pension, only the eligible years of service up to the
date of claiming the early retirement benefit are considered. The retirement pension so calculated is
reduced by 0.50% of its value for each month when pension benefits are received before completion
of the 65th year of life, and this applies for the duration of the retirement benefit. The total reduction
may not exceed 20%.
In calculating the amount of pension benefits for occupational disability, the years of service missed
until completion of the employee’s 55th year of life are added to the eligible years of service worked
until the employee became eligible for the disability pension.
The surviving spouse’s pension is equal to 60% of the pension which the deceased pension
beneficiary received or would have received if he had become disabled at the time of his passing.
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•

Pension plan of Société Générale – Elsässische Bank & Co.
Retirement benefits are granted for occupational disability according to the definition of the statutory
pension insurance system or when the fixed retirement age (65th year of life) is reached. The
employees receive a pension benefit equal to 0.40% of pension benefit-eligible income for each year
of service worked and each full month worked up to the 65th year of life, plus 1.5% of the amount of
pension benefit-eligible income that exceeds the contribution assessment limit under the statutory
pension insurance system. However, no more than 40 years can be credited. The occupational
disability pension is identical to the retirement pension entitlement achievable in the time remaining
before the normal retirement date (supplementary period).
When the early retirement pension is claimed, a discount of 0.50% is deducted for each month when
the early retirement pension is claimed, up to a maximum of 12%.
The surviving spouse’s pension is equal to 60% of the deceased spouse’s pension.

•

Special total compensation (TC) agreements
For employees with special TC agreements, the vested claims to a company pension earned until the
transition to a TC agreement are maintained.
Any basic unit under the pension plan for individual contractual pension commitments (VOAM)
increases in proportion to the personal development of pension-eligible income.
Any initial unit under the Pension Plan ‘95/’98 (RP95/RP98) or RP 2000 increases until the
employee’s departure from the company in accordance with the wage increases in the highest
collective wage group for private-sector bank employees.
The pension units earned in addition to any basic or initial unit until the time of switching from the
VOAM, RP95/RP98 or RP 2000 to a TC agreement are also maintained.
When an early retirement pension is claimed, the vested pension benefit under the VOAM and RP
2000 is reduced by 0.5% for each started month when pension benefits are drawn before completion
of the 65th year of life.

•

Deferred compensation
Some persons have individual contractual agreements under which cash compensation is converted
into company pension benefits:
For commitments under the RP 2000 model (insurance principle), the amount of the pension is
determined by converting the annual pension contribution actuarially into annual increases of the
vested pension benefit (“pension units”), which are aggregated over the time until the pension benefit
becomes payable. The pension units are calculated by multiplying the annual pension contribution by
the retirement rate applicable for the completed age in every case. When an early retirement pension
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is claimed before the 65th year of life, the vested pension benefit achieved at the time of retirement is
reduced by 0.5% for each started month when the early retirement pension is drawn before
completion of the 65th year of life.
For commitments under the pension fund model (savings principle), the amount of pension benefits is
determined by the interest-bearing accumulation of pension capital plus, plus surplus participation.
The pension capital available when the pension is claimed is converted into a lifelong pension benefit
by multiplying it by the retirement rate applicable for the age at the time of retirement.

OTHER LONG-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
The other long-term benefits granted to employees of the Group comprise work time accounts and bonuses
for many years of service. These are other employee benefits (other than post-employment benefits and
termination benefits), which are payable in full within 12 months of the end of the reporting period in which the
related service was provided.
The Company basically does not owe any other long-term employee benefits or the amounts in question are
negligible. A bonus is only paid to employees for long periods of service (21 employees at SGSS, 23
employees at ALD LF). At 12/31/2019, this bonus amounted to EUR 31 thousand at SGSS and EUR 68.6
thousand at ALD LF.

RECONCILIATION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES PRESENTED IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
12/31/2020

(In euro thousands)
A- Present value of funded obligations

25,462

B- Fair value of plan assets and special fund

1,735

C= A -B Balance of funded plans
D - Present value of unfunded obligations
E - Effects of the asset ceiling
C + D + E= Net balance recognized in the statement of financial
position

23,727
0
0
23,727

COMPONENTS OF EXPENSES OF DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS
12/31/2020

(In euro thousands)
Current service cost, including social security contributions
Employee contributions
Past service cost / curtailments
Plan settlements
Net interest
Transfer of not yet recognized assets
A - Components recognized in the operating result
Expected income from plan assets
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462
193
655
(406)

Actuarial gains and losses resulting from changes in demographic
assumptions
Actuarial gains and losses resulting from changes in economic and
financial assumptions
Experience-based actuarial gains and losses
Effect of asset ceiling on plan assets

(133)
(7)
-

B - Gains and losses recognized directly in equity

(546)

C= A + B Total components of expenses of defined benefit plans
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CHANGES IN THE PRESENT VALUE OF OBLIGATIONS
(In euro thousands)
Balance at January 1, 2020
Adjustment: IAS 8 - OCI*)
Current service cost for the year, including social security
contributions
Employee contributions
Past service cost / curtailments
Plan settlements
Net interest
Actuarial gains and losses resulting from changes in
demographic assumptions
Actuarial gains and losses resulting from changes in economic
and financial assumptions
Experience-based actuarial gains and losses
Currency translation
Pension benefits paid
Change in consolidation group
Transfers and other
Balance at 12/31/2020

20,183
814
463
193
331
2,655
(225)
1,046
25,460

*) Based on the pension report of Towers Watson, an amount of EUR 814 thousand was recognized in the
OCI of ALD for an error correction from prior years in accordance with IAS 8.5.

CHANGES IN FAIR VALUE OF PLAN ASSETS AND THE SPECIAL FUND
(In euro thousands)
Balance at January 1, 2020

1,710

Expected income from plan assets

18

Expected income from special fund

-

Actuarial gains and losses related to plan assets

7

Currency translation

-

Employee contributions

-

Employer contributions

-

Pension benefits paid
Change in consolidation group
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Transfers and other

-

Balance at 12/31/2020

1,735

Sensitivity analysis of the financial obligation
(In euro thousands)
Discount rate -0.5%:

12/31/2020
2,493

Discount rate +0.5%:

(2,101)

Inflation rate +0.5%:
Salary increase +0.5%:

589
11

Actual income from plan assets and special fund:
(In euro thousands)
Plan assets
Special fund

12/31/2020
(38)
-

NOTE 9 – INCOME TAXES
The profit transfer agreement of September 7, 2016 between Société Générale Effekten GmbH (subsidiary
company) and Société Générale S.A. Frankfurt Branch (parent company) established a consolidated tax
group for income tax purposes with Société Générale S.A. Frankfurt Branch with retroactive effect to January
1, 2016. Due to the formation of the consolidated tax group for income tax purposes, Société Générale
Effekten GmbH does not recognized deferred taxes in its financial statements, with the exception of the gains
and losses arising from the remeasurement of defined benefit plans, which are recognized directly in equity.
Tax assets include prepaid taxes to the tax authority against which the companies have refund claims.

NOTE 10 – EQUITY
The Group’s equity amounted to EUR -8.6 million at December 31, 2020. It is composed of Subscribed capital
in the amount of EUR 26 thousand (January 1, 2019: EUR 26 thousand) and SGE’s profit carried forward,
calculated in accordance with the provisions of German commercial law, in the amount of EUR 1.1 million.
Other components of equity are the Group reserves arising from consolidation in the amount of EUR -39
million and the consolidated net profit of EUR 35.7 million.
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Because the individual companies have positive equity on aggregate, the negative equity status is due to the
Group reserves. The Group reserves mainly consist of consolidation factors such as the elimination of
consolidated equity investments and the corresponding equity components, and the transfer of the
subsidiaries’ net profits or losses. Because the carrying amounts of the equity investments, including hidden
reserves, exceed the recognized equity of the transferred companies, the difference is deducted from the
Group reserves in the IFRS consolidated financial statements. The carrying amounts of equity investments
were tested for impairment in connection with the preparation of the separate financial statements of Société
Générale Effekten GmbH for financial year 2020.
The Group’s liquidity position is not influenced by the negative equity.
Changes in equity during the financial year are indicated in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
The individual Group companies manage their capital requirements in dependence on the Group’s parent
company.
The subsidiary BDK manages its capital requirements in dependence on the regulatory capital regulations.

NOTE 11 – DIVIDENDS PAID
The

non-controlling

interests

Beteiligungsgesellschaft

des

Kfz-Gewerbes

mbH

and

Techno

Versicherungsdienst GmbH hold interests in the Group’s bank Deutsches Kraftfahrzeuggewerbe GmbH. In
financial year 2020, profits of EUR 264 thousand were distributed to these shareholders for financial year
2019.

NOTE 12 – ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES
NOTE 12.1 – SEGMENT REPORT
As described in the following, the Group has three reportable segments, which represent the Group’s strategic
business activities. The segments offer different products and services and are managed separately from
each other. The business activities in each reportable segment of the Group are described in the table below.
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Reportable segment

Business activity
The object of this operating segment is the issuance of options and
certificates via the Group’s parent company Société Générale

Global Banking and Investor
Solutions

Effekten GmbH. They are sold to counterparties that are all whollyowned subsidiaries of the parent company Société Générale S.A.,
Paris, or the parent company itself.
The segment comprises all activities conducted by a manufacturerindependent leasing company, including the provision of financing
solutions and services for automobiles to car dealers and their

Financial Services to Corporates
and Retails

customers. The product range covers all financing processes in the
car dealership, such as sales financing and leasing, purchase
financing and insurance. In addition, smart IT solutions such as web
services and an internally developed POS system are offered to car
dealers.
This segment comprises the management of investment funds under
so-called “master fund manager” models and the in-sourcing of fund

Asset Management

administration

from

other

asset

management

firms.

Direct

investments are administered as well. These services are mainly
provided to European customers.
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(In euro thousands)

Net banking income
Administrative expenses
Gross operating result
Risk expenses
Operating result
Net gains or losses from other
assets
Impairment of goodwill
Profit/loss before taxes
Income taxes
Net profit/loss of all companies
in the consolidation group

Global Banking and
Investor Solutions
12/31/2020
12/31/2019
(5,079)
(4,105)
295
162
(4,784)
(3,943)
0
(4,784)
(3,943)

(4,784)

(4,784)

(3,943)

(3,943)

Non-controlling interests
Net profit/loss (Group’s share)
Assets
Liabilities

Financial Services to
Corporates and Retails
12/31/2020
12/31/2019
159,354
161,858
(78,368)
(77,611)
80,986
84,247
(15,432)
(16,353)
65,554
67,894

12/31/2020
30,126
(56,768)
(26,642)
0
(26,642)

(1)

(26)

0
67,893

(664)
(27,332)

65,554

65,554

67,893

(2,274)

1,144

Asset Management

(27,332)

12/31/2019
31,640
(42,967)
(11,327)
(11,327)

(575)
(11,902)

(11,902)

Group
12/31/2020
184,401
(134,841)
49,560
(15,432)
34,128

12/31/2019
189,424
(120,416)
69,008
(16,353)
52,655

(26)

(1)

(664)
33,438

(575)
52,079

33,438

52,079

(2,274)

1,144

(4,784)

(3,943)

67,828

66,749

(27,332)

(11,902)

35,712

50,935

3,182,829
3,682,909

2,931,339
3,391,092

5,789,778
5,367,621

5,732,429
5,318,101

152,772
94,152

116,940
97,209

9,125,379
9,144,682

7,979,687
7,980,592

Differences in the assets and liabilities compared to the items presented in the individual companies’ balance sheets representing the segments result from
consolidation adjustments.
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Global Banking and Investor Solutions - Details by market
12/31/2020
Belgium

Switzerland

Germany

Denmark

Spain

Finland

France

Netherlands

Norway

Portugal

Sweden

Other

Total

575,409

80,212

2,162,647

231,128

309,277

2,088,906

(24,288,719)

2,824,533

295,659

7,396,062

8,293,441

26,365

(5,079)

-

(816)

(5,905)

-

(1)

(55)

7,366

-

(61)

-

(233)

(1)

295

575,409

79,396

2,156,742

231,128

309,277

2,088,851

(24,281,353)

2,824,533

295,598

7,396,062

8,293,209

26,364

(4,785)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

575,409

79,396

2,156,742

231,128

309,277

2,088,851

(24,281,353)

2,824,533

295,598

7,396,062

8,293,209

26,364

(4,785)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

575,409

79,396

2,156,742

231,128

309,277

2,088,851

(24,281,353)

2,824,533

295,598

7,396,062

8,293,209

26,364

(4,785)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

575,409

79,396

2,156,742

231,128

309,277

2,088,851

(24,281,353)

2,824,533

295,598

7,396,062

8,293,209

26,364

(4,785)

Current non-controlling
interests

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Net profit/loss (Group’s
share)

575,409

79,396

2,156,742

231,128

309,277

2,088,851

(24,281,353)

2,824,533

295,598

7,396,062

8,293,209

26,364

(4,785)

873

6,851

2,212,179

1,603

386

10,182

384,764

148,922

25,243

5,350

32,863

353,612

3,182,829

1,283

10,803

2,843,528

2,090

552

10,461

256,377

154,521

18,271

5,078

33,535

346,410

3,682,909

(In euro thousands)
Net banking income
Overhead expenses
Gross operating result
Net risk expenses
Operating income
Net gains on other assets
Impairments of goodwill
Profit/loss before taxes
Current income taxes
Net profit/loss of all subgroup companies

Assets
Liabilities
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NOTE 12.2 – OTHER ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
2020

(In euro thousands)
Rents
Taxes
IT & telecom

2019

(2,115)
(81)
(14,423)

(1,800)
(320)
(15,448)

(6,432)

(10,167)

Consulting
Other

(17,880)

(21,881)

Total

(40,931)

(49,616)

NOTE 12.3 - PROVISIONS
The provisions recognized in the statement of financial position at December 31, 2020 mainly include
provisions for employee benefits and provisions for risks. Accordingly, the potential outflows for these issues
are short-term in nature (within 12 months). Liabilities for employee benefits are characterized by uncertainty
due to the settlement date.
Breakdown of the main provisions at the reporting date:

(In euro thousands)
Provisions for credit risk of offbalance sheet commitments
(see Note 4.8)
Provisions for employee
benefits (see Note 8)
Other provisions
Total

Provisions
at
12/31/2019

Additions

Available
reversals of
impairments

Net
additions

Recognized
reversals of
impairments

Other
changes

Provisions
at
12/31/2020

567

188

(31)

157

0

0

724

18,505

16,977

(154)

16,823

(124)

4,722

39,926

60,695
79,767

2,247
19,412

(42)
(227)

2,205
19,185

(9)
(133)

0
4,722

62,892
103,542

Within the risk management process, the risk inventory is updated at least once a year. It comprises all
relevant risk categories that are important for BDK / ALD LF.
Provisions are recognized for some of these risks (credit risk, residual value risk, operational risk) and all
these risk categories are backed by equity in the risk-bearing capacity calculation, as a rule.
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NOTE 12.4 – LEASES
The Group exercises the role of lessor through its subsidiary ALD Lease Finanz GmbH, Hamburg. This
company was founded as a manufacturer-independent leasing company specializing in leases for motor
vehicles. Together with cooperation partners, particularly including the subsidiary Bank Deutsches
Kraftfahrzeuggewerbe GmbH (BDK), financial solutions and services related to automobiles are offered. The
product range encompasses all car dealership financing processes: sales financing and leasing, purchase
financing and insurance, which increase the dealership’s retention of customers and thus enhance their
income prospects.

LEASE RELATIONSHIPS AS LESSOR
OPERATING LEASES
FUTURE MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS UNDER OPERATING LEASES

12/31/2020
208,118
288,899
0
497,017

(In euro thousands)
Breakdown of total minimum payments to be received
Due in less than one year
Due in one to five years
Due in more than five years
Total minimum payments to be received in the future

12/31/2019
245,908
416,476
662,384

AMOUNTS RECOGNIZED IN PROFIT OR LOSS
Expenses and income as well as realized gains and losses from leased objects are recognized in Income and
expenses from other activities.
The income and expenses recognized in profit or loss for the period ended December 31, 2020 are presented
in the table below:

(In euro thousands)

Income

12/31/2020
Expenses

Equipment leasing

282,400

(251,801)

Net
30,599

DETAILS OF LEASE EXPENSES AND INCOME FROM SUB-LEASING

(In euro thousands)
Real
estate
(2,042)
(22)
(1,384)

Leasing
Interest expenses for lease liabilities
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
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12/31/2020
Computer
Other
equipment
(1,155)
(762)
(762)

Total
(3,959)
(22)
(2,146)

Expenses for short-term leases
Expenses for leases for low-value assets
Expenses for variable lease payments
Sub-leasing
Income from sub-leasing of right-of-use assets

(636)
(42)
(42)

(1,155)
-

-

(636)
(1,155)
(42)
(42)

FINANCE LEASES
12/31/2020
668,274
228,883
439,391
-

(In euro thousands)
Gross investments
Due in less than one year
Due in one to five years
Due in more than five years
Present value of minimum lease payments
Due in less than one year
Due in one to five years
Due in more than five years
Not yet realized financial income

469,748
160,887
308,861
198,526

Non-guaranteed residual values in favor of the lessor
Accumulated loss allowances for uncollectable outstanding rent payments

n/a

The most important change in accounting guidelines is the application of IFRS 16 Leases at January 1, 2019.
IFRS 16 LEASES
The new Standard supersedes IAS 17 and changes the accounting regulations for leases, particularly with
respect to the financial statements of lessees. The effects for lessors are immaterial.
The Company applies IFRS 16, which was adopted by the European Union on October 31, 2017, as of
January 1, 2019. The Company opted not to apply the provisions of IFRS 16 early in the previous reporting
period. Consequently, the accounting standards and the corresponding disclosures in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements at January 1, 2019 were adjusted.

LEASE RELATIONSHIPS AS LESSEE
The Group leases buildings, office and archive space, motor vehicles and software under operating leases.
The leases normally have a term of 4 years and feature a lease renewal option at the end of the term. Lease
payments are renegotiated every 3 years to reflect market rates. Leases related to buildings generally have
longer terms and include renewal options. Some leases also stipulate additional lease payments based on
changes in regional price indices. Under certain operating leases, the Group is prohibited from sub-letting.

85

FUTURE MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS UNDER SHORT-TERM AND LOW-VALUE LEASES
At December 31, 2020, the following minimum lease payments will be owed under uncancellable leases in the
future.
(In euro thousands)
Breakdown of total minimum lease payments to
be made
Due in less than one year
Due in one to five years
Due in more than five years
Total minimum lease payments to be made in the future

12/31/2020
209,567
294,274
12,926
516.767

AMOUNTS RECOGNIZED IN PROFIT OR LOSS
Expenses and income and realized gains and losses under leases are recognized as Income and expenses
from other activities.
The income and expenses recognized in profit or loss at December 31, 2020 are presented in the table below:
12/31/2020

(In euro thousands)
Lease expenses

251,801

Expenses for contingent lease payments

-

Income from sub-leases

-

NOTE 12.5 – TRANSACTIONS IN FOREIGN CURRENCY
The assets and liabilities from transactions in foreign currencies are presented in the table below:

(In TEUR)
SEK
GBP
USD
CHF
NOK
AUD
Other currencies
Total

12/31/2020
Assets
115,322
141,258
244,081
29,596
12,996
5,303
3,724
552,280

Liabilities
115,322
141,258
244,081
29,596
12,996
5,303
3,724
552,280

At the reporting date, all assets and liabilities from transactions in foreign currencies are presented within the
item of Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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NOTE 12.6 – AUDIT FEE
The fee for the auditor of the consolidated financial statements that was recognized as an expense in financial
year 2020, including the companies included in the consolidated financial statements, breaks down as follows:
•

for financial statement audit services:

EUR

522 thousand

•

for other certification services:

EUR

72 thousand

•

for tax advice services:

EUR

---

•

for other services:

EUR

45 thousand

The other certification services pertain to expenses for ISAE 3402 reports.
The other services pertain to expenses for the audit of technical concepts for PRIIPS and for the preparation
of an expert acquisition report for an investment fund.

NOTE 12.7 – OTHER FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS
In addition to the liabilities presented in the statement of financial position, the Group also has off-balance
sheet other financial commitments under certificate transactions, irrevocable loan commitments and service
agreements. The due dates are presented in the table below.
12/31/2020
61,398
183,533
66,446
311,377

(In euro thousands)
Due within one year
Due in more than one to five years
Due in more than five years
Total

NOTE 13 – DISCLOSURES CONCERNING SIGNIFICANT RISKS
For information on the general organization of risk management, please refer to the comments in the Group
management report at December 31, 2020.
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COUNTERPARTY DEFAULT RISKS
Overview of counterparty default risks by item of the statement of financial position, based on carrying
amounts
12/31/2020
3,237,675
62
102,064
4,426,689
1,075
462,072
257,908
8,487,545

(In euro thousands)
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss
Hedging derivatives
Loans to and receivables from banks
Loans to and receivables from customers
Tax assets
Receivables under finance leases
Other assets
Total

In addition, there are irrevocable loan commitments to customers with a nominal volume of EUR 158,210
thousand.
Significant counterparty default risks exist only in the segment of Financial Services to Corporates and
Retails.
In estimating the regulatory capital requirements for calculating Risk-Weighted Assets (RWAs) and Expected
Loss (EL), i.e. the loss that could arise in consideration of the quality of the transaction, the solidity of the
counterparty and all measures taken to mitigate the risk, the RWA weightings are assigned on the basis of
customer categories.
The credit value at risk with a confidence level of 99.90% at December 31, 2020 is presented in the table
below:

EAD

(In euro millions)
Individual customers
Commercial customers
Total portfolio

3,445.0
591.9
4,036.9

(In euro millions)

EAD

Without manufacturer guarantee
With manufacturer guarantee
Total portfolio

449.7
0.0
449.7
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Sales Financing
Expected
Unexpected
loss
loss
11.0
22.6
7.1
14.7
18.2
37.3

Credit Value
at Risk
33.6
21.8
55.4

Dealer Financing
Expected
Unexpected
loss
loss
7.7
19.3
0.0
0.0
7.7
19.3

Credit Value
at Risk
26.9
0.0
26.9

(in MEUR)
Individual customers
Commercial customers
Total portfolio

EAD
291.4
798.0
1,089.4

Leasing
Expected
Unexpected
loss
loss
1.6
6.4
5.3
17.6
6.9
24.0

Credit Value
at Risk
8.1
22.9
30.9

The portfolio sold without recourse within the higher-ranking group was not included in the calculation for
dealer financing.
The Group’s portfolio in the area of sales financing is divided among individual and commercial customers.
Commercial customers include small business owners and self-employed persons. Due to the broad
diversification, we have relatively few individual risks in this area. Around 87% of our loan agreements are for
up to EUR 25,000.
In purchase financing, we have 917 exposures, with the 81 biggest borrowers accounting for 57% of the loan
volume.

MARKET PRICE RISKS
All the market price risks of issued warrants and certificates are hedged by hedging transactions with Société
Générale S.A., Paris. Therefore, there are no price risks, currency risks or interest rate risks.
The market price risks of the Group’s leasing business mainly include the residual value risks assumed by the
Group. Residual value risks were assumed for 57% of new leases in the 2020 financial year (PY: 54%).
If residual value risks are assumed, the lease is basically an operating lease and no financial instrument is
recognized in such cases. If the residual value risk is secured (usually by means of guaranties or repurchase
agreements with dealers), the corresponding lease is classified as a finance lease and therefore a financial
instrument is recognized. However, the financial instrument itself is not subject to any market price risk, but
only potential counterparty default risks under guarantees.

RISKS OF THE CORONAVIRUS CRISIS
The coronavirus pandemic is causing heightened operational risks throughout the world. To minimize these
risks, the following risk management measures were already taken in the first quarter of 2020:
•

Business continuity management (BCM) and business continuity plans were activated

•

Outsourcing management

•

Assured protection of employees belonging to an at-risk group
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•

Identification of risks and generation of information from the German Federal Ministry for Health and
the Robert Koch Institute, the German Federal Center for Health Education, public health authorities

•

Identification of risks form high-risk countries (France as the country of the parent company’s
registered head office, as well as countries of business partners, service centers)

•

Hygiene precautions to identify and block transmission channels

•

Possibility of working from home

•

Avoidance or complete stoppage of business travel

•

Possibility of video conferences

•

Assurance of social distancing on the business premises

The potentially high economic risks that could arise for the Group are the following:
•

Revenue declines

•

Losses on receivables

•

Liquidity risks

•

(Market) price risks

•

Business and reputation risks

The currently observable risks posed by the COVID 19 virus and the still unresolved conflicts in world trade
will strongly inhibit the originally expected economic recovery. We therefore see risks in financial markets
combined with high volatility in the short to medium term. Due to the current state of emergency, a valid
forecast of the risks arising from the crisis is not possible at the present time (see also the comments in the
report on opportunities in the Group management report).

LIQUIDITY RISK
The Group funds its operations mainly through companies of the higher-ranking group. The principles and
rules for managing liquidity risk are established at the level of the departments of Société Générale S.A.,
Paris..
At December 31, 2020, SG Effekten had an unused credit line with Société Générale S.A. Frankfurt Branch in
the amount of EUR 10 million, as well as credit lines in the Financial Services to Corporates and Retails
segment in the amount of EUR 7,542 million, of which EUR 2,303 million had not been drawn down.
The primary goal of liquidity risk management is to procure funding for the Company’s activities at optimal
costs, with well diversified liquidity risk and in compliance with legal requirements. The liquidity management
system makes it possible to create a target structure consisting of assets and liabilities for the statement of
financial position that conforms to the risk appetite defined by the Board of Directors.
•

The structure of assets must enable the operating segments to develop their activity in a liquidityconserving way and in conformance with the structure of the target value of liabilities. This
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development must be pursued in conformance with the liquidity bottlenecks specified within the Group
(in a static or stress scenario) and the regulatory requirements.
•

The structure of liabilities depends on the ability of the operating segments to borrow funds from
banks and customers and the Group’s ability to permanently borrow funds in the markets in
accordance with its risk appetite. The control system relies on measuring and limiting the liquidity
bottlenecks of the operating segments in reference scenarios or in stress situations, their financing
needs with the Group, the financing borrowed by the Group in the market, the available suitable
assets and the contribution of the operating segments to the regulatory indicators.

•

In conducting their activities, the operating segments must heed static bottlenecks in the event of
lacking or low liquidity by turning to the parent company’s central Treasury Department. Where
appropriate, the Treasury Department can maintain a conversion or counter-conversion position,
which it must monitor, manage and control within the scope of the risk limits imposed on it.

•

The internal liquidity stress tests conducted on the basis of systemic, specific or combined scenarios
are supported at the level of the parent company. They are used to ensure that the time horizon
established by the Board of Directors for the company’s continuation as a going concern is met, and
to calibrate the amount of the liquidity reserve. They are supported by a Contingency Funding Plan,
which defines the measures to be taken in the event of a liquidity crisis.

•

The financing requirements of the operating segments (short-term and long-term) are limited in
accordance with the business development objectives and in accordance with the capacities and
objectives for the Group’s borrowing of funds.

•

A long-term funding plan is prepared to cover future redemptions and fund the growth of the operating
segments.

•

The Group’s short-term funds are scaled in such a way as to fund the short-term needs of the
operating segments over the time horizons corresponding to asset management and in line with the
requirements applicable to the business. As mentioned above, they are scaled on the assets side
according to the liquidity reserve and in accordance with the specified survival horizons under stress
conditions and the target set for the regulatory liquidity ratios (LCR/NSFR)

•

Finally, the liquidity costs are limited by the internal funding scale. The funds allocated to the
operating segments are charged to them on the basis of scales that reflect the Group’s liquidity costs.
The goal of this system is to optimize the use of external funding sources by the operating segments.
It serves to control the equilibrium of financing in the statement of financial position.

According to the assessment of the individual Group companies and the Société Générale Effekten GmbH
Group, the Group is currently not exposed to any discernible liquidity risks.
The maturities of the Group’s receivables and liabilities at December 31, 2020 are presented in the table
below:
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Receivables:

(In euro thousands)
Financial assets measured at fair
value through profit or loss
Hedging derivatives
Receivables from banks at
amortized cost
Loans to and receivables from
customer at amortized cost
Receivables under finance leases
Other assets
Total receivables

Up to 3
months

3 months
to 1 year

1 to 5
years

More
than 5
years

Indefinite
term

12/31/2020

1,069,261

632,601

564,671

478,853

492,289

3,237,675

62

-

-

-

-

62

80,881

3,010

13,923

4,250

-

102,064

639,908 1,140,409 2,564,234

82,138

-

4,426,689

39,933
117,864
303,798
273,324
242,650
365,481
2,103,369 2,136,534 3,812,107

477
15,363
581,081

492,289

462,072
896,817
9,125,379

Liabilities:

(In euro thousands)
Financial liabilities measured at fair
value through profit or loss
Hedging derivatives
Securitized liabilities
Liabilities to banks
Liabilities to customers
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

Up to 3
months

3 months
to 1 year

1 to 5
years

More
than 5
years

993,514
1,187
194,425
749,660
468
152,554
2,091,808

632,123
530,273
861,255
91,637
2,115,288

558,844
1,117,208
1,996,333
70,501
3,742,886

476,645
203,612
24,525
704,782

Indefinite
term

12/31/2020

489,917
489,917

3,151,043
1,187
1,841,906
3,810,861
468
339,217
9,144,682

RISKS FROM LEGAL DISPUTES
Société Générale Securities Services GmbH has adequately provided for an ongoing case in the form of a
guarantee by Société Générale S. A., Frankfurt Branch. Société Générale Securities Services GmbH and
Société Générale Effekten GmbH are not economically burdened by this case. Therefore, Société Générale
Securities Services GmbH has netted the uncertain liability in the amount of EUR 60 million with the
guarantee, which is for a total amount of EUR 110 million. Therefore, the risks of these legal disputes are
adequately covered.

NOTE 14 – DEALINGS WITH RELATED ENTITIES AND PERSONS
Both natural persons and entities which the Group controls or has significant influence over and persons and
companies which control the Group itself or have significant influence over it are deemed to be related parties
within the meaning of IAS 24.
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The related parties of the Group include:
•

Persons in key positions and their close family members;

•

The higher-ranking parent company Société Générale and companies of the same corporate group;

•

Companies of the same corporate group as Société Générale Effekten GmbH (subsidiaries).

BUSINESS DEALINGS WITH RELATED PERSONS IN KEY POSITIONS
The managing directors are regarded as members of the company in key positions of SG Effekten GmbH. As
of December 31, 2020, the managing directors received compensation totaling EUR 21.6 thousand as shortterm benefits for the previous year. At December 31, 2020, liabilities for salaries owed to the managing
directors amounted to EUR 21.6 thousand.
The current managing directors Ms. Françoise Esnouf, Mr. Helmut Höfer, and Ms. Nurten Spitzer-Erdogan are
employees of Société Générale S.A., Frankfurt am Main branch (parent company of Société Générale
Effekten GmbH).

BUSINESS DEALINGS WITH SUBSIDIARIES
There were no dealings with subsidiaries in 2020 except for the settlement of the liability amounting to
EUR 28,656 thousand by Société Générale Effekten GmbH to Société Générale Securities Services GmbH
and the payment of the receivable in the amount of EUR 63,891 thousand in connection with the profit transfer
agreement for the year 2019.

BUSINESS DEALINGS WITH COMPANIES OF THE SAME CORPORATE GROUP
The parent company Société Générale Effekten GmbH is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Société Générale
Frankfurt, a branch of Société Générale S.A. Paris. For this reason, it is fully consolidated in the higherranking consolidated financial statements. The business object of the company is the issuance of options and
certificates, all of which are sold in full by the parent company Société Générale S.A., Paris, and by Group
companies. All counterparties are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Société Générale S.A., Paris, or the parent
company itself. The Company conducts hedging transactions with Société Générale S.A., Paris, in relation to
the issued warrants and certificates.
A list of the subsidiaries of Société Générale Effekten GmbH is presented in the description of the
consolidation group (see in Note 2).
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Transactions with companies of the same corporate group:

(In euro thousands)
Assets
Liabilities*
Expenses
Income

Existing balances at
12/31/2020
4,011,362
4,157,366
(70,746,030)
70,200,591

Existing balances at
12/31/2019
3,474,730
5,500,608
(2,240,216)
2,353,945

* Placements with third parties are subtracted from the amounts of liabilities.

NOTE 15 – TRUST BUSINESS
In addition to the transactions presented in the statement of financial position, the Group operates under a
trust agreement with the sole shareholder Société Générale S.A., Paris. As part of this trust activity, Société
Générale Effekten GmbH handles the issuance of debt instruments in its own name and for account of
Société Générale S.A., Paris. The certificates issued under trust transactions are offset by hedging
transactions of the same amount. These transactions are not recognized in the statement of financial position
because the Company has no control over them. At the reporting date, trust transactions measured at fair
value amounted to EUR 623,879 thousand.

NOTE 16 – COMPENSATION OF THE MANAGEMENT
Société Générale S.A. Frankfurt Branch received EUR 600 per month for the work of each managing director.
Thus, the total compensation amounted to EUR 21,600 in the 2020 financial year.

NOTE 17 – SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
DATE
No other events that could have effects on the Company’s future financial position, cash flows and liquidity
position and financial performance have occurred since the reporting date.
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Frankfurt am Main, April 21, 2021

The Management

______________________
Françoise Esnouf

_______________________
Helmut Höfer
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________________________
Nurten Spitzer-Erdogan

Responsibility Statement of the Legal Representatives
We warrant to the best of our knowledge that the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the Group’s financial position, cash flows and financial performance in
accordance with applicable accounting principles, and that the Group management report
provides an appropriate view of the Group’s business performance, including its results and
position, and appropriately presents the principal opportunities and risks of the Group’s
anticipated future development.

Frankfurt am Main, April 21, 2021
The Management
Société Générale Effekten GmbH

Françoise Esnouf

Helmut Höfer

Nurten Spitzer-Erdogan

AUDITOR’S REPORT BY THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
To Société Générale Effekten GmbH, Frankfurt am Main
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND GROUP
MANAGEMENT REPORT

Audit opinions
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Société Générale Effekten GmbH,
Frankfurt am Main, and its subsidiaries (the Group) - which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at December 31, 2020, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the financial year from January 1 to December 31, 2020, and the notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting methods. In addition, we have audited the
Group management report of Société Générale Effekten GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, for the financial
year from January 1 to December 31, 2020.

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in the audit
•

the accompanying consolidated financial statements comply with IFRS, as they are to be
applied in the EU, and additionally the applicable German legal requirements pursuant to
Section 315e (1) HGB in all material respects, and give a true and fair view of the financial
position and cash flows of the Group as at December 31, 2020 and its financial performance
for the financial year from January 1 to December 31, 2020 in accordance with these
requirements, and

•

the accompanying Group management report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the
Group’s position. In all material respects, this Group management report is consistent with the
consolidated financial statements, complies with German legal requirements and
appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future development.

Pursuant to Section 322 (3) sentence 1 HGB, we declare that our audit has not led to any
reservations relating to the legal compliance of the consolidated financial statements and of the
Group management report.
Basis for the audit opinions
We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements and of the Group management
report in accordance with Section 317 HGB and the EU Financial Statements Audit Regulation (EUAPrVO - No 537/2014, referred to subsequently as “EU Audit Regulation”) and in compliance with
German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut
der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW). Our responsibilities under

those requirements and principles are further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements and of the Group management report” section of our
auditor’s report. We are independent of the Group companies in accordance with the requirements
of European law and German commercial and professional law, and we have fulfilled our other
German professional responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. In addition, we declare
pursuant to Article 10 (2) letter f) of the EU Audit Regulation that we have not provided any
prohibited non-auditing services according to Article 5 (1) EU Audit Regulation. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions on
the consolidated financial statements and on the Group management report.

Key audit matters in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
We determined that there are no key audit matters to be communicated in our auditor’s report.

Other information
The legal representatives are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises:
•

The reference to the exempting non-financial Group statement of Société Générale S.A.,
Paris/France pursuant to Section 315b (2) HGB included in Section E. of the Group management
report, and

•

The Responsibility Statement of the Legal Representatives on the consolidated financial
statements and the Group management report pursuant to Section 297 (2) sentence 4 and
Section 315 (1) sentence 5 HGB, respectively.

•

But not the consolidated financial statements, not the statements in the Group management
report that were audited for content, and not our corresponding auditor’s report.

Our opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the Group management report do not
cover other information, and consequently we do not express an opinion or any other form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read the above-mentioned other information
and, in so doing, to consider whether the other information
•

is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements, with the Group
management report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or

•

otherwise appears to be materially misstated

Responsibility of the legal representatives and the Audit Committee for the consolidated financial
statements and the Group management report
The legal representatives are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that comply, in all material respects, with the IFRSs as they are to be applied in the EU
and additionally the applicable German legal requirements pursuant to Section 315e (1) HGB, and
that the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position, cash
flows and financial performance of the Group in compliance with these requirements. In addition,
the legal representatives are responsible for such internal controls as they have determined
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatements, whether due to intent or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the legal representatives are responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. They also have the responsibility for
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to a going concern. In addition, they are responsible for
financial reporting based on the going concern basis of accounting, unless there is an intention to
liquidate the Group or discontinue business operations or if there is no realistic alternative to that.
Furthermore, the legal representatives are responsible for the preparation of the Group
management report that, as a whole, provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position and is, in
all material respects, consistent with the consolidated financial statements, complies with German
legal requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future development. In
addition, the legal representatives are responsible for such arrangements and measures (systems) as
they have considered necessary to enable the preparation of a Group management report that is in
accordance with the applicable German legal requirements, and to be able to provide sufficient
suitable evidence for the assertions in the Group management report.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements and Group management report.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements and Group
management report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatements, whether due to intent or error, and
whether the Group management report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Group’s
position and, in all material respects, is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and the
knowledge obtained in the audit, complies with the German legal requirements, and appropriately
presents the opportunities and risks of future development, as well as to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinions on the consolidated financial statements and Group management report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with Section 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation and in compliance with German
Generally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der
Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) will always detect a material misstatement. Misstatements can arise from
violations or errors and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements and this Group management report.

We exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatements in the consolidated financial
statements and Group management report, whether due to intent or error, plan and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from violations is higher than for one resulting from error, as
“violations” may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
overriding of internal controls.

•

Obtain an understanding of the internal control system relevant to the audit of the
consolidated financial statements and arrangements and measures relevant to the audit of the
Group management report in order to plan audit procedures that are appropriate in the
present circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of these systems.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by the legal representatives and the
reasonableness of estimates made by the legal representatives and related disclosures.

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of the legal representatives’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, determine whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in the auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements and Group management report or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our respective opinions. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to be able to continue as a going concern.

•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
present the underlying transactions and events in a manner that the consolidated financial

statements give a true and fair view of the financial position, cash flows and financial
performance of the Group in compliance with IFRS, as they are to be applied in the EU, and
additionally the applicable German legal requirements pursuant to Section 315e (1) HGB.
•

Obtain sufficient, suitable audit evidence for the accounting information of the companies or
business activities within the Group in order to form audit opinions on the consolidated
financial statements and Group management report. We are responsible for directing,
supervising and performing the audit of the consolidated financial statements. We bear sole
responsibility for our audit opinions.

•

Evaluate the consistency of the Group management report with the consolidated financial
statements, its conformity with German law, and the view of the Group’s position it provides.

•

Perform audit procedures on the prospective information presented by the legal
representatives in the Group management report. On the basis of sufficient appropriate audit
evidence we evaluate, in particular, the significant assumptions used by the legal
representatives as a basis for the prospective information, and evaluate the proper derivation
of the prospective information from these assumptions. We do not express a separate opinion
on the prospective information and on the assumptions used as a basis. There is a substantial
unavoidable risk that future events will differ materially from the prospective information.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with the
relevant independence requirements, and communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter.

OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

Report on the audit of the electronic reproductions of the consolidated financial statements and
the Group management report prepared for disclosure purposes in accordance with Section 317
(3b) HGB
Audit opinion
In accordance with Section 317 (3b) HGB, we conducted an audit with reasonable assurance to
determine whether the reproductions of the consolidated financial statements and the Group
management report contained in the attached file, which bears the SHA-256 Number
7788E4558C2E330CAD3B461D56B117C7F849BCE59E3FDC7C1F484B 3F02221CE8, and prepared for
disclosure purposes (also referred to hereinafter as the “ESEF Documents”) meet the requirements of
Section 328 (1) HGB for the European Single Electronic Format (“ESEF Format”) in all material
respects. In accordance with the German statutory regulations, this audit only covers the
transposition of the information contained in the consolidated financial statements and the Group
management report into the ESEF Format and it therefore does not cover the information contained
in these reproductions or any other information contained in the above-mentioned file.
In our opinion, the reproductions of the consolidated financial statements and the Group
management report contained in the above-mentioned attached file and prepared for disclosure
purposes meet the requirements of Section 328 (1) HGB for the European Single Electronic Format in
all material respects. Beyond this audit opinion and our audit opinions on the attached consolidated
financial statements and the attached Group management report for the financial year from January
1 to December 31, 2020 contained in the foregoing “Report on the audit of the consolidated financial
statements and the Group management report,” we provide no audit opinion on the information
contained in these reproductions or the other information contained in the above-mentioned file.
Basis for the audit opinion
We conducted our audit of the reproductions of the consolidated financial statements and the Group
management report contained in the above-mentioned attached file in accordance with Section 317
(3b) HGB and in compliance with the Draft IDW Auditing Standard: Audit of the electronic
reproductions of financial statements and management reports prepared for disclosure purposes in
accordance with Section 317 (3b) HGB (IDW EPS 410). Our responsibility for this audit is described
further in the section entitled “Responsibility of the auditor of the consolidated financial statements
for the audit of the ESEF Documents.” Our audit practice observed the requirements for the quality
assurance system set out in the IDW Quality Assurance Standard: Requirements for quality assurance
in audit practice (IDW QS 1).
Responsibility of the legal representatives and the Audit Committee for the ESEF documents
The legal representatives of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the ESEF Documents
with the electronic reproductions of the consolidated financial statements and the Group
management report in accordance with Section 328 (1) sentence 4 no. 1 HGB and for the mark-up of
the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Section 328 (1) sentence 4 no. 2 HGB.
The legal representatives of the Company are also responsible for such internal controls as they have
determined necessary to enable the preparation of ESEF Documents that are free from violations,

whether due to intent or error, of the requirements of Section 328 (1) HGB for the European Single
Electronic Format.
The legal representatives are also responsible for the submission of the ESEF Documents together
with the auditor’s report and the attached audited consolidated financial statements and the audited
Group management report and the other documents to be disclosed to the operator of the German
Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger).
The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the preparation of the ESEF Documents as part of
the financial reporting process.
Responsibility of the auditor of the consolidated financial statements for the audit of the ESEF
Documents
Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the ESEF documents are free from
violations, whether due to intent or error, of the requirements of Section 328 (1) HGB. We exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also
• Identify and assess the risks of material violations, whether due to intent or error, of the
requirements of Section 328 (1) HGB, plan and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
• Obtain an understanding of the internal controls relevant to the audit of the ESEF Documents in
order to plan audit procedures that are appropriate in the present circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of these controls.
• Assess the technical validity of the ESEF Documents, i.e. whether the file containing the ESEF
Documents meets the requirements of the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815 in the version in
effect at the reporting date for the technical specifications for this file.
• Assess whether the ESEF Documents enable a content-identical XHTML reproduction of the
audited consolidated financial statements and the audited Group management report.
• Assess whether the mark-up of the ESEF Documents with Inline XBRL technology (iXBRL) enables
an appropriate and complete machine-readable XBRL copy of the XHTML reproduction.
Further information pursuant to Article 10 of the EU Audit Regulation
We were elected as the auditor by the annual general meeting on August 18, 2020. On the basis of
this resolution, we were engaged by the Management on November 18, 2020 to audit the
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Section 318 (2) HGB. We have been the auditor
of the consolidated financial statements of Société Générale Effekten GmbH, Frankfurt am Main,
continually since financial year 2017.

We declare that the opinions expressed in this auditor’s report are consistent with the additional
report to the Audit Committee pursuant to Article 11 of the EU Audit Regulation (long-form audit
report).

GERMAN PUBLIC AUDITOR RESPONSIBLE FOR THE ENGAGEMENT
The German Public Auditor responsible for the engagement is Marijan Nemet.

Frankfurt am Main, April 27, 2021

Deloitte GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

(Marijan Nemet)
Wirtschaftsprüfer
[German Public Auditor]

(Jutta Ihringer)
Wirtschaftsprüfer
[German Public Auditor]

